TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY OF THE SHANNON: MIDLANDS MIDWEST



THE SUITABILITY OF VEGETABLE FIBRES FOR THE REINFORCEMENT OF CONCRETE

being a thesis submitted for the fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

by

Ana Caroline da Costa Santos

Based on a research carried out under the supervision of

Dr Paul Archbold

2023

Declaration

I certify that this PhD dissertation which I now submit for examination is entirely my own work and has not been taken from the work of others save and to the extent that such work has been cited and acknowledged within the test of my work. The dissertation was prepared according to the regulations for postgraduate study of the Technological University Of The Shannon: Midlands Midwest and has not been submitted in whole or part for an award in any other Institute or University.

The work reported on in this dissertation conforms to the principles and requirements of the Institute's guidelines for ethics in research.

Signed: _____

Student No.: A00257970 Date:

"Seja qual for o seu problema Fale com Deus, ele vai ajudar você. Após a dor vem a alegria Pois Deus é amor e não te deixará sofrer. Deus te trouxe aqui Para aliviar o seu sofrimento É Ele o autor da Fé, Do princípio ao fim, Em todos os seus tormentos. E ainda se vier noites traiçoeiras Se a cruz pesada for, Cristo estará contigo O mundo pode até fazer você chorar Mas Deus te quer sorrindo."

Simone Telésforo, Carlos Papae

Acknowledgements

Concluding a PhD is not an easy journey, not only in terms of the research topic studied but also in terms of life. I cannot take sole credit for this achievement as I did not get here on my own, and for this reason, I would like to include the following acknowledgments:

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to God for giving me the strength to persevere and for guiding me throughout this entire process.

To my family: Vania, José, Juliane, Augusto Cesar, Maria Tayna, Roger, and Maria Cecília - thank you for never ceasing to believe in my potential and for the abundant love, assistance, and support you have provided me with. I feel truly blessed to be a part of this family.

To incredible friends Ireland has given me who have been a source of immense luck, as well as to those who have provided essential support over the years leading up to the completion of this degree: Stefani and Dr. Marina, Franklin, Deimis, Debora, Anya, Dr. Thiago, Pedro, Sabrina, Kevin, Dr. Romina, Dr. Brendan, Viviane, Vitor and Alysson.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to the outstanding university staff who have been instrumental in assisting me, even during the most challenging times: Eoin Woodlock, Brendan Hanniffy, Christy Hopkins, Alan Murphy, Lorna Walsh, Susan Carrol, and Mary Simpson. Additionally, I express my appreciation to the entire RLU team from the RMO, who have played a significant role in my life over the past year: John Horgan, Orla O'Brien, Aoife O'Neill, Niall Cronin, Michelle Keane, Catherine DuPlooy, and John McNulty. Thank you all.

Lastly, but certainly not least, I want to express my heartfelt thanks to my supervisor, Dr. Paul Archbold, for granting me this opportunity and providing me with support and guidance throughout these many years. Back in 2015, I could never have imagined that a summer research experience would pave the way for my return to Ireland and the eventual attainment of the highest level of education. All of this is thanks to you, Paul. Thank you.

Abstract

The use of vegetable fibres as a sustainable alternative to non-natural fibres for reinforcing concrete was investigated in this research. For plant-based fibres, previous studies have identified issues such as the variability in properties and biodegradability in the alkaline pH of concrete.

The study was divided into four different sections along with the literature review. First, the properties of untreated flax and hemp fibres were assessed. Second, the fibres were subjected to surface treatments using NaOH (at concentrations of 5%, 15%, and 15%), KMnO4, stearic acid, and EDTA solutions for various durations (4, 6, 10, 15, and 24 hours) to minimize variability and degradation caused by the alkaline pH of concrete. The effects of each treatment were evaluated, and the treatments that yielded the most satisfactory results were selected. For flax fibres, the 4-hour stearic acid treatment, which was a novel treatment in this study, was chosen. For hemp fibres, the 24-hour NaOH 10% treatment was selected, which provided original results for the reinforcement of concrete. Thirdly, the effects of an alkaline environment on the tensile strength and elastic modulus of treated and untreated fibres were assessed.

Lastly, the effect of long fibres $(40 \pm 5\text{mm})$ on certain properties of concrete was investigated. The addition of treated fibres increased the peak flexural tensile strength and reduced the elastic modulus of the concrete by at least 50% after 28 days. The mixes containing treated fibres exhibited significantly lower fracture energy values than the basalt fibre reinforced blend. Both types of fibre reinforced concretes using surface-treated fibres showed higher values for residual tensile strength. Additionally, the addition of fibres improved the thermal conductivity of the concrete, and a reduction in density was observed based on the volume of added flax fibres.

However, the addition of fibres increased the levels of water penetration, with the exception of the mix containing 0.25% flax fibres, which exhibited similar results to the control blend and reduced water penetration compared to the other FRCs tested. Overall, the results suggest that, although additional research is still required, the surface treatment of vegetable fibres can enhance the properties of FRC and contribute to their use as potential and sustainable alternative to non-natural fibres for concrete reinforcement.

Keywords: Natural fibre reinforced concrete, flax fibres, hemp fibres, fracture energy, mechanical properties, surface treatment.

💆 TUS 🗉

LIST OF TABLES	VI
LIST OF FIGURES	VIII
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XII
Chapter 1: Introduction	2
i. Project proposal and research aims	8
ii. Proposed solution/thesis outline	9
iii. Significance	12
iv. List of publications	14
Chapter 2: Literature Review	16
2.1 Concrete	16
2.2 Fibre-reinforced concrete (FRC)	17
2.3 Current non-natural fibres used for concrete reinforcement	18
2.3.1 Steel fibres	18
2.3.2 Synthetic fibres (including glass fibres)	20
2.4 Natural fibres as potential alternative	23
2.4.1 Mineral fibres	24
2.4.2 Vegetable fibres	26
2.4.3 Current challenges related to the use of vegetable fibres	33
2.4.4 Properties of natural fibres	37
2.4.5 Surface treatment	54
2.5 Properties of fibre-reinforced concrete (FRC)	62

Contents

🛄 TUS 💷

2.5.1 Consistency	
2.5.2 Relative density	
2.5.3 Water penetration	64
2.5.4 Thermal insulation	65
2.5.5 Compressive strength	66
2.5.6 Flexural tensile strength (at failure and residual)	70
2.5.7 Fracture energy (Gf) and elastic modulus (E)	74
2.5.8 Impact of the fibre length on the FRC behaviour	75
2.5.9 Other properties	76
2.6 Final Considerations	78
Chapter 3: Experimental Details	81
3.1 Preliminary analysis of the mechanical properties of flax and hemp fibres	83
3.1.1 Density of fibres	
3.1.2 Tensile strength of singular fibres	84
3.1.3 Summary	87
3.2 Surface treatment of flax and hemp fibres	
3.2.1 Chemical composition of the vegetable fibres	
3.2.2 Summary	91
3.3 Fibres behaviour under alkaline pH	91
3.3.1 SEM images	
3.3.2 Summary	93
3.4 Fibre-reinforced concrete	
3.4 Fibre-reinforced concrete	93

TUS IV

3.4.3 Specimens moulding and curing	96
3.4.4 Relative density	97
3.4.5 Compressive strength	97
3.4.6 Three-point bending test	98
3.4.7 Optimized FRC mix design	101
3.4.8 Mechanical properties of FRC	103
3.4.9 Depth of penetration of water under pressure	104
3.4.10 Thermal conductivity	105
3.4.11 SEM Images	107
3.4.12 Summary	107
3.4.13 Final Considerations	107
Chapter 4: Results and Discussion	110
4.1 Preliminary analysis of the properties of flax and hemp fibres	111
4.2 Surface treatment of flax and hemp fibres	114
4.2.1 Spectroscopic analysis	120
4.3 Fibres behaviour under alkaline pH	122
4.3.1 SEM images	124
4.3.2 Summary	125
4.4 Fibre-reinforced concrete	126
4.4.1 Preliminary fibre reinforced concrete mixture	127
4.4.2 Optimized FRC mix	138
4.5 Summary and limitations	148
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Work	152

TUS V

5.1 Conclusions
5.2 Future Work
Chapter 6: References158
Appendices 177
Appendix A – Mechanical properties of singular fibres Algorithm178
Appendix B – W ₀ used to calculate Gf in Equation 2.5182
Appendix C – Algorithm for calculation of the Ci for Equation 2.7
Appendix D – Descriptive analysis of tested fibres
Appendix E – Properties of flax fibres treated191
Appendix F – Properties of treated hemp fibres193



LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 – Embodied Energy (EE) and embodied carbon (EC)	20
Table 2.2 – Properties of basalt fibres. (Ho et al. 2012; Sanjay et al. 2018)	26
Table 2.3 – Properties of different vegetable fibres. Adapted from (Sanjay et al. 2018;	
Laverde et al. 2022)	28
Table 2.4 – Fibres and diameters according to different authors	39
Table 2.5 – Chemical Composition of flax, hemp and jute fibres.	47
Table 2.6 – Main infrared transition for vegetable fibres (Dai and Fan 2010)	48
Table 2.7 – Chemical Treatments for Vegetable fibres. Adapted from (Sood and	
Dwivedi 2018)	55
Table 2.8 – Hazard classification of chemicals considered for surface treatments	57
Table 2.9 – Correlation between CMOD and deflection (NF EN 14651 2012)	72
Table 3.1 – Treatment solutions suggested by M. Sood and G. Dwivedi (2018)	88
Table 3.2 – Concrete mix designed for preliminary analysis	94
Table 3.3 – Concrete mix designed for preliminary analysis	.102
Table 4.1 – Physical and mechanical properties of fibres according to the literature	
review	.111
Table 4.2 – Physical properties of fibres	.112
Table 4.3 – Fracture energy and elastic modulus from the three-point bending test	.134
Table 4.4 – Flexural tensile strength (f_n) and $(f_{R,j})$ [MPa], j values from Table 2.9.	.136
Table 4.5 – Fracture energy and elastic modulus of FRC	.142
Table 4.6 – Flexural tensile strength (f_n) and $(f_{R,j})$ [MPa], j values from Table 2.9.	.144
Table D.1 – Descriptive analysis of basalt fibres	.187
Table D.2 – Descriptive analysis of flax fibres	187

TUS VII

Table D.3 – Descriptive analysis of hemp fibre.	188
Table D.4 – Descriptive analysis of flax fibres for n=10	188
Table D.5 – Descriptive analysis of hemp fibres for n=10.	189



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1– Composition of concrete(Concrete & Its Ingredients (%) – Civil-Ideas [no	
date])	3
Figure 1.2 - Four main categories of fibres. (R.F. Zollo 1997; Rivera et al. 2021; Abu-	
Bakr et al. 2022; Tibebu et al. 2022)	5
Figure 1.3 – Chemical compounds of vegetable fibres (Ahmed et al. 2022)	7
Figure $2.1 - (a)$ Fresh and (b) hardened mixture of hemp fibre reinforced concrete17	7
Figure 2.2 – SFRC with fibres corroded	0
Figure 2.3 – Types of polypropylene fibres (Liang et al. 2022)	0
Figure 2.4 – Classification of Natural Fibres. Source: Adapted from (Faruk et al. 2012;	
Raman Bharath et al. 2015)24	4
Figure 2.5 – The percentage of experimental. (Laverde et al. 2022)	8
Figure 2.6 – (a) Structure of young flax stem at young age and mature; (b) Flax plants	
pulled out at young (left) and mature(right) age (Melelli et al. 2022)	0
Figure 2.7 – Structure of a flax stem. (Güven et al. 2016)	1
Figure 2.8 – (a) Industrial hemp plantation (unknown author), (b) Hemp fibres	2
Figure 2.9 – Effect of fibre swelling on the fibre-matrix interface. (Castoldi et al. 2019)36	6
Figure 2.10 – Diameter of Flax fibres (Assaedi et al. 2014)	9
Figure 2.11 – Types of loading (Stress and strain: Mechanical properties of materials	
[no date])41	1
Figure 2.12 - Stress-strain diagram. (Stress-Strain Curve: Strength of Materials -	
SMLease Design [no date])42	2
Figure 2.13 – Phloem shapes of (a) flax and (b) hemp. Adapted from (Zhang et al.	
2016)	4

TUS IX

Figure 2.14 – Structure of cellulose (Unknown author)
Figure 2.15 – Chemical structure of bacterial cellulose. (Ciechańska et al. 2012)50
Figure 2.16 – Cellulose involved by lignin and hemicellulose. Adapted from (Michelin
et al. 2014)
Figure 2.17 – Structure of hemicellulose. (Benaimeche et al. 2020)
Figure 2.18 – Lignin structure (representative and common linkages) (Ullah et al. 2022)52
Figure 2.19 – Molecular structure of pectin (Pawar et al. 2008)
Figure 2.20 – Use of pectin as emulgent. Adapted from (Nasrollahzadeh et al. 2021a)
Figure 2.21 - GHS pictograms for hazard classification. Adapted from (Princeton
University 2016)
Figure 2.22 - SEM micrographs (1000x) of abaca fibres. Untreated (left), 1% NaOH
(centre) and 3% NaOH (right) (Kumar Sinha et al. 2017)59
Figure 2.23 – Steady-state of box method. (Asadi et al. 2018)
Figure 2.24 – Compressive strength of SFRC vs length of fibres. (Han et al. 2019)67
Figure 2.25 - Types of failure satisfactory for cube specimens. (National Standards
Authority of Ireland 2019c)
Figure 2.26 - Unsatisfactory failure types, where T means a tensile crack. (National
Standards Authority of Ireland 2019c)
Figure 2.27 – Beam arrangement according to EN 14651 (NF EN 14651 2012),71
Figure 2.28 – Example of Load-CMOD diagrams (NF EN 14651 2012)72
Figure 2.29 – Load deflection curves from flexure strength tests (Zia and Ali 2017)73
Figure 2.30 – Details of notched beam specimen
Figure 2.31 – Correlation between roughness and fibre content. (Alaskar et al. 2021)
Figure 3.1 - Schematic chart of results and discussion
Figure 3.2 – Flax and hemp fibres as purchased

TUS X

Figure 3.3 – (a) Sample of natural fibres after drying (b) Digital density balance
Figure 3.4 Samples of (a)flax and (b)hemp fibres after extraction
Figure 3.5 – (a) Specimen tab and (b) Equipment used
Figure 3.6 – Digital microscopy
Figure 3.7- Surface treatments conducted on the fibres
Figure 3.8- FTIR Spectrometer91
Figure 3.9 – Slump measurement95
Figure 3.10 Concrete curing tank set at (21±1)°C96
Figure 3.11 – Specific gravity scale97
Figure 3.12 Equipment used to determine the compressive strength of specimens
Figure 3.13 – Three-point-bending test
Figure 3.14 – Test arrangement according to EN 12390-8: 2019. (National Standards
Authority of Ireland 2019d)104
Figure 3.15 – Test apparatus
Figure 3.16 – (a)Load distribution model used to split the cubes, (b) and (c)Highest line
of water penetration105
Figure 3.17 – Equipment used to measure thermal conductivity
Figure 4.1 – Histogram and normal distribution of samples tested
Figure 4.2 – Tensile strength obtained for each treatment on flax fibres
Figure 4.3 – Elastic modulus obtained for each treatment on flax fibres
Figure 4.4 – Maximum tensile strength obtained for each treatment on hemp fibres
Figure 4.5 – Elastic modulus obtained for each treatment on hemp fibres119
Figure 4.6 – FTIR spectrums obtained for untreated and treated flax and hemp fibres121
Figure 4.7 – Effects of the degradation at alkaline solution on the tensile strength
Figure 4.8 – Effects of the degradation at an alkaline solution on the elastic modulus

TUS XI

Figure 4.9 – SEM images of untreated and treated flax and hemp fibres before and after	
degradation test	125
Figure 4.10 – Slump of fresh preliminary mixtures	127
Figure 4.11 – Compressive strength and relative density at hardened state.	129
Figure 4.12 – Failure analysis of samples tested	132
Figure 4.13 – Slump obtained during mix optimisation	139
Figure 4.14 – Compressive strength [MPa] and specific gravity [g/cm ³]	140
Figure 4.15 – Thermal conductivity [W/mK] and Specific Gravity [g/cm ³]	145
Figure 4.16 – Water penetration [mm]	146
Figure 4.17 – SEM images of FRC at 30 days and over 90 days.	.147



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Initials	Meaning
CMOD	Crack Mouth Opening Displacement
EC	Carbon Emission
EE	Embodied Energy
FRC	Fibre Reinforced Concrete
FRP	Fibre Reinforced Polymer
FTIR	Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy
GBTs	Green Building Technologies
GFRC	Glass Fibre-Reinforced Concrete
GHS	Globally Harmonized System of Classification and Labelling of Chemicals
JFRC	Jute fibre reinforced concrete
LCA	Life-Cycle Assessment
LOP	Limit of Proportionality
NFRC	Natural Fibre Reinforced Concrete



NFRP	Natural Fibre Reinforced Polymer
PC	Plain Concrete
PPFRC	Polypropylene fibre reinforced concrete
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscope
SFRC	Steel Fibre Reinforced Concrete
SNFRC	Synthetic Fibre-Reinforced Concrete
VFRC	Vegetable Fibres Reinforced Concrete

Chapter One

Introduction



Chapter 1: Introduction

Fibre reinforced concrete is a cementitious composite reinforced with fibres in random orientation. The term composite was defined by R.P.L. Nijssen (2015) as "a material structure that consists of at least two macroscopically identifiable materials that work together to achieve a better result". The author explains that combining materials in a composite form is relevant to obtaining a new product with enhanced properties to satisfy the requirements needed for a defined application that isolated, none of the materials would behave so well. From that concept, it is possible to understand that cementitious composites are produced from the combination of one or more materials into a cementitious matrix, and that concrete is also a cementitious composite.

In the construction industry, concrete is defined by the English Oxford Living Dictionary Online (2019) as "a building material made from a mixture of broken stone or gravel, sand, cement, and water, which can be spread or poured into moulds and forms a mass resembling stone on hardening". Figure 1.1 shows the main ingredients of a general concrete mix according to their approximate proportions designed to resist compressive stresses with decades or centuries of durability. (Tariq et al. 2021)





*Figure 1.1– Composition of concrete(*Concrete & Its Ingredients (%) – Civil-Ideas *[no date])*. Plain concrete mixes are widely known for their excellent behaviour under compressive stresses. Their applications range from in-loco moulded concrete structures to precast and modular pieces. Fragile at an early age and when submitted to high impacts or tensile stress, still after hardening, concrete is a brittle material with no post-cracking residual tensile strength due to its ductility. (Rahimi et al. 2022a)

Depending on the application, reinforcement is commonly required. Reinforcing bars are added to give the concrete the capacity to resist bending moments and shear forces. (Drougkas et al. 2022)

For beams and columns to resist a bending moment, steel bars are the most common option, but, for structures subjected to abrasion and superficial impact, another solution is required: the addition of fibres into the concrete mixture. Fibres increase uniformly the residual tensile strength of concrete, adding some elasticity to its fracture, and reducing its brittleness. The improvement of these properties can also be interesting to minimize early-age cracking since they can occur due to various events



that may cause changes in the concrete section exceeding its tensile strain capacity. (CIRIA 766 2018; Rahimi, Hisseine, et al. 2022).

Fibre reinforcement is used for different applications such as reducing the concrete brittleness and weight, improving its thermo-acoustic properties, increasing its elastic modulus, or also adding some post-crack residual tensile strength to the structure. (Abbass et al. 2018; Castoldi et al. 2019; Eidan et al. 2019)

There are numerous types of fibres currently available to be used on concrete reinforcement, and Figure 1.2 shows four main categories according to Zollo (1997):

- a) Steel fibres
- b) Synthetic fibre, including carbon and polymers fibres.
- c) Glass fibres (a particular category of synthetic fibres)
- d) Natural fibres



(a) Steel fibres (Abu-Bakr et al. 2022)



(b) Synthetic fibre (Rivera et al. 2021)





(c) Glass fibres(Tibebu et al. 2022)



(d) Hemp fibre (Hemp Fibers Make Concrete Stronger| Concrete Construction Magazine [no date])

Figure 1.2 – Four main categories of fibres. (R.F. Zollo 1997; Rivera et al. 2021; Abu-Bakr et al. 2022; Tibebu et al. 2022)

The criteria to be considered include aspects required by the new structure to be built, the level of moisture exposure, impact absorption, abrasion level etc. The durability of steel is also a concern related to its use, as corrosion reaction occurs when in contact with the air and humidity, and the steel not only loses its mechanical properties but also modifies its cross-section measurements bringing internal stress to the concrete leading it to a structural failure.

Each category of FRC can be divided into different groups depending on size, material, composition, diameter, and other characteristics that impact their properties. Steel fibre reinforced concrete (SFRC) and synthetic fibre reinforced concrete (SFRC), including glass fibre (GFRC), are currently commercialised and successfully accepted by the construction industry. However, concerns about all the unrenewable sources of materials being used and the environmental impact caused by the sector arise. (Alsaif et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2019)

One of the current ways to measure the environmental impact of the materials adopted in construction is through a life-cycle assessment (LCA), it evaluates the impact of a certain product or material on the environment, also quantifying the expected amount

💆 TUS

of energy consumption and CO_2 emission during the entire lifespan of a material. There is currently a database called "Inventory of Carbon & Energy" (ICE) containing the values for most of the building materials available in the market (Zah et al. 2007; Hammond and Jones 2008; Hammond and Jones 2011; Todkar and Patil 2019).

As discussed in the following chapters, the most common types of fibres used for concrete reinforcement require a high amount of energy and non-renewable sources of raw material to be produced. Natural fibres have been studied over the four decades for cementitious composites reinforcement and in the past two decades, they have gained pace, due to their low embodied energy and carbon emission. (Arrigoni et al. 2017; Barth and Carus 2019; Kumar et al. 2020; Shang and Tariku 2021)

In this work, a quantitative assessment of the suitability of vegetable fibres as a potential alternative to other fibres currently for concrete reinforcement was performed. A comparative study was led aiming the reduction of the environmental footprint when compared to polymer and steel fibres reinforced concrete.

Swamy (1990) appointed different inherent weaknesses related to the use of vegetable fibres for these applications. Firstly, the author mentions the low elastic modulus, which means that the material can be stretched before it breaks. However, this property can be particularly interesting to reduce the high elastic modulus of concrete if the structure built is expected to resist to impact, vibration or other conditions that could lead to a fragile rupture. (Cai et al. 2022; Wang et al. 2022)

Secondly, it is pointed out that vegetable fibres are susceptible to suffering attacks from fungus and insects and the reduction caused on their durability by the alkaline



pH of concrete. In most current studies, these two features are addressed as the degradability of the fibres. Considering the long-term impact, this issue needs to be considered as it would directly affect the lifespan of the concrete structure.

Finally, the author mentioned that the same type of fibres will present significant variability in their properties. As they are natural, the composition of their structure can be affected by the weather conditions, quality of soil, position on the plant, etc. Different surface treatments have been considered as a measure to reduce the irregularity of their properties This technique is also known as "degumming", used to remove lignin and gummy compounds from the fibres resulting in a cellulose structure (Figure 1.3). (Feyisetan Adekunle 2015; Kumar Sinha et al. 2017; Ahmed et al. 2022; Rahimi et al. 2022b).



Figure 1.3 – Chemical compounds of vegetable fibres (Ahmed et al. 2022).

In response to the above issues, this research aims to evaluate the suitability of vegetable fibres for reinforcement of concrete, considering techniques being developed in the past years. As there is a vast range of vegetable fibres, an analysis was first conducted according to properties evaluated by authors in the literature.



For this research, the vegetable fibres selected were flax and hemp and compared to other non-natural fibres.

Having characterised the fibres selected and confirming results obtained by other authors, flax fibres presented significantly higher tensile strength when compared to hemp fibres. Focusing on the potential of flax fibres and the lack of research about their use for concrete reinforcement, the project proposal and research questions were finally defined:

i. Project proposal and research aims

The research project aims to investigate the feasibility of using vegetable fibres as reinforcement in concrete. The primary objective is to develop a novel and sustainable type of fibre reinforced concrete (FRC) that can offer comparable mechanical and physical properties compared to traditionally commercialised FRCs. After reviewing the literature, it was found that flax fibres have been used as reinforcement in composites by different industry sectors; however, there is a gap in their application for reinforcement of concrete. Along with flax fibres, hemp fibres were also chosen due to their potentially superior tensile strength and their popularity among researchers, which offers an experimental benchmark for the results obtained for flax fibres.

The study is unique in its approach, as it compares vegetable, mineral, and non-natural fibres, and seeks a suitable surface treatment for plant-based fibres that enhances their behaviour in an alkaline matrix. The specific research aims are to:



- Identify and compare promising types of different vegetable fibres according to past research by evaluating their physical properties and tensile strength, as well as comparing them with industrially produced fibres.
- Investigate the effects on the properties of flax and hemp fibres of different surface treatments using chemical solutions to determine the most effective treatment among options suggested in the literature.
- Evaluate the degradability of treated and untreated flax and hemp fibres in an alkaline environment and compare their behaviour with hemp fibres following relevant standard.
- Design a concrete mixture and evaluate the effects of adding flax and hemp fibres into it in terms of mechanical and physical properties, compared to industrialised fibres.

ii. Proposed solution/thesis outline

To achieve the research aims outlined earlier and considering the aforementioned parameters, this study was divided into three main sections. Firstly, a general analysis was conducted to characterize the properties of different natural fibres. Based on this analysis, untreated flax fibres were found to be superior to other fibres. A control concrete mix was prepared, and different fibre-reinforced concrete mixtures were produced by adding the studied fibres.

To improve the results obtained for flax fibres, various chemical surface treatments were conducted using solutions of Sodium Hydroxide (NaOH), Potassium



Permanganate (KMnO₄), EDTA ($C_{10}H_{16}N_2O_8$), and Stearic Acid ($C_{18}H_{36}O_2$) for different durations ranging from 4 to 24 hours. The fibres were subsequently neutralized, dried, and their properties re-evaluated.

While more detailed findings will be presented in the results and discussion section, it is important to note that the Stearic Acid treatment stood out as the best option for enhancing properties with minimum environmental impact among the options studied. As a result, it was selected as the preferred treatment for flax fibres.

As hemp fibres have already been extensively researched for this application, they were also subjected to the same treatments to enable a comparative analysis. Treatments using NaOH for hemp fibres are commonly reported in the literature and tin this study, the treatment using NaOH in a novel combination of time and concentration was selected for hemp fibres, confirming the efficacy of this solution outlined by researchers in the field. (Le Troedec et al. 2008; Diquélou et al. 2016; Poletanovic et al. 2021; Shang and Tariku 2021)

Next, the degradability of the treated and untreated fibres was assessed by using an adapted version of the methodology described in the "Standard Test Method for Stability of Cellulose Fibers in Alkaline Environments". (ASTM International 2019)

Lastly, the treated fibres were incorporated into new concrete mixtures, and their properties were evaluated to enable a comparison with basalt, hemp, and non-reinforced concrete.

In summary, the study evaluated the suitability of selected vegetable fibres for reinforcing concrete and the main findings are:



- Flax and hemp fibres were selected and subjected to different surface treatments to improve their properties.
- The surface treatment using stearic acid for 4 hours showed to fit better the requirements adopted for flax fibres, while the treatment using NaOH 10% for 24 hours was selected for hemp fibres.
- A mixture reinforced with 0.25% of treated flax was able to achieve the designed compressive strength values, surpassing the mix reinforced with 0.5% of treated hemp fibres.
- Although the variability on the properties of the fibres was still observed after treatment, when added into concrete results were consistent among samples.
- Both flax and hemp fibre-reinforced concrete mixes, at 28 days, presented the lowest stiffness among the mixtures studied compared to basalt FRC and the addition of fibres in the mixes enhanced the thermal conductivity, and it was observed that the concrete density was reduced according to the volume of flax fibres added.
- The mixes with 0.25% of flax fibres presented a similar level of water penetration to the control mix, indicating that at this proportion, the cement paste would be able to coat the fibres, reducing the water infiltration.



iii. Significance

The high impact of the construction sector on the environment is being seriously addressed by governments all over the world. The topic is being studied already for decades by researchers and has now been strongly incentivised to be applied in the building industry.

In this research, an experimental study was conducted assessing the suitability of the use of vegetable fibres for reinforcement of concrete as an alternative to the currently non-natural fibres commercialized. The selected fibres for this study were flax, a fibre used in the automotive industry but with a gap in the literature on their behaviour for concrete reinforcement and hemp fibres, commonly studied by other researchers, used as a comparative parameter.

As well known by the research community, vegetable fibres present high variability and degradability, to minimize these effects, surface treatments are suggested by different authors. In this study, the effects of surface treatments using NaOH in different concentrations, KMnO₄, stearic acid and EDTA were evaluated for flax and hemp fibres at 4, 6, 10, 15 and 24 hours. This evaluation also addresses a gap in the literature review of surface treatments for flax fibres, in comparison with hemp fibres.

From this study, it was possible to select the treatment that increased the tensile strength of the fibres while reducing the stiffness, properties sought for the enhancement of concrete. Results achieved promising results that could lead to a safe replacement of polypropylene fibres by flax treated with stearic acid for 4h,



contributing to the reduction of the negative impact of the construction industry on the environment.



iv. List of publications

- da Costa Santos, A.C.; Archbold, P., "Suitability of Surface-Treated Flax and Hemp Fibers for Concrete Reinforcement". *Fibers*, 2022, 10, 101. Doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/fib1011010.
- da Costa Santos, A.C.; Archbold, P., "Experimental Investigation on the Fracture Energy and Mechanical Behaviour of Hemp and Flax Fibre FRC Compared to Polypropylene FRC," Construction Technologies and Architecture, vol. 1, pp. 1–5, 2022, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/CTA.1.326.
- da Costa Santos, A.C.; Archbold, P., "Mechanical Properties and Fracture Energy of Concrete Beams Reinforced with Basalt Fibres," Construction Technologies and Architecture, 2022, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/CTA.1.316.
- da Costa Santos, A.C.; Archbold, P., "Characterisation of Natural fibres for Composite applications," *Academic Journal of Civil Engineering*, no. 3rd International Conference on Bio-Based Building Materials, 2019, doi: 10.26168/icbbm2019.3.

Chapter Two

Literature Review



Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Concrete

Hardened concrete in its plain form is a composite that can resist compressive stress caused by loading, according to its design capacity. However, structures made of concrete, such as beams and slabs, may also experience flexural tensile stress, requiring additional reinforcement. To resist tensile and flexural tensile structures are designed to receive reinforcement, there are three main different types of reinforcements, selected according to the application. Steel reinforcement bars are the most common option for concrete pieces that will be subject to structural tensile stresses. (Alberti et al. 2018; Han et al. 2019; Drougkas et al. 2022)

Another form of strengthening concrete for structural applications could be through lateral confinement. Layers of textiles made of fibre reinforced polymer (FRP) are used, usually in hardened structures, to enhance their mechanical capacities, such as axial strain and compressive strength. Steel, glass, carbon and polypropylene fibres are commonly used for direct strengthening using FRP. (Fallah Pour et al. 2019; Isleem et al. 2020; Han et al. 2021)

However, reinforcement bars or FRP would not be satisfactory for concrete applications that require the structure to present enhanced deformation and energy absorption capabilities to minimize crack propagation at various stages, or better thermos-acoustic properties such as Industrial floorings and tunnels. For these, fibre reinforcement is recommended. (Abbass et al. 2018; Barth and Carus 2019)



2.2 Fibre-reinforced concrete (FRC)

Fibre-reinforced concrete (FRC) is a concrete composite that has fibres added to the fresh mixture (Figure 2.1a) and been studied for many decades. Once hardened the fibres are uniformly distributed in random orientation, becoming homogeneous in the concrete (Figure 2.1b).

With random orientation and distribution, their addition can reduce the concrete brittleness and the risk of fragile rupture of structures, as well as influence its strength, offering some post-crack tensile strength (Zia and Ali 2017; Castoldi et al. 2019; Eidan et al. 2019; Santoni et al. 2019; Tibebu et al. 2022).





(b)

Figure 2.1 - (a) Fresh and (b) hardened mixture of hemp fibre reinforced concrete

The reinforcement of concrete using fibres can also be employed for controlling crack-opening. Upon the incorporation of fibres into the mixture, there is a decrease in the modulus of elasticity of concrete, which permits the structure to elongate more before failure. Conversely, plain concrete exhibits no residual tensile strength once it has failed. The addition of fibres can offer a degree of tensile strength to the structure after cracking, thereby lowering the probability of structural failure. (Abbass et al. 2018; Alberti et al. 2018; Islam and Ahmed 2018; Castoldi et al. 2019)



Non-natural fibre-reinforced concrete mixes are commercially available for various applications, such as industrial flooring and tunnels, while natural fibres are typically considered more suitable for non-structural uses. However, both types of fibres can have positive and negative effects on concrete, as previously discussed in this chapter. Additionally, they can impact a range of composite properties, including compressive strength, density, heat and sound insulation, and water absorption, in addition to the tensile strength and Young's modulus of the material. (Piasta and Zarzycki 2017; Zia and Ali 2017; Degrave-Lemeurs et al. 2018; Sanjay et al. 2018; Barth and Carus 2019; Santoni et al. 2019; Tibebu et al. 2022)

While the need to minimise the environmental impact of construction has led to an increase in research on the subject in recent decades, further investigation is needed to establish a sustainable and dependable method for designing fibre-reinforced concrete (FRC) structures. (Kaur and Talwar 2017)

2.3 Current non-natural fibres used for concrete reinforcement

2.3.1 Steel fibres

Steel fibres are commonly used for reinforcement, producing a composite called steel fibre reinforced concrete (SFRC). Their addition improves the concrete brittleness and increases its energy absorption capacity. Study using different lengths of steel fibres in the same mixture and compared them with a single length found that using only one size of fibres in a mix would present better results than combining them. (Okeh et al. 2019)


Although the authors do not discuss reason for that, reinforcing concrete with fibres of one length could be considered better than using fibres of various lengths due to the improved mechanical properties that result from the homogeneity of the composite. When using fibres of uniform length, they would distribute themselves uniformly throughout the concrete matrix, leading to enhanced tensile and flexural strengths. In contrast, the use of fibres of various lengths could lead to a more random distribution, potentially causing clustering and bridging, resulting in weakened mechanical properties.

A different study investigated the effects of varying fibre lengths in SFRC with different proportions and water/cement ratios of concrete. Steel has a known density that ranges from 7.75 to 8.05g/cm3. The results of this study indicate that the addition of steel fibres enhanced all the evaluated mechanical properties. When fibres with lengths of 40mm were added, the tensile, and flexural strengths increased proportionally to the percentage of fibres added, increasing also the compressive strength, but not proportionally. (Abbass et al. 2018)

Durability is another important factor to consider when using steel fibres in concrete. Since concrete is often exposed to water and oxygen, it creates an environment that is conducive to corrosion. Figure 2.2 illustrates the surface of a SFRC with fibres that suffered corrosion. The negative impact of this, is that the cross-section area of the steel increases due to corrosion, generating internal stress on the concrete walls, leading to cracks and ultimately structural failure. (Hwang et al. 2015)





Figure 2.2 – SFRC with fibres corroded.

2.3.2 Synthetic fibres (including glass fibres)

A variety of synthetic fibres, including polypropylene (as shown in Figure 2.3), glass, carbon, PVC, and polyacrylonitrile, are presently available for use in concrete reinforcement (SNFRC).



(a) FPF1

(b) FPF2

(c) CPF

Figure 2.3 – Types of polypropylene fibres (Liang et al. 2022)

These fibres are produced entirely through industrial processes and necessitate high temperatures and non-renewable raw materials. Consequently, their embodied energy and carbon emissions are also high, with numerical values from the Inventory of Carbon & Energy being presented in Table 2.1. (Hammond and Jones 2008)

Table 2.1 – Embodied Energy (EE) and embodied carbon (EC)

Materials	EE - MJ/kg	EC - kgCO ₂ /kg	EC - kgCO ₂ e/kg
Cement (General)	4.5	0.73	0.74
Concrete - 32/40 MPa	0.88	0.123	0.132
Concrete - 40/50 MPa	1.00	0.141	0.151
Steel - Virgin	35.40	2.71	2.89
Steel - Recycled	9.40	0.44	0.47
Polypropylene	95.40	4.98	-
Fibreglass (Glass wool)	28.00	1.54	-
Nylon (Polyamide Polymer)	120.50	5.47	9.14
Rockwool	16.80	1.05	1.12
Flax with a polyester binder (Insulation)	39.50	1.70	-

TUS

The inventory provides two different values for embodied carbon, the first one (kgCO₂/kg) corresponds exclusively to the carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions, and the second, (kgCO₂/kg) includes other emissions, such as methane and perfluorochemicals.

In 2008, vegetable fibres were not included in the inventory as a building material, except for the flax-containing polyester binder used on housing insulation. As it is possible to see, concrete by itself does not have high embodied energy or carbon emission during its lifetime.

One of the reasons can be the fact that, apart from cement, concrete is made of natural aggregates and water, thus the reinforcement material is what increases its environmental impact.



From the materials listed, recycled steel would be the option with a smaller green footprint and the figures get almost four times bigger for virgin steel. Glass fibres would present similar values and synthetic fibres would require up to 120 times more energy during their lifetime in comparison with concrete.

Incorporating synthetic fibres into concrete has been shown to enhance its durability, permeability, frost resistance, acid and alkali resistance, and reduce its overall density. Among the various synthetic fibres available, polypropylene fibres are the most widely used option, with a general density of 0.946g/cm³. They effectively mitigate concrete cracking resulting from factors such as settlement or plastic shrinkage during initial stages. (Chen et al. 2018; Bolooki Poorsaheli et al. 2019)

A study examining the effects of incorporating three distinct types of synthetic fibres into a concrete mixture discovered that the addition of synthetic fibres in at least 0.33% of the volume improved the flexural strength of the structures and changed the failure mode from ductile to plastic. The fibres used were modified olefin, virgin polyolefin/polypropylene, and virgin copolymer polyolefin. The study did not report significant effects on compressive strength. Water absorption of the SNFRC mixes also increased from 0.66% to 0.99%, according to the authors. (Bolooki Poorsaheli et al. 2019)

Beyond the environmental impact and high cost, there is also a concern regarding the low interfacial shear stress between synthetic fibres and the cement matrix. Researchers have evaluated this property and concluded that the non-porous surface of synthetic fibres requires surface treatment with nano-silica to increase adhesion to concrete. The authors also emphasize the importance of considering the viscous



behaviour of synthetic materials when using SNFRC. (di Maida et al. 2015; Sorzia et al. 2019)

From a sustainable perspective, the option with a smaller impact would be natural fibres potentially being an efficient alternative to the fibres currently employed in FRC production.

2.4 Natural fibres as potential alternative

Natural fibres are usually classified as vegetable, mineral, and animal (Figure 2.4). While the animal-based fibres comprise specific proteins such as wool, silk and hair, the mineral fibres can be produced from asbestos, wollastonite, basalt and palygorskite. Vegetable fibres can be extracted from different parts of plants since their seeds, classified as primary or secondary, according to their application where primary plants are those cultivated for fibre extraction, while secondary plants produce fibres as a by-product. (Faruk et al. 2012; Onuaguluchi and Banthia 2016; Sanjay et al. 2018)

As for any other material, different properties can be evaluated to characterize natural fibres, giving parameters to understand and estimate their behaviour when submitted to different conditions and stresses.

A brief introduction regarding the categories just mentioned is included ahead in this section. It is worth mentioning again that animal fibres were not included in this study and although mineral fibres were tested for comparative purposes, the suitability of vegetable fibres for the reinforcement of concrete is the main target of the study.





Figure 2.4 – Classification of Natural Fibres. Source: Adapted from (Faruk et al. 2012; Raman Bharath et al. 2015).

2.4.1 Mineral fibres

Mineral fibres are natural fibres produced from mineral sources. Nevertheless, the production process is industrial, from melting stones, and sometimes industrial waste, into fibres. For this reason, the embodied energy and carbon emission associated with these fibres is much higher than the other classes of natural fibres. (Shi et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2022)

Basalt fibre is one of the most common mineral fibres available for construction applications, they are a bio-based alternative to glass fibres since both fibres require a similar manufacturing process with the difference that basalt fibres are made from stones and industrial waste. (Acar et al. 2017)

TUS 🚺

Firstly the basalt (as stones) is melted under high temperature, the basalt magma is then poured into a water tank where it quickly cools and gets a glass structure that is then extruded as basalt fibres. (Yang et al. 2022)

Research from 1998 concluded that basalt fibres effectively prevented segregation in a fresh concrete mixture and the authors suggested them as a replacement for steel fibres, especially for marine applications when the steel would not resist to the aggressive environment without oxidation or on structures exposed to high temperatures, as the fibres can resist up to 400°C. (Jamshaid and Mishra 2016; Mahltig 2017; Guo et al. 2019)

The equivalence between steel and basalt fibres is uncertain but literature indicates that 1kg of steel would offer similar mechanical properties to 9.6kg of basalt. The authors have suggested that basalt fibres would improve the concrete compressive strength in a concentration up to 0.15% of the volume. However, another study compared mixes with different proportions of both basalt and steel fibres and the authors have not found a direct proportion. According to their results, basalt fibres were able to improve the concrete tensile strength only when added up to 1.0% by the volume, while steel fibres still increased the peak strength with higher volumes. (Jamshaid and Mishra 2016; Jabbar et al. 2021)

Given that there is no direct correlation between the dosages of steel fibres and basalt fibres, and both require industrial processes for their production, substitution with an environmentally friendly alternative would substantially mitigate the current environmental impact of FRC production.



Adopting eco-friendly alternatives to steel and basalt fibres would represent a substantial environmental improvement in FRC production. By reducing the demand for energy, water and natural resources, the manufacturing of these alternatives would significantly lower the environmental impact of FRC production. Therefore, the implementation of such measures would be crucial in promoting the sustainable development of the construction industry, whilst protecting the environment.

Table 2.2 presents values found in the literature regarding some properties of basalt fibres that will be used for discussion in comparison to values obtained in the experimental part of this research.

Type of fibre	Density g/cm ³	Diameter (µm)	Tensile Strength (N/mm²)	Elastic Modulus (GPa)	Elongation at Break %
Basalt	2.6	7-15	4150-4840	>40	3.2

Table 2.2 – Properties of basalt fibres. (Ho et al. 2012; Sanjay et al. 2018)

In this study, basalt fibres were used as a benchmark, along with polypropylene and steel fibres, performed to evaluate the suitability of vegetable fibres for concrete reinforcement.

2.4.2 Vegetable fibres

Vegetable fibres are extracted from different parts of vegetal sources. They are commonly applied to the textile, sports, construction, automotive, and aircraft industries. In terms of environmental impact, authors suggest that vegetable fibres present negative carbon emission and affirm that the same size land for agriculture



purposes can sequestrate 93kg of CO₂, while an animal farm emits 28kg of CO₂. (Dissanayake et al. 2009; Karlsson and Röös 2019)

Their major application in construction is for non-structural composites, however, with the environmental awareness growing in the past decades they have been researched for other applications. (Swamy 1990; Furtado et al. 2018)

The challenges impacting the safe use of plant-based fibres for structural purposes were brought to attention in 1990 and, since then, substantial research has been done addressing the matters that jeopardize their structural application.

The structural material most used in construction is concrete. As previously mentioned, it is a brittle material and requires reinforcement when submitted to non-exclusively compressive stresses. Depending on the type, a singular vegetable fibre in nature can present significant tensile strength, however, the alkaline pH of concrete is aggressive for its structure. (Gagg 2014)

A review research shows that the most studied fibres in the past decade are sisal, flax, coconut, hemp, jute, eucalyptus, and fique fibres (Figure 2.5) and the mechanical properties of those fibres, according to different authors, are presented in Table 2.3. (Laverde et al. 2022)

From the results, the high variability of the properties of vegetable fibres can, once again, can highlighted. Also, it is possible to see that flax fibres can reach higher tensile strength when in comparison to coconut, eucalyptus, fique, hemp, jute, and sisal fibres followed by hemp fibres. In terms of elastic modulus, the fibres with lower values, according to this study are sisal and fique fibres. Fique fibres also present



higher elongation at break (%), while jute fibres present the lower. In terms of density, most fibres presented similar range values from 1.3 to 1.5g/cm³, however, coconut fibres are denser, reaching up to 6 g/cm³ and fique fibres the less dense, with values starting from 0.7g/cm³.



Figure 2.5 – The percentage of experimental. (Laverde et al. 2022)

Type of fibre	Tensile Strength (N/mm ²)	Elastic Modulus (GPa)	Elongation at Break %	Density g/cm ³
Coconut	100-230	23.5-90	1.0-3.5	2.8-6
Eucalypt us	300-500	10-40	-	1.2-1.5
Fique	133-424	5.7-24	5.4-9.8	0.7-1.4
Flax	345-2000	27.6-70	1.2-3.2	1.4-1.5
Hemp	270-900	23.5-90	1.0-3.5	0.9-1.5
Jute	393-800	8-55	1.0-1.8	1.3-1.5
Sisal	458-720	9-24	2-4.3	1.3-1.5

Table 2.3 – Properties of different vegetable fibres. Adapted from (Sanjay et al. 2018; Laverde et al.2022)

In addition to their strength, the study also mentions that flax fibres possess percentage of humidity, which make them an interesting choice for use in products



that come into contact with water. In comparison, they are slightly less absorbent than hemp and coconut fibres, while eucalyptus fibres would have high moisture retention.

From this list, it was possible to identify the potential of flax and hemp fibres as reinforcement of composites. While hemp fibres have been already commonly studied for this application, there is a gap in the literature for the use of flax fibres in reinforcing concrete.

2.4.2.1 Flax fibres

Flax fibres are obtained from the bast of the *Linum Usitatissimum plant*. They are usually produced in temperate regions and applications dated from ancient times can be found in the literature. Similar to other vegetable fibres, they are used to produce different materials, including luxury linen fabric in the textile and oil extraction in food industries. However, their properties have drawn the attention of scientists in different fields a few decades ago, and the plant reaches maturity after 110 days after sowing in the European region. (Melelli et al. 2022)

Figure 2.6 shows the difference between young and mature flax fibres. They are extracted from an intermediary tissue of the plan, and their presence is significantly lower on younger bast. For that reason, it is fundamental to wait until they achieve the correct age before harvesting.





Figure 2.6 – (a) Structure of young flax stem at young age and mature; (b) Flax plants pulled out at young (left) and mature(right) age (Melelli et al. 2022).

In terms of mechanical properties, authors have found that flax fibres can present tensile strength significantly higher than hemp and jute fibres, in a range going from 343 to 2000MPa. The vast variability of parts of the fibres and their cross-sections is one of the reasons for the scattering in those results according to researchers. Figure 2.7 shows the structure of a flax stem. (Dittenber and GangaRao 2012; Scida et al. 2017)

Furthermore, their addition in natural form into composites can affect mechanical properties in different ways. Flax fibres were studied under compression in random and unidirectional flax fibres reinforced epoxy composites and results showed that fibres could increase the compressive strength by around 20%. (Baley et al. 2019)

Results found for flax fibre bio-composites using 3D printing indicated similar magnitude than composites containing glass fibres/ polyamide for structural



applications without significantly affecting the compressive strength of the composites

studied. (le Duigou et al. 2019)



Figure 2.7 – Structure of a flax stem. (Güven et al. 2016)

With this research it is aimed to reduce the lack of studies evaluating the properties of flax fibres used for the reinforcement of concrete.

2.4.2.2 Hemp fibres

The second type of fibre studied in this research are hemp fibres. They come from the family of *Cannabis Sativa L* and are cultivated in at least 159 countries, representing over 80% of the world. There is a variety of species in this family, and they are divided into two categories: First, the "drug-types", or "marijuana-types" used in the pharmaceutical industry and therapeutic purposes with a significant content of hallucinogenic cannabinoids and cannabidiol. (Sander Fett et al. 2021).

Second, the "fibre-types", or "hemp-types" grown for fibres extraction and industrial applications, including this work. Figure 2.8 shows an industrial hemp plantation and



hemp fibres. As an abundant source of fibres, their extraction is made from the hemp bast and they may require surface treatment to become suitable for the application, they are intended for. (Godara 2019; Yamamuro et al. 2021)



Figure 2.8 – (a) Industrial hemp plantation (unknown author), (b) Hemp fibres.

The main application of hemp fibres in construction is on the production of hempcrete, or hemp-lime. The composite is produced from a mixture of the hemp plant, combined with lime-based binder and water. The composite is a lightweight material with low thermal conductivity used for insulation in construction with a non-structural application. Researchers have found that the life cycle assessment of hempcrete generates a negative net carbon resulting from the carbon sequestrated on the plant growth stage and the carbonation of the lime binder. (Ip and Miller 2012; Boutin and Flamin 2013; Escadeillas et al. 2013; Arehart et al. 2020)

The addition of hemp fibres directly into concrete has been studied for years and the result is a structure with low thermal conductivity, lightweight and better acoustic insulation but with potentially lower mechanical properties. In nature, hemp fibres present properties that can vary considerably among research conducted by different authors. The range of their tensile strength goes from 270 to 900MPa as previously



shown in Table 2.3. (Duval et al. 2011; Faruk et al. 2012; Ho et al. 2012; Ali et al. 2018; Laverde et al. 2022; Verma et al. 2022)

In general, vegetable fibres present interesting mechanical properties, however, as biodegradable materials, their properties require a deeper understanding of specific properties.

2.4.3 Current challenges related to the use of vegetable fibres

A work pointing out challenges related to the use of vegetable fibres to reinforce cement composites was published in 1990 bringing up for the first time the potential issues related to the topic that are still relevant for current studies. (Swamy 1990)

The first concern of vegetable fibres for the application, according to the author, is their low elastic modulus, which could be problematic for certain concrete structures that require a high elastic modulus. However, for reinforcing concrete structures that are expected to withstand impact, vibration, or other conditions that could lead to brittle failure, a lower value for this property becomes advantageous in reducing the brittleness of the concrete. (Cai et al. 2022; Wang et al. 2022)

Secondly, the variability in the properties of fibres was highlighted, which can be unpredictable even if they are of the same type. As they are natural, the composition of their structure may vary depending on factors such as weather conditions, soil quality, plant position, and age during cultivation. To address this variability, different surface treatments have been proposed to reduce the irregularity of their properties. (Feyisetan Adekunle 2015; Kumar Sinha et al. 2017; Ahmed et al. 2022; Rahimi et al. 2022b)



The author also discussed the susceptibility of fibres to fungal and insect attacks, which could reduce their durability. However, it is now known that degradation of fibres in composites can be caused by various environmental factors, such as moisture, heat, and exposure to UV light, rather than biodeterioration. (Furtado et al. 2018)

Most current studies address deterioration caused by the alkaline pH of concrete as the main cause of fibre degradability. It is important to consider this parameter as it directly affects the lifespan of the concrete structure in the long term. While the short-term effects of fibres are positive, as they reduce the incidence of cracks caused by plastic shrinkage in the early days of concrete, concerns related to their long-term impact were already being addressed back in the 1990s. (Furtado et al. 2018; Laverde et al. 2022; Malalli and Ramji 2022; Miraoui et al. 2022)

Ahead in this section, the challenges above will be discussed according to relevant techniques developed by authors in the past 3 decades to overcome these challenges.

2.4.3.1 Fibres behaviour under alkaline pH

An alkaline environment will naturally change the structure of vegetable fibres. As previously said, the pH of concrete ranges from 12.5 to 13.8, which is highly alkaline and it degrades lignin, waxes, hemicellulose and pectin from the fibres, reducing the fibres hydrophily and turning their structure surface rougher. (Feyisetan Adekunle 2015; Cruz and Fangueiro 2016; Kumar Sinha et al. 2017; Furtado et al. 2018; Godara 2019; Laverde et al. 2022)

This degradation during the lifetime of the structure directly affects its durability as will be seen ahead. However, in a controlled environment before the use of the fibres,



the degradation of these compounds is beneficial, as the cellulose left has properties that increase the transfer of stress and homogeneity of the matrix, for that reason, NaOH solution is one of the most common surface treatments currently studied, as discussed in this chapter. (Laverde et al. 2022)

2.4.3.2 Degradation and durability

Biodeterioration of natural fibres is the decay of the organic material of plants caused by microbes or fungi. It is favoured by the change in the moisture and temperature of the fibres and incorporated in a composite that can result from changes in the weather and UV exposure. (Hueck 2001; Furtado et al. 2018; Dungani et al. 2019; Summerscales 2021)

Although biodegradability is an advantageous property of the production of composites applied on disposable materials, concrete structures are designed to last, and the long-term effects of the fibres must be considered.

The pH of concrete is an important parameter as it can affect the durability of reinforced concrete structures. Typically, the pH of concrete ranges from 12.5 to 13.8, which is highly alkaline. This alkalinity is due to the presence of calcium hydroxide, a by-product of the hydration of cement and has to be considered when selecting the reinforcement type to be adopted. (Natkunarajah et al. 2022)

There is still a lack of experiments studying the biodeterioration of vegetable fibres into concrete, but it is now well known that the moisture content in the composite can directly affect the durability of both fibres and structures. (Tolêdo Filho et al. 1999; Tolêdo Filho et al. 2000)



The water absorption, or hygroscopicity can cause another type of degradation to concrete. In a study comparing mechanical behaviour of sisal and polypropylene fibres considering the hygroscopicity, confirmed that the change in the size of the fibres can cause microcracks in between the fibres and concrete, weakening the structural bonds of the composite as shown in Figure 2.9, where (a) shows the original size of the composite, (b) the volume increased by the water absorption, causing microcracks and (c) the degradation on the fibre-matrix interface caused by the change in the volume. (Castoldi et al. 2019)



Figure 2.9 – Effect of fibre swelling on the fibre-matrix interface. (Castoldi et al. 2019)

Therefore, the aggressive pH of concrete damaging the fibres is not the only factor to be considered and the natural behaviour of the fibres can also damage the concrete.

2.4.3.3 Variability of properties

Finally, the last challenge related to vegetable fibres was the unpredictability of their properties. Looking into mechanical, physical and chemical properties, their composition will vary according to, not only the part from the plant where they are being extracted, but also to the soil type where they were cultivated, the weather, quality of water, etc. (Saha et al. 2012; Jones et al. 2017; Furtado et al. 2018)



To estimate the performance of natural fibres and understand their properties it is ultimately important to characterize their chemical, physical and mechanical properties. This will allow an understanding of their behaviour and needs before defining potential applications, including types of composites reinforcement.

2.4.4 Properties of natural fibres

In this section, some of the relevant physical, chemical and mechanical properties of vegetable fibres will be explained. As previously mentioned, the properties of fibres extracted from the same source can present a broad range of results due to the natural variability of plants.

2.4.4.1 Physical properties

Length, hygroscopicity, diameter and density are some of the physical properties of the vegetable fibres commonly studied and are characteristics measured on materials without changing their chemical composition.

2.4.4.1.1 Hygroscopicity

Hygroscopicity was defined as the ability of a material to absorb water in a reversible way (non-structured). Back in 1999, this property did not have a quantitative methodology to be measured, leading to various non-standardized procedures hindering the comparison between different authors. (L. Ford and Willson 1999)

Nowadays, different standards were developed to guide the hygroscopicity characterization of certain materials. However, there is still no specific standard to



evaluate the capacity of water absorption of vegetable fibres. (Carvalho et al. 2013; Melo et al. 2021)

Moisture absorption can be considered the property with a major impact on the mechanical performance of the fibres for reinforcement of composites as the excess of humidity can generate delamination of the structure of the fibres. (Mokhothu and John 2015)

As there is still no specific method to quantify the hygroscopicity of natural literature suggests an analysis of the water absorption directly on the composite produced. The correlation between water absorption and penetration on concrete was evaluated, concluding that the lower water penetration, the lower would be the water absorption, as the difficulty of fluids to penetrate the matrix is increased. Therefore, for this work, the property evaluated will be the water penetration of concrete, to measure the level of water penetration of concrete. (Célino et al. 2014; Sekhar et al. 2018)

2.4.4.1.2 Diameter

Another physical property often studied is the diameter. Depending on the size of the fibres, their diameter can be measured by using a digital microscope as shown in Figure 2.10. The variability in the diameter of fibres for all types of plants is a topic considered in the past 40 years. (Mukherjee and Satyanarayana 1984)





Figure 2.10 – Diameter of Flax fibres (Assaedi et al. 2014).

Table 2.4 presents different values obtained for the diameter of the fibres from the same sources in the past years. Confirming the concerns brought up by authors in the 80s, it is clear how the diameters can vary. Looking back to Figure 2.10, although the authors measured diameters similar, it is visible that if other regions were selected, larger and smaller values could be obtained as vegetable fibres are not uniformly shaped as non-natural fibres would be.

Table 2.4 – Fibres and diameters according to different authors

Fibre	Diameter (µm)	Reference	
Flax	10-80	(Dai 2006; Assaedi et al. 2014)	
Hemp	4-800	(Prasad and Sain 2016; Sauvageon et al. 2018)	

Although the variability of diameters is a property important to be used to calculate mechanical properties, by itself, does not provide enough parameters to predict the behaviour of the fibres in the concrete matrix.

To evaluate a possible correlation between diameter and the mechanical performance of the fibres, studies analysed stems of flax fibres and were not able to identify a



pattern relating to the diameter and the tensile strength of the fibres. While, for hemp fibres, an inverted proportion was observed, fibres with smaller diameters presented higher elastic modulus and tensile strength than larger fibres. (Shahzad 2013; Alcock et al. 2018; Sauvageon et al. 2018)

2.4.4.1.3 Density

Finally, the last physical property included in this review is density. Several authors include the low density of vegetable fibres as one of the main advantages of their use for reinforcement of composites. The general density of plain concrete moisture ranges from 2200-2500kg/m³. (Xia et al. 2009)

As the density of a composite is calculated by a weighted average of density and volume of each compound, when materials with lower specific gravity are added into a matrix, the density of the final material will be also reduced. (Laverde et al. 2022)

As showed in Table 2.3, there is also a high variability of values obtained for densities on vegetable fibres and it was not found in the literature an additional explanation to justify such a range apart from the natural variability already mentioned it is expected that the variability on singular vegetable fibres does not affect results obtained for the final concrete mixture reinforced.

Although physical properties are important for the characterization of the fibres, after a literature review, it was possible to understand that, apart from diameter that will be used to calculate some mechanical properties, hygroscopicity and density are properties more relevant to be studied in the final composite instead of on the fibres isolated.



2.4.4.2 Mechanical properties

Mechanical properties were defined in 1963 as "the stress-strain behaviour of materials in a macroscopic magnitude allowing the prediction of fundamental factors for engineering design". (Marin 1963)

In another words, they are the properties presented by a material when a load is applied. They can be uniaxial in compression or tension, or also result from a combination of loads in two or more directions originating from shear forces, torsion or bending moments as shown in Figure 2.11. (Gao et al. 2022; Wen et al. 2022)



*Figure 2.11 – Types of loading (*Stress and strain: Mechanical properties of materials *[no date])* The mechanical properties of fibres that are usually evaluated and considered for concrete reinforcement are tensile strength, elastic modulus (Young's Modulus) and percentage of elongation at break. (Shireesha and Nandipati 2019)

The three parameters can be measured from the same test. During the test, a load (F) is increased and the change in the length of the specimen (Δl) is measured until rupture, using the cross-section area (A_0) of the specimen it is possible to convert load into stress (σ), by using Equation 2.1.



$$\sigma = \frac{F}{A_0}$$
 Equation 2.1

In the same way, from the change in the length, it is possible to calculate the strain (ε), as expressed in Equation 2.2 where l_0 is the initial measurement.

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\Delta l}{l_0}$$
 Equation 2.2

From these parameters it is possible to plot a stress (σ) vs strain (ϵ) diagram. As shown in Figure 2.12, in a general diagram, the segment between the origin and A represents the elastic zone, meaning the capacity the material has to resist stress with a recoverable strain, without affecting the original format (resilient modulus). (Sun 2016; Ali Zangena 2018; Usman and Masirin 2019; Zeng et al. 2020)



Figure 2.12 – Stress-strain diagram. (Stress-Strain Curve: Strength of Materials - SMLease Design [no date])

B represents the yield point, defined as the stress outside the recoverable capacity of the material, causing greater deformation under a small increase on the tensile load and the section between A and C represents the begin of the plastic behaviour in the material from where deformation becomes permanent. The section between C and E



represents an increased capacity for resisting strain that will achieve a peak and lead to the rupture (point E). (Behera and Hari 2010; DeArmitt 2011; Abdewi 2017; Vaidya and Pathak 2018)

Point D represents the ultimate tensile strength or just tensile strength, which is one of the properties analysed in this work.

2.4.4.2.1 Tensile strength of fibres

The tensile strength refers to the maximum axial stress that a material can resist before failure when stretched or pulled. The load can be measured experimentally and require specific apparatus. (Pal et al. 2021)

One of the current methods available to measure it is the 'Standard Test Method for Tensile Strength and Young's Modulus of Fibres'. The guidelines direct how to calculate the tensile strength and Young's modulus of fibres and its procedure will be further detailed in the next chapter of this work. However, as it is a standard not exclusively created to evaluate vegetable fibres, some key points are relevant to be discussed in this literature review. (ASTM International 2020)

As previously seen, the diameters of fibres can vary on a broad range, considering that, it is very unlikely that the cross-section of vegetable fibres will be a perfect circle and the phloem (vascular tissue of plants) directly affects the cross-section of the fibres. (Zhang et al. 2016)



Figure 2.13 shows the general shape of phloem for flax, hemp, and jute fibres according to the authors. Although flax fibres present a cross-section closer to a circle, hemp fibres appear to have a more undefined shape.



Figure 2.13 – Phloem shapes of (a) flax and (b) hemp. Adapted from (Zhang et al. 2016).

The unpredictability on the cross-section is addressed by the standard as the variability along a fibre can significantly affect the results obtained for tensile strength and elastic modulus. For this reason, when performing tests on singular fibres, the procedure highlights the importance of measuring the diameter using the appropriate apparatus, measuring the diameter as close as possible to the fractured area instead of adopting an average value for all the specimens.

2.4.4.2.2 Elastic Modulus/ Young's Modulus of fibres (E)

Elastic modulus is the property that defines how stiff or rigid a material is. Graphically, it can be calculated as the slope of the region where the material presents an elastic behaviour. Looking back at Figure 2.12, it is the rate between stress (σ) and strain (ϵ) in the elastic zone of the material (O and A) and can be calculated through Equation 2.3.



$$E = \frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon}$$
 Equation 2.3

Flexible materials present lower values for modulus of elasticity, while stiffer materials present higher values, which allows an evaluation of the stress possible to be applied to a material to keep it in its elastic zone and to set a range of stress where there will be plastic deformation (Donnet et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2016; Vaidya and Pathak 2018).

2.4.4.2.3 Elongation at break (%)

Elongation at break is the strain at the rupture point and represents the capacity of the fibres to resist changes in their shape before failure, calculated through Equation 2.4. (Djafari Petroudy 2017)

Elongation at break(%) =
$$\frac{l_{at \, rupture} - l_0}{l_0}$$
 Equation 2.4

It differs from the elastic modulus as it is calculated only based on the length of the fibres, vegetable fibres present higher elongation at break than synthetic fibres, and although it might lead to assume that they can increase the strain of reinforced composites, no evidence was found in the literature to affirm that. (Jones et al. 2017)

Results obtained by different authors could not confirm any direct relation between elongation at break, elastic modulus or tensile strength and, again, the high variability of their properties needs to be addressed as they could likely interfere with the performance of the composite reinforced. (Mohanty et al. 2000; Du et al. 2015; Santana et al. 2021)



2.4.4.2.4 Variability of mechanical properties of vegetable fibres

After an overview of the mechanical properties listed in Table 2.3, it is possible now to better understand the mechanical behaviour of flax and hemp.

In terms of ultimate tensile strength, different authors have proven that flax fibres are stronger than then hemp fibres, achieving up to 2000N/mm², while coconut is the type of fibre with smaller tensile strength.

For elastic modulus, jute can present the lower values among the sources studied, however, the range of its elongation at break is also smaller, while flax and hemp fibres present similar behaviour. Although there is extensive research on the topic, it is also possible to see again the high variability in the results. For that reason, surface treatments have been studied. Before a deeper discussion on the topic, it is important to first understand the chemical composition of the fibres, and that is the topic discussed next.

2.4.4.3 Chemical composition

Chemical composition is evaluated at a molecular level of materials, and directly affects the performance of a composite reinforced with vegetable fibres since layers of the fibres contain different compounds with various properties. (Pettersen 1984; Laverde et al. 2022)

Cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, waxes, and pectin are the main compounds present in the chemical structure of vegetable fibres and Table 2.5 summarizes the composition of flax, hemp, and jute fibres by weight percentages according to values found in the literature.

💆 TUS

Fibre	Cellulose (wt%)	Hemicellulose (wt%)	Lignin (wt%)	Waxes (wt%)	Pectin (wt%)	References
Flax	62-80	12-20	2-5	1.5-	1.4-6.7	(Faruk et al. 2012;
				1.7		Wang et al. 2015;
						Laverde et al.
						2022)
Hemp	68-74	15-22	4-10	0.8	0.8-2.5	(Ali et al. 2018;
						Benin et al. 2020;
						Laverde et al.
						2022)

Table 2.5 – Chemical Composition of flax, hemp and jute fibres.

There are various methods to quantify the chemical composition, and the extraction is commonly adopted in studies interested specifically in the quantitative amount of certain compounds from plants, for example, an analysis led to evaluate the extracts present to be used in the pharmaceutical industry. More simply, for composites application, a spectroscopic analysis allows a general identification of the presence of compounds. (Speakman 1950; Wang et al. 2003; Sasidharan et al. 2011; Dhali et al. 2021; Sun et al. 2022)

As will be further explained in the next chapter, Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) is the methodology selected in this work to evaluate the presence of each compound on the fibres studied, values for the main infrared transition of hemp fibres as shown in Table 2.6.

With a better understanding of their quantities and how each compound can be identified, some of their properties and functions will be detailed ahead, allowing a



deeper comprehension of their potential beneficial or prejudicial effects on the concrete matrix.

Wavenumber (cm ⁻¹)	Vibration	Sources	
3336	OH stretching	Cellulose, Hemicellulose	
2887	C-H symmetrical stretching	Cellulose, Hemicellulose	
1729	C=O stretching vibration	Pectin, Waxes	
1623	OH bending of absorbed water	Water	
1506	C=C aromatic symmetrical stretching	Lignin	
1423	HCH and OCH in-plane bending vibration	Cellulose	
1368, 1362	In-the-plane CH bending	Cellulose, Hemicellulose	
1317	CH2 rocking vibration	Cellulose	
1246	C=O and G ring stretching	Lignin	
1202	C-O-C symmetric stretching	Cellulose, Hemicellulose	
1155	C-O-C asymmetrical stretching	Cellulose, Hemicellulose	
1048, 1019, 995	C-C, C-OH, C-H ring and side group vibrations	Cellulose, Hemicellulose	
896	COC, CCO and CCH deformation and stretching	Cellulose	
662	C-OH out-of-plane bending	Cellulose	

_

Table 2.6 – Main infrared transition for vegetable fibres (Dai and Fan 2010).



2.4.4.3.1 Cellulose

Cellulose is considered as the most abundant biopolymer on Earth and described in 1838 as a fibrous material present on plant tissues capable of resisting extraction using organic and aqueous solvents and identified its molecular formula as $C_6H_{10}O_5$. (McNamara et al. 2015)

Over 6 decades later, it was discovered that cellulose was a material consisting of glucose units interatomically linked with bonds extremely stable, which led to what is currently known about cellulose being the structure that keeps the plant steady. Figure 2.14 shows a schematic representation of the chemical structure of cellulose. (Wolfenden et al. 1998; Brigham 2018)



Figure 2.14 – Structure of cellulose (Unknown author).

Although it is not the scope of this work, several types of bacteria can synthesize cellulose, producing the bacterial cellulose. The chemical formula is the same, however, the configuration of its structure is different as shown in Figure 2.15. Different from vegetable cellulose, this is a permeable material often used for biomedical applications. (Manoukian et al. 2019; Lai 2022)





Figure 2.15 – Chemical structure of bacterial cellulose. (Ciechańska et al. 2012)

Cellulose is the most abundant natural polymer, and while it can be found in its pure form, it is more common to be found mixed with other substances in the vegetable structure, such as hemicellulose and lignin as showed in Figure 2.16. (Michelin et al. 2014; Naidjonoka et al. 2020)



Figure 2.16 - Cellulose involved by lignin and hemicellulose. Adapted from (Michelin et al. 2014).

2.4.4.3.2 Hemicellulose

Hemicellulose is the second most predominant component of the plant cell. Defined as polysaccharides that are insoluble in water but can be extractable from the walls of the cells with alkaline solutions. Combined with lignin, they bond the plant structure together and the chemical structure of hemicellulose is non-crystalline and more open, as shown in Figure 2.17, which leads to an increased hygroscopicity. (Whistler 1993; Holtzapple 2003; Huffman 2003; Benaimeche et al. 2020; Naidjonoka et al. 2020)



As a highly biodegradable polysaccharide, it is currently used on hemicellulose-based hydrogels and other decomposable materials. Therefore, as a compound soluble in alkaline solutions, biodegradable and with high hygroscopicity, when considering the use of vegetable fibres in the reinforcement of concrete, hemicellulose does not provide properties compatible with the application: an alkaline environment, designed to last.



Figure 2.17 – Structure of hemicellulose. (Benaimeche et al. 2020)

For that reason, different surface treatment methods are being developed aiming at the removal of substances naturally present on the fibres that can become harmful to the concrete life-span and different surface treatments currently studied will be detailed in this chapter.

2.4.4.3.3 Lignin

Lignin was first described in 1838 as an incrust of cellulose, being named lignin only a few decades later. Lignin provides permeability and thermal stability to the cell wall, giving stiffness and strength to the plant structure, being essential for the vertical growth of the plants. (Santos et al. 2014; Haghdan et al. 2016).

With limited solubility and reducing the access of enzymes in the plant tissue, it also protects the plant against fungal and microbial attacks. (Verma and Dwivedi 2014)



Considered for years a low-value waste, from pulp and paper production, lignin was often used as fuel for energy production. In the past decade, it started to be used in polymers, biomedical and antioxidant activities. Figure 2.18 shows different structures of lignin, although lignin has interesting properties, its characteristic odour limits its applications. (Haghdan et al. 2016; Cassoni et al. 2022)



Figure 2.18 – Lignin structure (representative and common linkages) (Ullah et al. 2022).

2.4.4.3.4 Waxes

Plant waxes are hydrophobic and lipophilic components found on external layers of plants, insects, animal skins, etc. In vegetable sources, it can be found as a continuous, coarse blade or rod-shaped projections along the cuticle part of aerial. (Tinto et al. 2017; Lan 2019)

Depending on the source, waxes present different properties, and their quality may also vary according to weather and harvesting conditions and they can be soluble in acid, acetic and alkaline solvents. (Ahmad et al. 2021)



It was not found in the literature their direct effect on cementitious matrices, however, one of the aims of surface treatments in vegetable fibres is the removal of waxes, due to their deterioration under a high pH environment. (Rahimi et al. 2022b)

2.4.4.3.5 Pectin

Pectin is another polysaccharide and binds materials on the cell walls of vegetable tissues, a natural moisture retentive dressing (hydrocolloid) that can be used for various applications requiring a viscosity enhancer in the food and biomedical industries. (Pawar et al. 2008; Nasrollahzadeh et al. 2021b)



Figure 2.19 – Molecular structure of pectin (Pawar et al. 2008).

Pectin stabilizes and emulsifies oil and water mixtures, as explained in Figure 2.20, molecules of pectin absorb droplets of oil acting as a shield avoiding that those adjacent droplets get separated, causing a short to long-term stability in the emulsion. (Nasrollahzadeh et al. 2021a)

On cementitious composites, research showed that the presence of pectin can accelerate the setting time of ordinary Portland cement paste. Regarding the compressive strength, the addition of pectin reduced the mortar strength at an early age and slightly increased it at 28 days in quantities up to 0.5%. (Kavas et al. 2007)



Figure 2.20 – Use of pectin as emulgent. Adapted from (Nasrollahzadeh et al. 2021a)

Their hydrophilic behaviour could reduce the interfacial bonds between the fibres and matrix, therefore similar to waxes, and lignin, pectin is also aimed to be removed from the vegetable fibres structure with surface treatment. (Cristaldi et al. 2010)

2.4.5 Surface treatment

As introduced before, the broad variability of the vegetable fibre properties combined with the chemical behaviour of some of their compounds are factors that must be considered when evaluating their suitability for concrete reinforcement.

Aiming to minimize the presence of the degradable compounds in an alkali environment, to increase the tensile strength and elongation at break, and to reduce the elastic modulus, authors have suggested the performance of surface treatments on the fibres before their application. (Le Troedec et al. 2008; Rahimi et al. 2022b)


Different chemical, physical and biological procedures can be found in the literature. However, considering the viability and reproducibility, in this work only chemical treatments will be evaluated, seen that using plasma or other biological substances could make the reproducibility unfeasible for potential commercialization (Cruz and Fangueiro 2016; Vellaichamy and Gaonkar 2017).

Chemical treatments provide better dimensional stability to the fibres, reducing their hygroscopicity and giving resistance to fungal deterioration, different methods of chemical surface treatments that could be used on vegetable fibres are summarized in Table 2.7. (Sood and Dwivedi 2018)

Treatment	Chemical(s) used	Chemical Structure	Concentration	
Alkali	Sodium Hydroxide	NaOH	5%, 10%, 15%	
Cyclohexane modification	Cyclohexane	C ₆ H ₁₂ /C ₂ H ₆ O	1:1 vol solution in ethyl alcohol	
Fluorocarbon	Perigurard UFC		50 g/L	
Modification with maleic anhydride	Maleic anhydride	C ₄ H ₂ O ₃	20wt% solution in acetone	
Permanganate	Potassium Permanganate	KMnO4	0.005% in acetone	
Peroxide	Benzoyl peroxide or Dicumyle peroxide	$C_{14}H_{10}O_4,$ $C_{18}H_{22}O_2$	6% solution in acetone	
Sulfuric Acid	Sulfuric Acid	H_2SO_4	1.0% (wt/vol)	

Table 2.7 – Chemical Treatments for Vegetable fibres. Adapted from (Sood and Dwivedi 2018).



EDTA	Ethylenediamine-	$C_{10}H_{16}N_2O_8$	5g/L
	tetraacetic acid		
Stearic acid	Stearic acid	$C_{18}H_{36}O_2$	1% solution in ethyl
			alcohol

Before discussing each option of treatment, from a health and safety perspective, it is relevant to first perform a risk assessment of these chemicals. Early in the 90s, started the implementation of the "Globally Harmonized System of Classification and Labelling of Chemicals" (GHS). The system consistently standardizes the labelling for chemicals providing information allowing an easy assessment of their hazards, seeking the protection of human health and the environment through pictograms representing the hazard classification as shown in Figure 2.21. (Winder et al. 2005; Hill 2010; Clark et al. 2013)



Explosive Explosives, including organic peroxides and highly unstable material at risk of exploding even without exposure to air (self-reactive).



Health Hazard A cancer-causing agent or substance with respiratory, reproductive or organ toxicity that causes damage over time (a chronic, or long-term, health hazard).



Flammable Flammable materials or substances are liable to selfignite when exposed to water or air (pyrophoric), or which emit flammable gas.



Toxic Poisons and highly concentrated acids have an immediate and severe toxic effect.



Environment Chemicals that are toxic to aquatic wildlife.



Exclamation mark An immediate skin, eye or respiratory tract irritant, or narcotic.



Figure 2.21 – GHS pictograms for hazard classification. Adapted from (Princeton University 2016).

Following the GHS classification, hazards associated with the chemical treatments listed above are presented in Table 2.8.

Chemical	Hazard(s)	Reference
Sodium Hydroxide		(Sigma-Aldrich 2021)
Cyclohexane		(New Jersey Department of Health 2016b)
Maleic anhydride		(INEOS Joliet [no date])
Potassium		(Fisher science Education
Permanganate	\checkmark \checkmark \checkmark \checkmark	2015)
Benzoyl peroxide		(New Jersey Department of Health 2016a; Parchem 2016a)
Dicumyle peroxide		(Parchem 2016b; Thermo
	• • • •	Fisher Sientific 2022)
Sulfuric Acid		(Teck Metals Ltd 2015;
		New Jersey Department of
		Health 2016c)

Table 2.8 – Hazard classification of chemicals considered for surface treatments.



Ethylenediami	netet		(New	Jersey I	Department
raacetic	acid	\vee \vee	of	Health	2008;
(EDTA)			Therm	oFisher	Scientific
			2022)		
Stearic acid		None	(Fisher	Science	Education
			2014;	The	ermoFisher
			Scienti	ific 2021)	
Ethanol/ Aceto	one		(Mercl	x 2014; T	R 2015)

As it is possible to see, except for stearic acid, all the treatments suggested by Sood et al. (2018) present some hazardousness. Some of the chemicals present fewer hazards, like EDTA, however, the majority are extremely dangerous for the environment and human health, including sodium hydroxide, the treatment found more commonly in the literature.

Both solvents included on the list are flammable and can cause an immediate skin, eye or respiratory tract irritation, or have narcotic effects.

Research evaluating the effects of NaOH solution for surface treatment of abaca fibres, found that alkali treatment removes wax and non-cellulosic materials from the surface of the studied fibres, increasing their surface roughness and, therefore, improving the interfacial bonding between fibre and matrix in a composite, confirming also, that the capacity of water absorption was also reduced. (Kumar Sinha et al. 2017)

In Figure 2.22, a comparison between abaca fibres after treatments using alkali solution in different concentrations is presented in a scanning electron microscope



(SEM) Image. It is possible to see that solutions in higher concentrations removes compounds from the fibres, leaving a more uniformly rough surface that could improve the adhesion between fibres and matrix.

In addition, there are certain factors to be considered with regard to the utilization of sodium hydroxide in the treatment of fibres intended for incorporation into concrete mixes. Given its aggressive nature, this substance has the potential to compromise the strength of the fibres, and the alkaline pH of the concrete may exacerbate their degradation over time. (Moraes et al. 2012).



Figure 2.22 – SEM micrographs (1000x) of abaca fibres. Untreated (left), 1% NaOH (centre) and 3% NaOH (right) (Kumar Sinha et al. 2017).

Although it is a low-cost product, one of the main reasons to consider the adoption of vegetable fibres over other fibres is the sustainability they offer. As shown in Table 2.8, sodium hydroxide is a hazardous chemical, and their LCA will be negatively affected if a highly toxic chemical is used. (Thannimalay 2013)

A study using cyclohexane treatment, combined with NaOH indicated that it could improve the adhesion between matrix and fibres, however, the mechanical properties were reduced. (Razera et al. 2014)



Regarding maleic anhydride, despite its relatively lower risk profile compared to other treatments, it is a corrosive chemical. A comparative study evaluating the effects of sodium hydroxide, maleic anhydride, acetic anhydride, and silane treatments on hemp fibres revealed that sodium hydroxide can augment the mechanical properties of these fibres, while maleic anhydride, acetic anhydride, and silane treatments could potentially reduce their tensile strength. (Sawpan et al. 2011).

Oppositely to maleic anhydride, different studies suggest that treatments using potassium permanganate (KMnO4) can improve the properties of different vegetable fibres, reducing their hydrophilic nature and removing pectin, hemicellulose and waxes. (Li et al. 2016; Imoisili and Jen 2020; Ezeamaku et al. 2022)

Similarly to NaOH, solutions containing benzoyl peroxide, dicumyle peroxide and sulfuric acid are severely hazardous, studies suggest they can also be effective to remove unwanted compounds from the plant fibres, improving their adhesion on a composite matrix. (Sari et al. 2019; Kamath and Bennehalli 2021)

Although not common, research suggests that EDTA helps to separate the fibres with potential to increase the fibre-matrix bond in a composite and a study using fibre flour wood treated with EDTA to reinforce mortars, indicates that the final composite presented enhanced mechanical properties in comparison to untreated fibres (Le Troedec et al. 2008; Fadhel and Sabrine 2018).

Regarding stearic acid, different authors affirm that stearic acid can enhance the properties of fibres treated with stearic acid solution. As it is a chemical with no hazards involved and considering that the scope of this research is to evaluate the



suitability of vegetable fibres for FRC production, focusing on the environmental impact, treatments using stearic acid becomes an interesting option in comparison to the other treatments listed. (Nayak et al. 2021; Pickering and Sunny 2021; Santiagoo et al. 2021)

Stearic acid is a common fatty acid, present in plant and animal fats, that is not toxic and is biocompatible with the human body and environment. The chemical is insoluble in water and soluble in ethanol and is commonly used in the production of cosmetics, soaps and detergent products. Research indicates that stearic acid treatment on flax fibres also removes non-crystalline compounds from vegetable fibres. (Zhen et al. 2015; Chand and Fahim 2021)

As it will be detailed in the next section, seeing all the advantages of stearic acid, this study will compare stearic acid treatments in different concentrations and for different periods with NaOH, the most common treatment used by other authors, KMnO₄, another treatment with potential according to the literature and EDTA, a less hazardous chemical but with not many studies about.

Recently, a study investigated the effects of linseed oil treatment of flax fibres applied on the reinforcement of mortars. According to the authors, linseed oil treatment reduces the hygroscopicity of the fibres, improving the workability of a fresh mixture. (Page et al. 2021)

Concerning mechanical properties, the authors found that both treated and untreated flax fibres would decrease the compressive strength of the studied mortar but treated fibres would present better behaviour than the untreated. They also found that the



addition of fibres improves the tensile strength and slightly enhances the thermal insulation of the composite. The study was published after the practical work of this research was concluded, and for that reason, linseed oil was not included in the options of treatments, however, as a fatty acid, linseed oil contains stearic acid in its composition and results will be compared in the discussion section of this study. (Mailer 2004; CLARKE 2008)

After reviewing concepts regarding vegetable fibres and treatment options, it is possible now to go back and study properties related to the composite that is the target product of this research, the FRC.

The subsequent sections of this chapter will cover the characteristics of FRC, along with the fibres that are currently employed for this purpose, as well as the alternatives that are being investigated by the academic community.

2.5 Properties of fibre-reinforced concrete (FRC)

As previously introduced, FRC is produced from the addition of fibres during the concrete mix stage, aiming to enhance properties that plain concrete would not provide by itself. (Pöhler et al. 2021)

In this section, the main properties influenced by the fibre reinforcement of concrete will be detailed, according to current standardized methods and past research.



2.5.1 Consistency

Consistency is a rheological property evaluated on a fresh concrete mixture and is directly related to the plasticity and workability of the mixture. The test is well known in civil engineering and is conducted just before concrete is moulded and specified by the Irish Standard 'Testing fresh concrete – Part 2: Slump test'. (Choi et al. 2016; National Standards Authority of Ireland 2019a)

The slump test measures the consistency and workability of concrete by determining the change in height of the concrete after it is placed in a cylindrical mould and then removed. The test is crucial to ensure that the concrete has the desired properties for its intended use.

The workability of concrete is influenced by its consistency, and as explained earlier in this chapter, the high hygroscopicity of vegetable fibres must be considered to prevent any adverse effects on the moulding or casting process of the concrete.

2.5.2 Relative density

Relative density, also known as bulk specific gravity, is the ratio of the weight of a particular material to its volume, which includes both impermeable and permeable voids. In a composite material, the final density can be determined using the Archimedes principle by summing the densities of each component multiplied by its respective volume. (Shadheer Ahamed et al. 2021)

As it has been confirmed by different authors, vegetable fibres are lightweight in comparison to concrete and their addition can decrease the density of fibre-reinforced



concrete (FRC). Typically, the density of concrete is considered to be around 2400 kg/m³, and depending on the application, reducing its density can be beneficial as it can enhance the insulation capability of the structure, extend moisture-curing, and increase durability. (Bremner 2008).

Lightweight concrete has a density ranging from 300 kg to 2000 kg/m3, and it is usually produced by modifying the aggregates in the mixture or by creating an air-entrained mixture. (Newman and Owens 2003; Bremner 2008)

Despite confirming that the addition of fibres can reduce the density of concrete, current literature lacks evidence to suggest that adding fibres alone can lower the density enough to classify a mixture with natural aggregates as lightweight concrete. However, a combination of lightweight aggregates and vegetable fibres can result in even lower relative densities. (Charai et al. 2022)

2.5.3 Water penetration

The high hygroscopicity of vegetable fibres can directly affect the mechanical capacity of brittle composites such as concrete. This is due to the change in volume suffered by the fibres, creating internal stresses in the bond fibre-matrix and triggering the start of microcracks that could reduce the lifespan of the structure as previously shown in Figure 2.9. (Tolêdo Filho et al. 1999; Tolêdo Filho et al. 2000; Boran et al. 2016; Ferreira et al. 2017; Castoldi et al. 2019)

Considering that when fibres get in contact with water they will absorb water, the evaluation of the level of water penetration in a VFRC allows an understanding of the possible damages the structure will be susceptible to if it gets in direct contact with



water. One of the methods to evaluate this parameter is given by the standard "Testing hardened concrete -Part 8: Depth of penetration of water under pressure". (Irish Standard EN 12390-8 2009)

Research on the influence of the length of palmyra fibres, into the water penetrability of fibre reinforced concrete found that FRC mixes containing shorter fibres (25mm) had a lesser depth of penetration compared to those with longer fibres (50mm). However, literature studies assessing this property for flax or hemp FRC have not been found in the literature. (Rai P. et al. 2022)

Unlike other available methods that measure water absorption by submerging the specimen in water, this method is particularly interesting as it provides an intensified procedure that can simulate scenarios where the structure is exposed to direct water, such as rainfall or possible leaks commonly seen in construction. More information on this procedure will be provided in the next chapter, Experimental Details.

2.5.4 Thermal insulation

Considering the suitability of VRFC for different applications, the evaluation of thermal insulation is also relevant, especially for countries such as Ireland that are currently working on the increase of the energy efficiency in buildings to reduce the consumption of non-renewable heating sources and CO₂ emissions (Walsh 2021).

An efficient method to assess the thermal insulation of a composite is detailed by ISO 8301(1991) "Thermal insulation – Determination of steady-state thermal resistance and related properties – Heat flow meter apparatus" (The International Standards Organisation 1991).



The procedure for measuring heat flow on the FRC specimen will be detailed in the next section. In summary, the test involves placing the specimen between a hot and a cold chamber in a controlled and steady environment. The heat flow on the material is then measured, as illustrated in Figure 2.23.

Despite FRC being a homogenous composite, it is made up of different materials that may present different phases. Consequently, the thermal insulation of FRC is likely to vary according to factors such as the type of fibre reinforcement used, the water content, and the presence of air voids after hardening. (Taoukil et al. 2013; Bessenouci et al. 2014; Asadi et al. 2018)



Figure 2.23 – Steady-state of box method. (Asadi et al. 2018)

2.5.5 Compressive strength

As previously highlighted, the capacity of concrete to withstand compressive stresses is a fundamental property. Various studies have demonstrated that the addition of



fibres can significantly affect the compressive strength of concrete, in comparison to plain concrete. (Siddique et al. 2012; Gupta and Kumar 2019; Alaskar et al. 2021)

The compressive strength of concrete can be influenced by various factors, including the source, length, and fibre volume fraction. Previous research has indicated that the addition of steel fibres in dosages up to 1.5% of the weight of concrete can enhance its compressive strength, irrespective of the fibre length, as illustrated in Figure 2.24. (Han et al. 2019)



Figure 2.24 – Compressive strength of SFRC vs length of fibres. (Han et al. 2019)

Research suggests that the compressive strength of cement-based composites reinforced with vegetable fibres can be influenced by various factors, including the maximum aggregate size and fibre length. For instance, in the case of mortars, the addition of fibres ranging in length from 10mm to 15mm at concentrations of up to 0.75% has been shown to improve compressive strength. (Zakaria et al. 2015; Zakaria et al. 2017)



When it comes to natural fibre reinforced concrete (NFRC), the impact of fibres on the compressive strength is not well established. While some studies suggest that the inclusion of fibres up to 50mm in length can enhance all mechanical properties, others suggest that compressive strength may decrease while flexural tensile strength and energy absorption improve. (de Gutiérrez et al. 2005; Kim et al. 2012; Sawsen et al. 2015; Page et al. 2017; Page et al. 2019; Ghaffar et al. 2020)

The evaluation of compressive strength is commonly performed using standardized tests, such as 'Testing hardened concrete, Part 3: Compressive strength of test specimens.' This standard outlines the dimensions of cubic and cylindrical specimens based on the maximum aggregate size utilized in the mixture. The procedure defines three types of acceptable failures for cube specimens, as illustrated in Figure 2.25. (National Standards Authority of Ireland 2019c)



Figure 2.25 – Types of failure satisfactory for cube specimens. (National Standards Authority of Ireland 2019c)

The optimal failure modes for cube specimens are characterized by uniform cracking across all lateral faces and minimal or no damage to the two faces situated between the loading plates.



The standard also provides examples of unsatisfactory failures that may occur in cubic specimens, as illustrated in (Figure 2.26). In the case of an unsatisfactory failure, the cracks occur non-uniformly, and a tensile crack (T) may appear on isolated faces, indicating that the load distribution over the specimen was non-uniform. The determination of the type of failure must be carefully conducted, and results obtained only from specimens with satisfactory failures should be considered. (National Standards Authority of Ireland 2019c)



Figure 2.26 – Unsatisfactory failure types, where T means a tensile crack. (National Standards Authority of Ireland 2019c)



2.5.6 Flexural tensile strength (at failure and residual)

As previously discussed, the flexural tensile strength of plain concrete mixtures is typically low, and as a result, natural movements that occur during the lifetime of a structure can lead to the opening of cracks, including during the early age curing period. (Benaimeche et al. 2020)

Section 7.3 of the Eurocode 2 and the CIRIA C766 provide essential guidance on the control of crack openings in concrete structures. According to these guidelines, crack openings are expected to occur, especially during the early stages of concrete curing, as the heat generated by cement hydration reactions and the subsequent shrinkage of concrete can induce plastic shrinkage. Therefore, it is crucial to maintain the structure's saturation in water throughout the cement curing process to prevent or minimize the occurrence of cracks. (British Standards Institution 2004; Bamforth 2018)

Subsequently, when the structure is exposed to tensile, shear, bending, or torsion stresses resulting from direct load or due to restraints and other deformations, crack-opening is likely to occur during its lifespan. Although cracks with widths smaller than the estimated value might not pose a significant problem, their long-term existence can potentially affect the overall performance of the structure due to external factors.

As detailed in the upcoming chapter, the assessment of the flexural tensile strength (at failure and residual), fracture energy, and elastic modulus of FRC can be carried out following the standard 'Test Methods for Fibres in Concrete - Part 2: Effect on



Concrete.' This standard recommends applying the procedure outlined in "Test Method for Metallic Fibre Concrete - Measuring the Flexural Tensile Strength (Limit of Proportionality (LOP), Residual)" not only for mixtures reinforced with metallic fibres but also for other types of fibres. (National Standards Authority of Ireland 2007; NF EN 14651 2012)

The test is performed on beams specimens cast with $150 \times 150 \times 550$ m, notched in the centre as shown in Figure 2.27.



Figure 2.27 - Beam arrangement according to EN 14651 (NF EN 14651 2012),

The standard guides the measurement of the stress in relation to the deflection (δ) or the crack mouth opening displacement (CMOD), establishing the relationship between CMOD and deflection as presented in Table 2.9. With this correlation, it is possible to compare diagrams with both defection and CMOD values.



j	CMOD (mm)	δ(mm)
1	0.05	0.08
2	0.1	0.13
3	0.2	0.21
4	0.5	0.47
5	1.05	1.32
6	2.5	2.17
7	3.5	3.02
8	4.0	3.44

Table 2.9 – Correlation between CMOD and deflection (NF EN 14651 2012).

From this, it is possible to measure the load capacity of the structure in different parts of the diagram obtained from the test as represented in Figure 2.28. Although the standard uses CMOD on the set-up parameters for the experiment, it allows a conversion to deflection depending on the equipment used.



Figure 2.28 – Example of Load-CMOD diagrams (NF EN 14651 2012).

A study conducted on the crack control of canal-lining structures using FRC. The authors aimed to explore sustainable and environmentally friendly options for canal-



lining structures. They evaluated the performance of jute fibre reinforced concrete (JFRC) in comparison with plain concrete (PC) and nylon fibre reinforced concrete (NFRC) and polypropylene fibre reinforced concrete by 5%. The authors examined the differences in their linear shrinkage, water absorption, and flexural strength. (Zia and Ali 2017)

According to the study, polypropylene fibre reinforced concrete (PPFRC) showed superior flexural load and increased deflection at rupture when compared to JFRC and NFRC, as shown in Figure 2.29. However, the residual tensile strength was found to be the same for all FRC after the deflection reached 1.7mm.

From this and other studies, it is possible to understand that although the fibres might not affect the peak flexural load, they have the potential to offer some post-crack strength in a residual analysis (Shi et al. 2020; Ikumi et al. 2021).



Figure 2.29 – Load deflection curves from flexure strength tests (Zia and Ali 2017)



2.5.7 Fracture energy (Gf) and elastic modulus (E)

After performing the tensile strength, it is possible to also obtain the fracture energy and the elastic modulus of concrete. The fracture energy (Gf) is the property used to measure the amount of energy required for the fracture of a material. To better understand how these properties are calculated, the measurements adopted on each equation are detailed in Figure 2.30 and the fracture energy (Gf) can be calculated through Equation 2.5 and the elastic modulus (E) through Equation 2.7.



Figure 2.30 – Details of notched beam specimen.

$$G_f = \frac{W_0 + mg\delta}{A}$$
 Equation 2.5

Where W_0 is the area below the curve on the Load [N] x Diffraction [m] diagram, m is the mass of the specimen (kg), g is the gravity acceleration [m/s²], δ represents the deflection at the final failure of the specimen [m] and A the area [m²] calculated by Equation 2.6.

$$A = b(d - a_0)$$
 Equation 2.6

TUS 🚺

The elastic modulus, or Young's modulus, represents the stiffness of a materials, higher values indicate more brittleness while lower values represent ductile materials.

$$E = \frac{6Sa_0V_1(\alpha)}{Cib(d^2)}$$
 Equation 2.7

Where V_1 and α can be obtained from Equation 2.8 and Equation 2.9

$$V_1(\alpha) = 0.76 - 2.38\alpha + 3.87\alpha^2 - 2.04\alpha^3 + \frac{0.66}{(1-\alpha)^2}$$
 Equation 2.8

$$\alpha = \frac{a_0}{d}$$
 Equation 2.9

2.5.8 Impact of the fibre length on the FRC behaviour

Fibre length is not an inherent characteristic of natural fibres, as it can be modified to meet user specifications by adjusting the fibre length from the original plan size. For this reason, it was not included in the section on the properties of natural fibres. Nevertheless, fibre length can significantly impact the mechanical properties of concrete.

Regarding industrialised fibres, a broad range of lengths is currently available in the market. Although the relationship between fibre length and concrete reinforcement is not fully understood, a significant number of studies have suggested that short fibres (up to 25mm) may have a greater positive effect on compressive strength compared to long fibres (25mm to 60mm). Short fibres can either slightly improve or have a lesser negative effect on compressive strength, in contrast to a plain mixture or longer fibres.



Furthermore, research has shown that longer fibres may enhance tensile strength and elastic modulus. Longer fibres can also provide additional structural strength, thereby reducing crack opening due to early age plastic shrinkage. Moreover, longer fibres may offer residual tensile strength after failure and increased fracture energy. (Singh 2009; Caggiano et al. 2012; Yoo et al. 2016; Mastali et al. 2018a; Islam et al. 2022; MD and Unnikrishnan 2022)

Another property that can be influenced by fibre length is workability. Studies have suggested that shorter synthetic fibres may increase concrete slump. However, longer steel fibres tend to exhibit the same behaviour. (Caggiano et al. 2012; Han et al. 2019; Al-Baghdadi et al. 2021)

Therefore, the ideal length of fibres varies depending on the type of fibre, mix design and applicability for the concrete mixture and for additional residual tensile and fracture energy longer fibres are recommended.

2.5.9 Other properties

Other properties that can also be relevant to be evaluated are sound insulation and abrasion, however, they will not be included in the experimental part of this research due to the insufficient availability of apparatus.

Similar to heat insulation, sound insulation is a property that affects users of a building during the lifetime of the structure. Studies have assessed the sound absorption coefficient reproducing the procedure from the standard "Acoustics — Determination of sound absorption coefficient and impedance in impedance tubes — Part 2: Transfer-function method", the study indicates that the sound insulation



presents a direct correlation with the density, as composites with lower densities have increased presence of air voids, which corroborates to what was already in the density section of this chapter. (ISO 10534-2 1998; Mastali et al. 2018b)

Whilst Fibre-Reinforced Concrete (FRC) may exhibit lower compressive strength than plain concrete, it can also demonstrate a reduced susceptibility to abrasion and impact damage on its surface. This response is expected since the inclusion of fibres in the concrete decreases its elastic modulus. (Siddique et al. 2012; Gupta and Kumar 2019; Alaskar et al. 2021)

The authors conducted a test to measure the roughness of the surface of various Fibre-Reinforced Concrete (FRC) mixes containing up to 1.25% polypropylene fibres under both dry and wet conditions. As depicted in Figure 2.31, the authors observed that the greater the quantity of fibres, the rougher the surface became, indicating that the inclusion of fibres enhanced the skid resistance of the concrete surface. (Alaskar et al. 2021)

The improved abrasion, roughness and reduced impact damage can be particularly interesting if the concrete will be used for pavement and floor applications. (Castoldi et al. 2019)



Literature Review



Figure 2.31 – Correlation between roughness and fibre content. (Alaskar et al. 2021)

The presence of both fibres in any dosage provided ductility to concrete, resulting in a deflection-softening behaviour. Similar flexural performances under monotonic and cyclic loads were presented for the composites tested, where the increase of fibres volume ratio led to a gain in concrete toughness. They evaluated how sisal fibres compare to polypropylene fibres and, as an outcome, observed that the level of residual strength provided by sisal fibres could the same as polypropylene fibres under equivalent dosages. However, it was also observed that sisal fibres reduced the flexural tensile strength of FRC, and the authors attribute this, to the fact that sisal fibres absorb higher amounts of water.

However, given the environmental drawbacks associated with commonly employed fibres, research has focused on identifying natural fibre sources as potential alternatives to conventional materials. (Castoldi et al. 2019; Shi et al. 2020)

2.6 Final Considerations

Although the topic has been studied for a few decades, there is still the need to develop a novel treatment to turn vegetable fibres into a suitable and safe alternative to replace fibres currently produced from non-renewable materials.

Studies using NaOH solution as surface treatment showed positive results in removing soluble and waxy compounds from the fibres wall that could reduce the fibre-matrix adhesion and the durability of the fibres on a composite. However, recently, research developing treatments using less hazardous chemicals for the environment and the human health started to increase.



To conclude this literature review, with a better understanding of the state-of-the-art of research related to vegetable fibres reinforced concrete, it was possible to plan the experimental part of this study, as detailed in the next chapter, aiming to contribute with the current gap on the literature of studies including the characterization of flax fibres previously and post surface treatments in comparison with hemp and synthetic fibres.

Chapter Three

Experimental Details



Chapter 3: Experimental Details

To answer the research questions of this study, a schematic the flow of the strategy followed is presented in Figure 3.1 summarizing the methodology detailed in this chapter.



Figure 3.1 - Schematic chart of results and discussion.

Although vegetable fibres are natural and extracted from unlimited sources, they still require further research to become safely adopted for concrete reinforcement, as studied in the last chapter. Different from fibres produced through industrial processes, the variability of their properties and their short lifespan in an alkaline



environment are currently the biggest impasses highlighted by past studies on the topic.

One of the approaches currently being pursued by researchers is the surface treatment of vegetable fibres to eliminate or coat compounds that are soluble or that could affect the adhesion between the fibres and the matrix (such as lignin, hemicellulose, and waxes). Given the need to reduce the negative impact of the building industry on the environment, this research aims to compare the effects of various chemical treatments and their hazards on the properties of fibres.

As a broad topic, this research has been divided into different stages, which are detailed in this chapter. First, a preliminary analysis was conducted on the properties of flax and hemp fibres. Then, different surface treatments were performed on the fibres, and their impact on the mechanical properties was evaluated. Thirdly, an assessment was made of the effects of an alkaline environment on the mechanical properties of the fibres.

After selecting the most suitable surface treatment for this study, a first batch of FRC was prepared and analysed using untreated flax and hemp, steel, polypropylene, and basalt fibres. Based on the results obtained the preliminary mix was optimized, aiming to achieve a mix suitable for flooring applications, precast panels, or 3D printers, as well as the percentage of flax fibres added to assess the suitability of the studied vegetable fibres for the reinforcement of concrete. In the next sections of this chapter, the experimental detail of this research will be explained complementing the experiments already seen in the literature review of this work.



3.1 Preliminary analysis of the mechanical properties of flax and hemp fibres

This section outlines the methodology employed to characterize the mechanical properties of flax and hemp fibres. Flax and hemp fibres have recently garnered significant attention as potential substitutes for conventional synthetic fibres in several industries such as textiles, composites, and construction. Hence, comprehending their mechanical properties is critical for the development of novel applications and reliable products.

Flax fibres were acquired in retted straw while hemp, as natural rope as showed in Figure 3.2. Both fibres were manually extracted and had their properties tested.



(a)Flax



(b)Hemp

Figure 3.2 – Flax and hemp fibres as purchased.

3.1.1 Density of fibres

The initial examination carried out involved the determination of the densities of the fibres. Prior to the test, a specimen of each type of fibre was dried in an oven at 105°C for 24 hours to remove any surface moisture content, as depicted in Figure 3.3a. The digital density balance rolbatch model RBDT-01, illustrated in Figure 3.3b, was used



to measure the density of each sample. The readings were conducted five times for each type of fibre under investigation, and the obtained values were recorded. The mean value was adopted, and the outcomes are presented in the subsequent chapter. Benchmark samples of basalt and steel fibres were also evaluated.





Figure 3.3 – (a) Sample of natural fibres after drying (b) Digital density balance.

3.1.2 Tensile strength of singular fibres

This procedure This study outlines the methods employed to determine the tensile strength properties of vegetable fibres, including the maximum force (Fmax), force at break (Fbreak), elongation at maximum force (dL at Fmax), elongation at break (dL at break), and diameter. The "Standard Test Method for Tensile Strength and Young's Modulus of Fibre" was followed during the procedure, which is designed for testing individual fibres and can be utilized for fibres with diameters exceeding 250x10⁻⁶ m. The mechanical properties were determined through the analysis of load vs. extension values and measured diameters, employing the algorithm outlined in Appendix A. (ASTM International 2020)



3.1.2.1 Fibres extraction and preparation

Prior to testing, the vegetable fibres were extracted and prepared in singular form, as per the standard procedure. Flax fibres were manually extracted from the straw, while hemp fibres were separated and both were manually separated into singular fibres, as per the recommended method.

Since there was no clear indication in the literature regarding the ideal measurement of vegetable fibres, a length of 40 ± 5 mm was selected, based on common commercial lengths for long, non-natural fibres that are utilized to reinforce concrete mixtures for crack reduction, elastic modulus enhancement and residual tensile strength. Due to manual chopping of the fibres, a standard deviation of 5mm was observed in the sample analysis after preparation.



Figure 3.4 Samples of (a) flax and (b) hemp fibres after extraction.

3.1.2.2 Tensile Strength and Young's Modulus of Fibre

A sample of 40 specimens was produced for both flax and hemp fibres. Tabs designed for the test were created as depicted in Figure 3.5a, printed on sulphite paper, and singular fibres were attached to leave the required length between the two fixed points



using superglue. The central circle was manually cut, and each specimen was labelled with its corresponding number and fibre type.

The tensile strength test was conducted using the Zwick/Roell Z010 equipment with grips, as shown in Figure 3.5b. The software was set to reflect the cross-sectional shape of the specimen as yarn, a pre-load of 0.1N, a pre-load speed of 50mm/min, and a test speed of 0.6mm/min with position control. The force shutdown threshold was set at 80% of Fmax. Each specimen of basalt, hemp, flax, and jute fibres was placed, and the paper was cut in the horizontal centreline of the tab, leaving only the singular fibre between the grips, as per the recommended standard. Any faulty specimens during test were not included in the study. Following the standard, after rupture, the diameter (d) of each fibre was measured. (ASTM International 2020)



Figure 3.5 - (a) Specimen tab and (b) Equipment used.

3.1.2.3 Diameter

Following the ASTM C1557 guidelines (2014), each specimen of singular fibres had its diameter measured in at least two areas close to the fracture section using digital microscopy, as shown in Figure 3.6a and b. After individual measurements were



recorded, the mean value was calculated to determine the cross-section using Equation 2.1. It should be noted that although the cross-sections of natural fibres are not perfectly circular, as is commonly assumed in the research community, circular cross-sections were considered for the purposes of calculation. The standard followed advises to take multiple measurements close to the fracture area to reduce the error in the results obtained.



Figure 3.6 – Digital microscopy.

3.1.3 Summary

Based on the literature review, flax fibres were identified as the most promising vegetable fibres among the available options. As a novel addition to the existing research, hemp fibres were also included in the study as a comparative parameter. This allowed for a comparison of results between the two types of fibres. After this, the study moved on to the next section, which focused on analysing the effects of chemical surface treatment on the vegetable fibres.



3.2 Surface treatment of flax and hemp fibres

From a list of surface treatments suggested by researchers for vegetable fibres, different types of solutes and solvents were selected to gain a broad view of their effects. Among all the options mentioned, the following solutions were chosen: an acid saline (EDTA), an acid oxide (KMnO4), a fatty acid (Stearic Acid), and an alkali solution (NaOH) in different concentrations. Each solution was produced as presented in Table 3.1. To avoid damage to the internal layers of the fibre structure as pointed out in the literature, the samples of hemp and flax fibres were treated for 4 hours, 6 hours, 10 hours, 15 hours, and 24 hours. (Sood and Dwivedi 2018; Nayak et al. 2021)

Table 3.1 – Treatment solutions suggested by M. Sood and G. Dwivedi (2018).

Treatment/Solute	Solvent	Concentration
Alkali (NaOH)	Water	5%, 10%, 15%
Potassium Permanganate (KMnO4)	Acetone	0.05%
Stearic Acid (C18H36O2)	Ethanol	1.0%
EDTA (C10H16N2O8)	Water	5g/L

After preparing all the solutions, individual samples of the fibres were fully submerged into separate beakers (as shown in Figure 3.7a and Figure 3.7b). Once the specified time for each treatment was reached, the solutions were neutralized, washed (as shown in Figure 3.7c) and left to dry in an oven at 60°C (as shown in Figure 3.7d) for 24 hours. After drying, the fibres were separated, and new samples were made, containing 20 specimens of single fibres of 40mm length. These samples had their tensile strength and elastic modulus evaluated following the same procedure described in the previous item, based on the relevant standard. (ASTM International 2020)









(c) Fibres neutralized and ready to dry



(b) Fibres under surface treatments



(d) Fibres in the oven

Figure 3.7- Surface treatments conducted on the fibres

The results were analysed with a focus on treatments that could decrease the elastic modulus while increasing the tensile strength, as well as considering the associated chemical hazards. As discussed in the literature review, stearic acid, a natural fatty acid, was chosen for not having chemical hazards, while EDTA was selected for being less hazardous. NaOH and KMnO₄ were also included, as they are commonly studied by other researchers and allow for comparative analysis.

Based on the outcomes of all the treatments, the most effective surface treatments for the fibres to be used as concrete reinforcement were selected.

3.2.1 Chemical composition of the vegetable fibres

Spectroscopy analysis is a common method for identifying the chemical composition of materials, and there are several methods available. According to researchers, X-Ray



diffraction is one such test that can be used for vegetable fibres, as it measures the chemical bonds and functional groups present in the fibres. (Jones et al. 2017)

Initially, this experiment was carried out by an external laboratory. However, contrary to expectations, the X-Ray diffraction was inconclusive in characterising the chemical composition of the fibres. The position and size of each peak of the graphs could not be used to classify any chemical property, and therefore, X-Ray diffraction was not a suitable experiment for this purpose.

Alternatively, FTIR was successfully performed as outlined in the literature review. The test was carried out to evaluate the chemical composition of the fibres in their original form and to estimate the effects of each treatment on their composition. The FTIR test was conducted using a PerkinElmer Spectrum One FTIR Spectrometer, as shown in Figure 3.8. The obtained spectra were analysed according to Table 2.6 to evaluate the presence of different compounds based on the changes in the peaks in the obtained spectra. Results are also presented and discussed in the following chapter.




Figure 3.8- FTIR Spectrometer

3.2.2 Summary

he experiments carried out in this section led to the selection of an innovative and optimised treatment for flax fibres using stearic acid, which improved the mechanical properties of the fibres and provided sustainability benefits. As hemp fibres were used for comparative purposes based on analyses conducted by other researchers, NaOH was chosen as the treatment.

After this analysis and before evaluating the effects of surface treatments on flax and hemp fibres in an FRC matrix, their degradation in an alkaline solution was evaluated.

3.3 Fibres behaviour under alkaline pH

In order to gain a better understanding of the behaviour of treated fibres within a concrete mixture, an experiment was conducted to evaluate the effects of an alkali environment on their tensile strength and elastic modulus. As no specific standard procedure for this test was found, the methodology described by the 'Standard Test



Method for Stability of Cellulose Fibers in Alkaline Environments' was adapted. Since the focus was on whole fibres rather than their pulp, 10g of whole fibres were used, to which 23.3g of 1N NaOH was added to obtain a consistency of 30%, totalling 33.3g.(ASTM International 2019)

A 1N NaOH solution is a water-based solution of sodium hydroxide with a concentration of 1 mole per litre, making it highly alkaline with a pH of 14. This solution is frequently employed in various industries to neutralise acidic solutions, clean equipment, and regulate the pH of solutions. The standard procedure stipulates the use of this concentration.

As the pH of concrete typically ranges from 12.5 to 13.8, this method was considered potentially applicable to assess the impact of alkaline pH on the properties of the fibres.

Samples containing untreated and treated flax and hemp fibres were prepared to enable a comparison of results between both forms. The samples were subjected to an alkaline environment for 3, 7, 14, 21, and 28 days to test their tensile strength. SEM images were produced to evaluate the physical appearance of the fibres after 28 days in the alkaline environment.

Fibres were submitted to the same procedure described in 3.1.2 to evaluate the impact on their tensile strength and elastic modulus.



3.3.1 SEM images

To be able to compare the aspects of flax and hemp fibres in the natural and degraded forms as well as the effects of the surface treatment on them, SEM images were made and are presented in the next chapter.

3.3.2 Summary

The adaptation of the methodology described in this section provided insight into the behaviours of both treated and untreated flax and hemp fibres in an alkaline environment, such as concrete. These results can be used to estimate changes in fibre properties over time in fibre reinforced concrete.

3.4 Fibre-reinforced concrete

3.4.1 Preliminary mix design of the fibre reinforced concrete mixture

The concrete mixture was designed following the ACI method with a slump range of 10-30mm, C30 at 7 days with 5% defective specimens. Following the standard method for a new mixture, a standard deviation of 8 was included, increasing the target mean strength to 43.12 N/mm2. Cement type II, 42 MPa at 28 days, fine aggregate grading of 52% uncrushed, and relative density of 2.6g/cm3 for crushed coarse aggregate were used.

It is well-established in the research community that adding long fibres in quantities greater than 1% per volume to a concrete mix reduces its mechanical properties. (Yoo et al. 2016; Al-Baghdadi et al. 2021; MD and Unnikrishnan 2022)



Therefore, mixtures containing 1.0% and 0.5% of volume of fibres were used in this stage. To equalize the proportion between steel fibres and the other types of fibres, the percentage of steel fibres was reduced by 10, following the ratio presented by Jamshaid and Mishra (2016). The mix design is detailed in Table 3.2. High hygroscopicity was observed in the mixture containing 0.5% of flax fibres due to an insufficient amount of cement paste to uniformly coat all fibres and aggregates. Therefore, a mixture containing 1.0% of flax fibres was not produced.

Material	Quantities in kg per m ³
Cement	385
Water	170
Fine aggregate	585
Coarse aggregate (10mm)	415
Coarse aggregate (25mm)	830
Basalt 0.5%	13
Basalt 1.0%	26
Flax 0.5%	5.57
Hemp 0.5%	5.55
Hemp 1.0%	11.09
Polypropylene 0.5%	4.73
Polypropylene 1.0%	9.46
Steel 0.05%	3.95
Steel 0.1%	7.9
Steel 0.15%	11.85

Table 3.2 – Concrete mix designed for preliminary analysis.



All mixtures were prepared using an electric concrete mixer, and their workability was measured immediately after preparation.

3.4.2 Concrete workability

The slump test was carried out in accordance with the EN 12350-2 standard procedure for consistency measurement, and the results were recorded as shown in Figure 3.9. The test was performed by moistening the slump cone and base plate, and then removing any excess water with a damp cloth. Next, the apparatus was placed on a horizontal surface, and the concrete was poured in three layers, compacted with 25 strokes using a compacting rod to ensure uniform distribution over the surface. Once complete and levelled, the cone was lifted within 2 to 5 seconds and immediately turned upside down to measure the slump. The slump value was recorded for each mix and followed by specimen moulding. (National Standards Authority of Ireland 2019a)



Figure 3.9 – Slump measurement.



As will be discussed in the next chapter, the addition of vegetable fibres caused the slump to decrease to zero, and therefore, it was decided to incorporate plasticizer into the optimized mixture design produced in the final part of this experimental study.

3.4.3 Specimens moulding and curing

For this preliminary analysis, only compressive and flexural tensile strength tests were conducted. As the nominal maximum size of the aggregate was 25mm, three cubes measuring 150x150x150x150mm and three beams measuring 150x150x550mm were cast, following the relevant standard procedures. (European Committee for Standardization 2005; National Standards Authority of Ireland 2012; National Standards Authority of Ireland 2019b)

After 24 hours, the specimens were unmoulded and cured in a water tank at a temperature of 21°C with a variability of \pm 1°C. One day prior to testing, notches were made at the centre of the beams, as previously shown in Figure 2.27.



Figure 3.10 Concrete curing tank set at $(21 \pm 1)^{\circ}$ C.



3.4.4 Relative density

Each cube had its sides measured using a Vernier calliper, and its relative density was obtained using a specific gravity balance (Figure 3.11) prior to the compressive strength test. Following the equipment manual, the test was initiated by zeroing the scale with the hanging basket, inserting the specimen onto it, and measuring its dry weight. Subsequently, the container with water was carefully lifted until the water level completely covered the concrete cube, and the wet weight was recorded. The specific gravity was then determined and recorded as the density value.



Figure 3.11 – Specific gravity scale.

3.4.5 Compressive strength

After evaluation of the specific gravity, each cube was tested for compressive strength at 7 days following the parameters given by the British Standard EN 12390-3:2009.



The ELE International ADR 2000kN BS/EN Compression machine was used (Figure 3.12).



Figure 3.12 Equipment used to determine the compressive strength of specimens..

Following the concrete failure, broken fragments of the cube were manually extracted, and a post-cracking analysis was performed to assess whether the failure was satisfactory, according to Figure 2.25. The analysis involved verifying that the centre of the cubes had maintained its strength and that there was good adhesion between the cement paste and the aggregates.

3.4.6 Three-point bending test

As previously mentioned, a 3-point-bending test was carried out on each sample following NF EN 14651:2005. After 5 days of being cured, each beam had a 2.5cm notch swan and at the age of 7 days according to the sketch previously presented in Figure 2.30, the tests were led using a tensile strength machine INSTRON Model 300DX K8043, as pictured in Figure 3.13.





Figure 3.13 – Three-point-bending test.

From the 3-point bending test, it was possible to calculate the flexural tensile strength at peak load, the residual flexural tensile strength, fracture energy and elastic modulus.

3.4.6.1 Flexural tensile strength $(F_{R,j})$, (F_n) [MPa]

Following EN14651, the limit of proportionality (LOP) was calculated from Equation 3.1. For the peak strength (F_n), F_L is the value of the peak load [N] and for the residual strength at net deflections, F_j is the corresponding load [N] at specific deflection $\delta_j(N)$ points are used to calculate the residual flexural tensile strength ($F_{R,j}$) following Equation 3.2.

$$F_n = LOP = \frac{3F_LS}{2b(d - a_0)^2}$$
 Equation 3.1

$$F_{R,j} = \frac{3F_jS}{2b(d-a_0)^2}$$
 Equation 3.2



Where S is the span, b is the with and measurements from Figure 2.31. For the peak strength (Fn), FL is the value of the peak load [N], and for the residual strength (FR,j) at net deflections, Fj is the corresponding load [N] at specific j deflection points.

Values of FL and Fj were extracted from the load vs deflection points obtained from the 3-point bending tests, where a0, b, and d were measured using a Vernier calliper for each specimen. The flexural strength at the peak load and the residual strength were calculated for net deflections j, from Table 2.9.

The residual strength was calculated in accordance with NF EN 14651, and the load vs deflection diagrams were used, instead of CMOD, as per the parameters established in the standard and the procedure detailed in the literature review.

3.4.6.2 Fracture energy and elastic modulus

As detailed in the last chapter, fracture energy is the property used to measure the amount of energy required for the fracture of a material. Mathematically it is obtained from the area below the curve of the load-deflection diagram and can be calculated by Equation 2.5.

The elastic modulus is the capacity of a material to modify its shape in a nonpermanent form obtained through Equation 2.7. Both parameters were calculated using an algorithm developed in MATLAB presented in Appendix B and C and the results are presented in the next chapter.



After conducting the preliminary mix design test, several areas for improvement were identified. Firstly, the characteristic strength of C32 at 7 days was found to be higher than required for any of the intended applications. As such, it was deemed more appropriate to use a C32 mix at 28 days. Secondly, the initial slump of 10-30mm was deemed insufficient to provide adequate workability for the fibre reinforced concrete. To address this, it was decided to increase the slump to 30-60mm and incorporate a plasticizer additive. As noted in the literature review, reducing the maximum aggregate size can also improve the workability of concrete mixtures. Furthermore, it was discovered that using a maximum aggregate size of 25mm would limit the thickness of the produced structures, rendering them unsuitable for certain applications. To address this, a new mix was developed, limiting the coarse aggregate size to 10mm.

As the amount of flax fibres proved to higher than the ideal for the proposed purpose, the percentage of flax fibres should also be reduced during the optimization. Additionally, it was found that it was not possible to compare the results of steel fibre reinforced mixes to those of other fibres due to their differing effects on the concrete. Consequently, steel fibres were excluded from the optimized concrete mixture designed, as detailed in the following chapter.

3.4.7 Optimized FRC mix design

The mixture studied in this research represents an improvement on the previously adopted mixture, and its composition is detailed in Table 3.2. The primary goals of the optimization were to enhance workability by increasing the water/cement (w/c) ratio,



reducing the maximum aggregate size, and optimizing the percentage of flax fibres to be included. The optimization was accomplished using the ACI method, and the target mean compressive strength remained at 32N/mm² at 28 days, with a maximum coarse aggregate size of 10mm. By selecting a smaller size for the coarse aggregate, the mixture could have different applications based on its behaviour, including the production of masonry blocks, thinner precast structures, and 3D printed structures. Quantities are presented in Table 3.3 and the water/cement ratio was decreased from 0.8 to 0.5 to avoid shrinkage and cracking, as noted by other researchers. (Piasta and Zarzycki 2017)

Material	Quantities in kg per m ³
Cement	460
Water	230
Fine aggregate	760
Coarse aggregate (10mm)	930
Coarse aggregate (25mm)	-
Basalt 0.5%	13
Flax 0.5%	5.57
Flax 0.35%	3.89
Flax 0.25%	2.785
Hemp 0.5%	5.55
Polypropylene 0.5%	4.73
Polypropylene 0.25%	2.37

Table 3.3 – Concrete mix designed for preliminary analysis.



The slump of the designed mixture was increased to 30-60mm to account for the expected moisture absorption by the fibres, and plasticizer additive was added following the manufacturer's instructions. After discovering that the optimized mixture was still overdosed with 0.5% flax fibres, the percentage was reduced until the compressive strength values were comparable to control mixtures without fibres, with a focus on obtaining a homogeneous, workable, and mouldable mixture with less impact on compressive strength. (Netinger Grubeša et al. 2018)

Trial samples were made with 0.5%, 0.35%, and 0.25% flax fibre content, and the mix with 0.25% presented a satisfactory slump. This mix was repeated to verify its compressive strength at 7 and 28 days. Mixes containing polypropylene and basalt fibres were included as benchmarks, but the analysis of the flexural tensile strength of the polypropylene fibre reinforced concrete could not be evaluated due to the unavailability of the same fibres from the provider and, only results from the preliminary study were considered in the analysis.

3.4.8 Mechanical properties of FRC

The mechanical properties of the optimized FRC mixtures were tested using the same procedure as described earlier in this chapter. However, since the maximum aggregate size was reduced, cubes measuring 10x10x10cm were used, following the I.S. EN 12390-2. The samples were tested at 7 and 28 days to enable a comparison with the previous mixes tested and to evaluate the efficiency of the optimized mix. The results will be presented and discussed in the next chapter.



3.4.9 Depth of penetration of water under pressure

To measure water penetration depth, 3 cubes measuring 150x150x150x150mm were moulded and cured for 28 days according to the relevant standard procedure, the depth of penetration of water under pressure was tested after 28 days, following the standard I. S. E. 12390-8:2009 - Testing hardened concrete - Part 8: Depth of penetration of water under pressure. For the experiment, as shown in Figure 3.14 water pressurised in 500 ± 5 kPa for 72 ± 2 hours is applied by the equipment in the bottom of the cube. Where (1) refers to the packing piece, (2) to the sealing ring, (3) and (6) screwed on plates, (4) screw-threaded rod, and (5) water under pressure. (National Standards Authority of Ireland 2019b; National Standards Authority of Ireland 2019d)



Figure 3.14 – Test arrangement according to EN 12390-8: 2019. (National Standards Authority of Ireland 2019d)

After 72 hours, the cubes removed from the equipment (Figure 3.15) and were split in two, using a compressive one-point load applied on the centre of each cube as shown on the sketch from Figure 3.16a. After having them divided, the water penetration depth (p) was measured using a vernier calliper Figure 3.16b and c.





Figure 3.15 – Test apparatus.



Figure 3.16 – (a)Load distribution model used to split the cubes, (b) and (c)Highest line of water penetration

3.4.10 Thermal conductivity

In order to evaluate and compare the effect of fibre reinforcement on heat transfer, slabs measuring 50x300x300mm were analysed for each mixture. The ISO 8301 (1991) and the "Thermal Conductivity of Building Materials" manual were used to guide the procedure. The steady box method was employed to test each slab for a minimum of 3 hours. The equipment recorded readings every minute, and the thermal



resistance was determined based on the reference standard. (The International Standards Organisation 1991; P.A. Hilton Ltd 2008)

The equipment used for the steady box method as presented in Figure 3.17. The box consists of a hot plate on top and a cold plate on the bottom, whose temperatures are regulated by an electric heater and water, respectively. The thermal conductivity of each specimen, which represents the heat transfer between its surfaces, was measured by placing it between the plates and increasing the temperature on one side. The temperature difference was then recorded every minute by the equipment on the opposite plate. Using the thickness (l_s) [m] of each specimen, the thermal conductivity (λ) [W/m² K] was calculated using Equation 3.3. (Bala and Gupta 2021)



Figure 3.17 – Equipment used to measure thermal conductivity.

$$\lambda = fe \frac{l_s}{\Delta T}$$
 Equation 3.3

Where f was the equipment calibration factor and e the heat flow meter output $[mV/m^2]$. Results are presented in the next chapter.



3.4.11 SEM Images

To visually analyse the changes on the adhesion between the fibre-concrete matrix, SEM images were produced on concrete samples at 28 days and after over 90 days. Images and discussion are provided in the next chapter.

3.4.12 Summary

An experimental study was conducted to assess the water penetration, thermal conductivity, and mechanical properties of an innovative flax fibre reinforced concrete treated with stearic acid solution. The optimized mix was designed from a range of concrete mixtures and compared to hemp fibres treated with NaOH, which are commonly found in the literature. Results were also compared to those of basalt and polypropylene fibres, thereby completing the experimental study.

3.4.13 Final Considerations

Considering the unsatisfactory performance of the first designed concrete mixture with vegetable fibre reinforcement, an optimization was carried out to increase workability and reduce the maximum nominal size of the coarse aggregate. This modification offers an additional advantage of enabling the use of the concrete in various applications, such as 3D printing or casting into thinner products such as blocks, panels, and levelling layers for flooring.

The mechanical properties of both plain mixtures achieved similar compressive strength, as discussed in the next chapter, while the vegetable fibre reinforced concrete demonstrated improved workability as intended. The evaluation of thermal



conductivity and water absorption facilitated a comprehensive analysis of mixture properties for building applications. Unfortunately, measuring sound insulation and abrasion of samples was not feasible. However, as demonstrated in the previous chapter, sound and heat insulation are proportionate properties of materials. Hence, with increased thermal insulation, the acoustic properties are also expected to be enhanced.

The following chapter presents and discusses the results obtained from the tests outlined herein.

Chapter Four

Results and

Discussion



Chapter 4: Results and Discussion

Vegetable fibres have been widely studied to be used as an ecological replacement for non-natural fibres on composites reinforcement. Their applications englobe, among many, the automotive, polymer and construction industries and can be classified according to their source of extraction, usually, as animal, mineral and vegetable. (Amir et al. 2017; Degrave-Lemeurs et al. 2018; Barth and Carus 2019)

The advantages of vegetable fibres over others include abundant sources of raw materials and reduction of CO_2 emissions, low density, good mechanical, and physical properties to low cost of production and higher biodegradability. (Zah et al. 2007; Huang and Young 2019)

On the other hand, their biodegradability can also be considered an issue when it comes to the application of vegetable fibres in composites produced to offer longer lifespan such as concrete. (Saha et al. 2012; Manna et al. 2013)

As discussed in the Literature Review, flax fibres were selected for this study based on their superior mechanical properties evaluated by past research and the lack of studies on their use in concrete reinforcement. For comparison, hemp fibres were also included as they have been extensively studied for similar applications and potentially offer higher values of tensile strength, compared to other fibres studied for composite reinforcement. As benchmarks, basalt, polypropylene and steel fibres were also studied.



As seen, the main issues reported by other authors in relation to the use of vegetable fibres are the variability on their properties and the degradation of their mechanical properties when under an alkaline ph.

Aiming the production of a novel fibre reinforced concrete using flax fibres and a contribution to the scientific community to overcome the listed challenges, the results obtained in experiments described in the previous chapter are now presented and discussed.

4.1 Preliminary analysis of the properties of flax and hemp fibres

For a comparative analysis, Table 4.1 summarises values previously presented in Table 2.2, Table 2.3 and Table 2.4.

Type of fibre	Density g/cm ³	Diameter (µm)	Tensile Strength (N/mm²)	Young`s Modulus (GPa)	Elongation at Break %
Basalt	2.6	7-15	4150-4840	>40	3.2
Flax	1.28-1460	10-80	345-2000	27.6-80	1.2-4.0
Hemp	0.86-1.48	4-800	270-900	23-90	1.0-4.0

Table 4.1 – Physical and mechanical properties of fibres according to the literature review.

The average of diameters and densities measured is presented below in Table 4.2 and, as expected, it was observed high variability in the diameters and mechanical properties. As a benchmark, the density of polypropylene and steel were also measured under the same methodology.



In comparing Table 4.1 and Table 4.2, the experimental values obtained are consistent with the ranges reported by other researchers, with the exception of the densities of basalt fibres. The densities obtained in this study were found to be 16.4% lower than those reported in the literature. This difference may be due to variations in the types of fibres used in this study and those considered by previous researchers.

Material	Density [g/cm³]	Diameter [µm]	Tensile strength [MPa]	Young`s Modulus (GPa)	Elongation at Break %
Flax	1.114	82.4	865.96	40.78	2.09%
Hemp	1.109	73.0	262.68	22.44	1.47%
Basalt	2.172	14.0	2546	136.18	1.67%
Polypropylene	0.953	-	-	-	-
Steel	7.922	-	-	-	-

Table 4.2 – Physical properties of fibres.

As there were no recommendations in the standard procedures for determining the initial sample size (n) for natural fibres, it was found in the literature studies adopting samples containing 4 to 8 specimens. To obtain values with lower standard deviation a sample size of n=40 was initially defined for this study. This sample size was selected in order to obtain at least 30 valid specimens for each sample, considering the fragility of the specimens and the potential for damage during the testing procedure and it was reduced later after a descriptive analysis. (Bandyopadhyay and Cherry 2011)

The descriptive analysis is a statistical study conducted to evaluate the tensile strength of each sample and determine the confidence interval of the distribution. This analysis



was carried out because the tensile strength property incorporates the load and diameter variability. Figure 4.1 shows the Gaussian distribution obtained for each sample. It was observed that the confidence interval for basalt was 69%, 67% for flax, 64% for hemp, and 70% for jute. This indicates that the data falls within one standard deviation in a normal distribution, which is 68%. These results confirm the ranges reported by other authors for similar materials. (Bandyopadhyay and Cherry 2011)



Figure 4.1 – Histogram and normal distribution of samples tested.

Appendix D presents a complete descriptive analysis performed on each sample to better understand the variability of the properties shown in Figure 4.1. Confirming the unpredictability of fibre properties pointed out in the Literature Review, all the samples presented distributions with high values of standard deviation and sample variance, indicating that the values are strongly spread out from the mean. (Swamy 1990)



Among the vegetable fibres studied, flax fibres achieved, on average, a significantly higher tensile strength of 866 MPa compared to hemp fibres, which reached 262.7 MPa, confirming their potential for composite reinforcement.

Although authors usually adopt samples containing 4 to 8 specimens for this purpose, the possibility of reducing the sample size from 30 to 10 specimens was evaluated through another descriptive analysis done for the first 10 specimens of samples of flax and hemp fibres. Values are also included in Appendix D. As presented in Table D.4 and Table D.5, the mean values still fit into the range obtained by other authors; however, there was a smaller standard deviation for all the parameters except for the elastic modulus and elongation at break of flax fibres, which showed a 19% and 22% increase, respectively.

Considering these values, it was decided to reduce the sample size to a minimum of 10 specimens during the analysis of the effects of surface treatment on the properties of singular fibres.

4.2 Surface treatment of flax and hemp fibres

As detailed in the previous chapter, the surface treatments conducted on flax and hemp fibres were selected according to the literature review. The mechanical properties of the treated samples were evaluated using the same methodology described in item. 3.1.2 (Sood and Dwivedi 2018)

Ahead, results obtained for treatments carried out on the flax fibres are summarised in Figure 4.2 and Figure 4.3 and on hemp fibres in Figure 4.4 and Figure 4.5. In each figure, the bar graph (a) includes error bars and numerical values for a global



overview, while the line graph (b) shows the changes in properties for each treatment over time. In both graphs, the dashed line parallel to the x-axis represents the values obtained for untreated fibres from Table 4.2.



Figure 4.2 – Tensile strength obtained for each treatment on flax fibres.

Starting this analysis with flax fibres, graphs (a) and (b) in Figure 4.2 show the tensile strength and graphs in Figure 4.3, the elastic modulus obtained for each sample tested. Treatments with EDTA (4h), stearic acid (4h), EDTA (6h), KMnO4 (6h), EDTA (10h), KMnO4 (10h), NaOH 5% (10h), EDTA (15h), KMnO4 (15h), EDTA (24h),



KMnO4 (24h), NaOH 5% (24h), and stearic acid (24h) increased both tensile strength and elastic modulus of the fibres.



Figure 4.3 – Elastic modulus obtained for each treatment on flax fibres.

Also, looking at graphs b, results indicate that treatments using NaOH in concentrations of 10% and 15% for the entire timeframe studied reduced the two properties for flax fibres, while a solution of 5% of NaOH increased them after 10 and 24 hours. Among the other chemicals, EDTA for the entire timeframe evaluated



increased this property. After 4 hours, KMnO4 also improved the tensile strength, and results for stearic acid alternated between increasing and reducing the property.

As the ideal treatment should present higher tensile strength and reduced elastic modulus, when comparing the two properties, none of the treatments achieved the desired outcome of reducing the elastic modulus while increasing the tensile strength. Still, the two treatments that enhanced tensile strength with a lower increase in the elastic modulus were the treatments with EDTA (4h) and stearic acid (4h).

EDTA (4h) increased the tensile strength by 82.7% and the elastic modulus by 13.6%, while stearic acid (4h) doubled the tensile strength value (200%) increasing the elastic modulus by 31.3%.

Regarding their hazardousness, going back to Table 2.8, EDTA presents an exclamation mark and health hazard causing possible respiratory irritation, while stearic acid presents none, however the second requires ethanol as a solvent flammable substance with, also, an exclamation mark like acetone. In terms of variability, both treatments presented reduced standard error, in comparison to the sample of untreated fibres.

A research investigation conducted using linseed oil demonstrated that fatty treatment provided a coating that shielded the fibres. Additionally, stearic acid (4 hours), as a type of fatty-acid chemical, was also considered for its potential positive impact on the intended application. (Page et al. 2021)

In a similar analysis performed on hemp fibres, all surface treatments, with the exception of NaOH 10% for 24 hours, resulted in an increase in both tensile strength



and elastic modulus, as indicated by Figure 4.4 and Figure 4.5. The treatment using NaOH 10% for 24 hours, while showing only minor changes, caused an increase in tensile strength and a reduction in elastic modulus of the sample.



Figure 4.4 – Maximum tensile strength obtained for each treatment on hemp fibres

Therefore, the treatment using NaOH at a concentration of 10% for a duration of 24 hours was selected as it resulted in a 37% increase in the original tensile strength while only affecting the elastic modulus by 17.9% compared to the untreated option. Similarly to the findings for flax fibres, the treatment using EDTA for 4 hours also



exhibited similar effects for hemp fibres. However, stearic acid treatment for 4 hours stood out in this analysis, as it resulted in a 101% increase in tensile strength, with a simultaneous increase in the elastic modulus by 31%. It is worth mentioning that the use of the stearic acid solution is a more sustainable option, being a natural saturated fatty acid. (Lodha and Netravali 2005).



Figure 4.5 – Elastic modulus obtained for each treatment on hemp fibres.

Confirming previous research findings, it has been demonstrated that specific surface treatments can lead to a significant increase in the tensile strength of vegetable fibres



by removing organic compounds and coating the layers of cellulose. Although the results obtained in this study show an improvement in tensile strength, they remain lower compared to results found in the literature, which reported an increase in tensile strength values for treated singular flax fibres from 5705 MPa to 14103 MPa. (Sood and Dwivedi 2018; Nayak et al. 2021)

For the purpose of material characterization and future reference, Appendices E and F present the average results of elongation at break and diameter obtained for each examined sample. From these values, no relationship between changes in diameters and treatments could be identified. However, the measured values for the densities of the treated fibres did not present enough reproducibility to be included in this analysis and further investigation is recommended for future studies.

4.2.1 Spectroscopic analysis

Spectroscopic analysis is suggested by authors to estimate the chemical composition of vegetable fibres. As mentioned in the previous chapter, X-Ray Diffraction was the test initially selected for this analysis, however as explained in 3.2.1 XRD showed to be unsatisfactory for the identification of chemical structures of the fibres, thus FTIR was the test method adopted in this research. From the spectrums obtained, it was possible to identify the presence of cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin and waxes according to the peak on their transmittance (%T) at certain Wavenumber. (Zafeiropoulos et al. 2003; Netinger Grubeša et al. 2018; Sood and Dwivedi 2018)

Figure 4.6 brings the spectrums obtained for flax and hemp fibres before and after the selected surface treatments.



-Flax untreated -Flax treated -Hemp Untreated -Hemp treated

Figure 4.6 – FTIR spectrums obtained for untreated and treated flax and hemp fibres.

Analysing the effects of the two selected treatments (stearic acid 4h for flax and NaOH10% 24h for hemp) on the chemical structure of the fibres, it was possible to observe an increase on the presence of cellulose and hemicellulose on the wavenumber 3336cm⁻¹, representing an OH stretching according to Table 2.6. For flax, a reduction in pectin, waxes, water and lignin while for hemp all the compounds investigated were reduced, except for pectin and waxes. Confirming what was suggested by the literature. (Sood and Dwivedi 2018; Nayak et al. 2021)



4.3 Fibres behaviour under alkaline pH

The impact of an alkaline environment in the mechanical properties was estimated for samples containing 15 specimens of treated and untreated fibres. The results are presented in Figure 4.7 and Figure 4.8.



Figure 4.7 – Effects of the degradation at alkaline solution on the tensile strength.



Figure 4.8 – Effects of the degradation at an alkaline solution on the elastic modulus.

It was observed that treated flax fibres had their maximum tensile strength increased during the first 24h, reduced after 3 days, increased again after 7 days. It dropped by 70% after 14 days and gradually increased again for the following two weeks.



However, when compared to the natural untreated fibres from Table 4.2 (indicated line parallel to the x axis), it had a reduction of 32%. In comparison with the untreated fibres degraded, the treatment showed an enhancement on the tensile strength during the whole period considered.

For hemp fibres, no pattern could be found for enhancement of the tensile strength through time (non-linear behaviour) but compared to the strength of natural untreated hemp fibres, after 28 days of degradation the treated fibres were 95% stronger than the natural untreated fibres from Table 4.2. Untreated fibres reduced their tensile strength by 8.4%.

In terms of the elastic modulus, the untreated flax fibres did not show significant changes during the experiment, with E reduced from 40.78 GPa (Table 4.2) to values from 25.2 to 28.8GPa. However, the treated and degraded flax fibres had their elastic modulus increased in the first 24 hours, gradually decreased during the first two weeks, and increased again during the final 14 days of the experiment. This trend could indicate an increase in the stiffness of the fibres over time.

Regarding treated hemp fibres, the variability of the elastic modulus was smaller compared to flax. Results indicate that treated fibres presented increased elastic modulus after 3 and 28 days of the experiment, while degraded untreated fibres presented lower elastic modulus throughout the test except for the samples tested at 21 days. These findings suggest that treatment using NaOH 10% for 24 hours reduced the variability of property changes of fibres when exposed to an alkaline environment. Additionally, the treatment with stearic acid could have coated the fibres, allowing



chemical changes in an alkaline matrix. While the treatment with stearic acid could have coated the fibres allowing chemical changes in an alkaline matrix.

4.3.1 SEM images

Using the scanning electron microscopy (SEM) it was possible to visualise the changes on the fibres surface on both natural and treated states before and after the degradation test, images are shown in Figure 4.9.





(f) Hemp fibres treated NaOH10% 24 h.

124

Results and Discussion





(g) untreated hemp fibres degraded.



(h)treated hemp fibre degraded.

Figure 4.9 – SEM images of untreated and treated flax and hemp fibres before and after degradation test.

Both flax and hemp fibres exhibited the presence of a coating after being treated (as shown in Figure 4.9b and f), which indicates the effectiveness of the treatments. Upon exposure to an alkaline environment, the untreated fibres suffered damage and their internal layers were exposed (as seen in Figure 4.9c and Figure 4.9g), whereas the treated samples exhibited structures similar to those of the natural and untreated samples, confirming that the adopted treatments could enhance the durability of the fibres in concrete (Figure 4.9d and Figure 4.9h, similar to Figure 4.9a and Figure 4.9e).

4.3.2 Summary

30 different combinations of treatment were assessed in this section for samples of fax and hemp fibres. Aiming an increase on the tensile strength and a reduction on the elastic modulus, the treatment selected for flax fibres was with stearic acid during for hours for increasing the tensile strength, in comparison to untreated fibres, and presented lower increase on the elastic modulus, in comparison to the other treatments



studied. For hemp fibres, the only treatment that presented increase on the tensile and reduction on the Young's modulus was with NaOH 10% during 24h.

By exposing the fibres to an alkaline solution, it was possible to observe that treated and untreated flax fibres had their tensile strength reduced overtime, however, the elastic modulus of treated fibres increased, while the elastic modulus for untreated fibres decreased with smaller deviation.

On the other hand, both untreated and treated hemp fibres did not present high variability in the elastic modulus through the degradation test, indicating a possible stabilisation of the stiffness with treatment. However, analysing the SEM images, for treated and untreated fibres, both hemp and flax fibres treated presented more uniform surface after the degradation test in comparison to the untreated fibres in the same test.

Although the selected treatment for flax fibres did not allow a predictability on its behaviour in concrete through time, their practical effects were still studied in the next section of this research for an optimised fibre-reinforced concrete.

4.4 Fibre-reinforced concrete

As detailed in the previous chapter, a preliminary concrete mixture was formulated and multiple mixes were produced, comprising a control mix with no added fibres, as well as FRC using untreated flax and hemp fibres, polypropylene fibres, basalt and steel fibres. Triplicate tests were conducted at 7 days and based on the results obtained, an optimised control mixture was formulated. This section presents and discusses the preliminary results obtained, as well as the results for the optimised


mixture in the latter part of this section, including additional relevant tests conducted as part of the study.

4.4.1 Preliminary fibre reinforced concrete mixture

4.4.1.1 Concrete workability

The slump of each mixture was measured at its fresh state, and the results are plotted in Figure 4.10. The slump designed was 10 to 30mm and comparing the values obtained for the control mixture with the FRC, the addition of all types of natural fibres reduced the workability of the mixtures. Polypropylene also reduced the workability, however, the results still fit the workability designed.



Figure 4.10 – Slump of fresh preliminary mixtures.

Confirming the high hygroscopicity of flax and hemp fibres, the slump obtained for the vegetable FRC containing these fibres was reduced to zero. For steel FRC mixes, the results indicate that their addition over 0.1% increases the slump of concrete. This



behaviour can be justified by the non-porous surface of steel, which in small quantities, would reduce the friction between the concrete contents, increasing its flowability. However, for the mix containing 0.2% of steel fibres, a slump of zero was observed. In a study on the effects of the workability of steel fibres reinforced concrete, it was observed that workability reduced with an increase in fibre content, which could corroborate the result obtained for the mix of 0.2%. (de Figueiredo and Ceccato 2015)

As shown in Figure 4.10, the control mix had a slump of 30 mm, while the mixes containing 0.5% and 1.0% of basalt fibres had slumps of 8 mm and 2 mm, respectively. The flax and hemp FRC mixes at 0.5% had a slump of zero. The FRC mixes reinforced with 0.5% and 1.0% of polypropylene fibres had slumps of 12 mm and 10 mm, respectively. For the steel FRC mixes, the slump increased with the increase in fibre content up to 0.15%, which had a slump of 51 mm. However, for the mix containing 0.2% steel fibres, the slump was reduced to zero.

The obtained results suggest that the addition of flax and hemp fibres can significantly affect the workability of concrete mixes due to the hygroscopic behaviour of vegetable fibres. Basalt and polypropylene fibres had a smaller effect on the slump values, while steel fibres showed an increase in the slump up to a certain threshold, after which it suddenly decreased. These results show the differences between behaviours of steel fibres and the other considered types indicating incompatibility for comparison, and also highlight the importance of carefully selecting and optimizing the type and amount of fibres added to concrete mixes to achieve the desired properties.



4.4.1.2 Compressive Strength (f_{cu}) and relative density

As described in section 3.4.1 the control mixture was designed as C30 with 5% defectives at 7 days, and included a standard deviation of 8 to increase the strength to 43.12N/mm². After 7 days, the cubes were tested in their hardened state, and the resulting compressive strength values are presented in Figure 4.11. The figure also includes the relative density values, allowing for a visual comparison of both properties.



Figure 4.11 – Compressive strength and relative density at hardened state.

As shown, the control mix achieved, on average, 95% of the target compressive strength. Among the mixtures studied, the one containing 0.1% steel fibres presented the highest compressive strength. Basalt and polypropylene fibres showed similar behaviour, with values slightly higher for BFRC. However, the mixes containing 0.5%



of basalt and polypropylene, and 1.0% of hemp fibres showed a reduction of up to 30% when compared to the control mix.

The results obtained for vegetable FRC indicated a reduction in compressive strength for all mixtures tested. An increase in the content of hemp fibres significantly reduced the strength, and a higher standard error between specimens was also observed. The mix containing 0.5% flax fibres also showed low workability, as measured by the slump test.

The specific gravity values revealed a drop in density for all vegetable FRC mixes, with values ranging from 2.2 to 2.5g/cm³, which is compatible with values reported by other authors in the literature review.

Also, the graph shows that the compressive strength values vary greatly between the different types of fibres used. Hemp fibres resulted in a significant reduction in compressive strength as the percentage of fibres increased. The specific gravity values were generally consistent across the different types of fibres tested, with a notable decrease in density observed for all vegetable FRC mixes. In contrast, the compressive strength of concrete mixes increased as the percentage of steel fibres added increased, indicating once again that it would not be adequate to perform a comparison between them and vegetable fibres. The findings confirm that the relationship between fibre content and compressive strength is complex, and that adding vegetable fibres reduces the density of the concrete.



4.4.1.3 Post-cracking analysis

To validate the results obtained, as recommended by the standard, an evaluation of the type of fracture of the cubes was performed to define if they were or not satisfactory according to the types of failures shown in Figure 2.25 and Figure 2.26.

Figure 4.12 (a) shows the apple shaped fracture of the plain control mixture. It could be observed from this fracture a satisfactory failure on both aggregate and mortar, as recommended by the followed standard.



(a) Control mixture.



(c) 0.5% of basalt.





(d) 1.0% of basalt.





(e) 0.5% of hemp.



(g) 0.5% of polypropylene.



(i) 0.05% of steel.



(k) 0.15% of steel.



(f) 1.0% of hemp



(h) 1.0% of polypropylene.







(l) 0.2% of steel.

Figure 4.12 – Failure analysis of samples tested.

132



Mixtures containing basalt (c and d), steel (k to l), 0.5% of hemp and polypropylene (e and g) showed satisfactory performance, as evidenced by the apple or pyramid-shaped specimens that confirm the well-centred strength of the cubes. Additionally, all specimens exhibited both aggregate and mortar failures, which is indicative of good adhesion of the mixtures.

Cubes containing 1.0% of hemp and polypropylene (f and h) could not have their post-cracking behaviour analysed since it was not possible to separate the fractured sections from the rest due to the strong bond between fibres and concrete. On the other hand, the mix containing 0.5% of flax fibres (b) showed a bond failure between the aggregate and mortar, which suggests that the fibre content was too high, affecting the fibre-matrix bond.

As detailed in the previous chapters, from the three-point bending test it was possible to evaluate the fracture energy (Gf), elastic modulus (E), the tensile strength at peak load ($F_{R,j}$) and the residual tensile strength at deflection *n* (F_n). The results obtained for the preliminary part of this study are presented ahead.

4.4.1.4 Fracture energy (Gf) and Elastic modulus (E)

Table 4.3 shows the fracture energy and elastic modulus results obtained from the three-point bending test for various types of fibre-reinforced concrete mixes compared to the control mix. The addition of fibres resulted in an increase in fracture energy and a reduction in the elastic modulus compared to the control mix, indicating a decrease in concrete brittleness. This is consistent with the findings from the literature. (Liu et al. 2019)

💆 TUS

Mixture	Gf [N/m]	Gf [% of control]	E [GPa]	E [% of control]
Control	180.31	100%	48.33	100%
Basalt 0.5%	319.86	177%	30.02	62%
Basalt 1.0%	489.42	271%	29.17	60%
Flax 0.5%	338.63	188%	23.65	49%
Hemp 0.5%	368.35	204%	38.62	80%
Hemp 1.0%	356.57	198%	17.34	36%
Polypropylene 0.5%	308.84	171%	20.76	43%
Polypropylene 1.0%	406.35	225%	37.54	78%
Steel 0.05%	193.87	108%	47.01	97%
Steel 0.1%	190.49	106%	44.94	93%
Steel 0.15%	415.56	230%	47.30	98%
Steel 0.2%	596.74	331%	40.61	84%

Table 4.3 – Fracture energy and elastic modulus from the three-point bending test.

Among the vegetable fibres, the mix with 0.5% flax fibres had the highest fracture energy increase of 88% compared to the control mix, which was greater than the increases obtained for mixes reinforced with basalt (0.5% and 1.0%) and polypropylene (0.5% and 1.0%) fibres. Hemp fibres resulted in the highest increase in fracture energy among the 0.5% fibre mixes, surpassing even the mix reinforced with hemp at 1.0%.

For elastic modulus, the mix with 0.5% flax fibres showed a 49% reduction in elastic modulus compared to the control mix, which increased the concrete ductility and reduced its brittleness. This was the third-smallest reduction in elastic modulus among



the mixes, only higher than the mixes with hemp at 1.0% and polypropylene at 0.5%. The addition of basalt fibres at 0.5% and 1.0% resulted in 62% and 60% of the control mix's elastic modulus value, respectively. The mixes with steel fibres showed only a slight reduction in elastic modulus. There was no clear correlation between the percentage of fibres and the elastic modulus.

Mixes containing less than 0.15% of steel fibres did not have significantly different results from the control mix, while those with 0.15% or 0.2% showed considerably higher results. Comparing the mixes reinforced with basalt and polypropylene fibres, fracture energy values of similar magnitude were observed for the proportions of 0.5% and 1.0%.

The addition of small percentages of steel fibres increased the post-crack tensile strength of the mixtures, but only additions over 0.15% significantly increased the fracture energy. It was not possible to establish a relationship between the use of steel fibres and the other types of fibres used in this preliminary stage of the study, confirming that a comparison between steel fibre reinforced concrete and vegetable fibre reinforced concrete would not be appropriate due to their significantly different properties.

4.4.1.5 Flexural tensile strength $(f_{R,j})$ and (f_n) [MPa]

To conclude the analysis performed in the preliminary mix designed, the flexural tensile strength at peak load (f_n) and residual strength ($f_{R,j}$) after failure were assessed. The results are presented in Table 4.4, where j from $f_{R,j}$ correspond to values from Table 2.9. The addition of most fibres reduced the peak value obtained for flexural



tensile strength (f_n), except for the mixtures containing basalt 1.0%, hemp 0.5% and steel 0.15%. For instance, the incorporation of 0.5% of untreated flax fibres reduced the flexural tensile strength of concrete from 4.71 MPa to 3.21 MPa. Moreover, an increase in fibre content also reduced the peak tensile strength, except for basalt and polypropylene, which presented higher f_n with an increase in fibre content. On the other hand, the mix containing steel fibres reached a peak value smaller than the mixes reinforced with hemp 0.5% and basalt 1.0%.

Mixture	f_n	$f_{R,1}$	<i>f</i> _{<i>R</i>,2}	<i>f</i> _{<i>R</i>,3}	<i>f</i> _{<i>R</i>,4}	$f_{R,5}$	$f_{R,6}$	<i>f</i> _{<i>R</i>,7}	<i>f</i> _{<i>R</i>,8}
Control	4.71	0.67	1.11	1.99	2.15	-	-	-	-
Basalt 0.5%	4.29	0.31	0.42	0.68	2.35	0.51	0.21	-	-
Basalt 1.0%	5.29	0.26	0.34	0.53	1.71	1.27	-	-	-
Flax 0.5%	3.21	0.43	0.63	1.00	2.58	0.65	0.35	-	-
Hemp 0.5%	4.95	0.40	0.69	1.23	3.81	0.90	-	-	-
Hemp 1.0%	3.60	0.30	0.41	0.62	1.50	1.94	1.19	-	-
Polypropylene 0.5%	3.81	0.45	0.68	1.08	2.44	1.25	-	-	-
Polypropylene 1.0%	4.51	0.50	0.75	1.26	3.88	1.80	-	-	-
Steel 0.05%	4.65	0.64	1.04	1.84	1.98	-	-	-	-
Steel 0.1%	4.62	0.53	0.84	1.59	2.93	-	-	-	-
Steel 0.15%	4.87	0.64	1.03	1.80	2.62	1.32	-	-	-
Steel 0.2%	4.14	0.44	0.74	1.43	3.33	1.28	1.16	-	-

Table 4.4 – Flexural tensile strength (f_n) and $(f_{R,j})$ [MPa], j values from Table 2.9.

136



Regarding residual tensile strength, the control mix presented values $f_{R,j}$ until j=4, similar to the mixes reinforced with less than 0.15% of steel fibres. However, all the other fibres increased the residual flexural tensile strength to j=5. The mixes containing basalt 0.5%, flax 0.5%, hemp 1.0% and steel 0.2% achieved a net deflection of 2.77mm (j=6), with hemp fibres providing the greatest $f_{R,j}$, followed by steel 0.2%, flax 0.5% and lastly basalt 1.0%.

In conclusion, the incorporation of most fibres decreased the peak flexural tensile strength, except for basalt 1.0%, hemp 0.5%, and steel 0.15%. However, all fibres increased the residual tensile strength. Hemp fibres showed the greatest $f_{R,j}$, followed by steel 0.2%, flax 0.5% and basalt 1.0%. The mix containing basalt and polypropylene presented higher fn with an increase in fibre content, while the mix reinforced with steel fibres reached a smaller peak value than those reinforced with hemp 0.5% and basalt 1.0%. These results suggest that the incorporation of specific types of fibres can improve the residual tensile strength of concrete.

4.4.1.6 Summary

From the preliminary mix design, it was possible to identify limitations that needed to be addressed for an optimized concrete. The first issue was a reduction in workability caused by flax and hemp fibres, leading to a non-cohesive casting process. To overcome this problem, three measures could be adopted for an optimized mix design: first, the designed slump for the control mix could be increased; second, a plasticizer additive could be used; and third, a reduction in the fibre content could be evaluated.



Mixtures containing steel fibres did not produce results comparable to the other fibres and were not included in the following part of this study.

Another measure to be considered could be the reduction of the maximum aggregate size to 10mm, which could increase the possible applications of the concrete developed in this research to thinner structures such as concrete panels, blocks, and floor leveling.

These results confirmed the range values for the properties of singular fibres, and also highlighted the results and challenges observed by authors mentioned in the literature review. For the FRC mixes, in comparison to the control mix, results for the slump test confirmed the high hygroscopicity of the fibres. The addition of fibres increased the fracture energy, reduced the elastic modulus, and could add some residual tensile strength. Although flax fibres reduced the peak load for compressive and flexural tensile strength, the residual strength observed was superior to the mixes reinforced with basalt and polypropylene fibres. The surface treatments detailed in the next section allowed an evaluation of the enhancement of the properties and the selection of the most relevant treatments for flax and hemp fibres to be used as reinforced concrete in the final part of this study.

4.4.2 Optimized FRC mix

After evaluating the effects of surface treatment on hemp and flax fibres, concrete mixtures were made and tested to have their properties assessed. As mentioned, the control mixture was redesigned after the previous preliminary analysis aiming for higher workability and reduction of maximum aggregate size, to increase the



possibilities of applications for the new mix. The results obtained are presented and discussed ahead in this chapter.

4.4.2.1 Compressive Strength (fcu), Density and Slump

Firstly, two samples made of three specimens were prepared using the optimised control mix to verify the reproducibility of the values obtained in comparison with previous and future fibre-reinforced concrete mixes. Subsequently, fibres were added to the optimised mix, and tests were conducted on sets of three specimens for each mix, starting with 0.5% flax, hemp, polypropylene, and basalt fibres. Based on the results, new mixes were prepared with smaller amounts of fibres, and the values obtained for slump are presented in Figure 4.13. Results for compressive strength and specific gravity tested at 7 and 28 days are presented in Figure 4.14.



Figure 4.13 – Slump obtained during mix optimisation.





Figure 4.14 – Compressive strength [MPa] and specific gravity [g/cm³].

As noted, the optimised concrete mix also experienced a reduction in slump with the addition of fibres, with the mixes containing 0.5% of flax and hemp fibres achieving a slump of zero. A reduction in compressive strength was also observed, including for the mixes reinforced with 0.5% of polypropylene. A new mix containing 0.35% of flax fibres was tested, but results were still unsatisfactory. Finally, the addition of 0.25% of flax fibres was found to achieve a certain level of workability without compromising the compressive strength. A mix containing 0.25% of polypropylene was also prepared for comparison purposes.

At 7 days, the control groups had the highest compressive strength, with Control 1.2 producing the highest value of 51.3 MPa. However, the other mixes had significantly lower values, with the polypropylene mixes having the lowest values. At 28 days, the compressive strength of all mixes increased, with the control groups still having the highest values, but the difference between the control groups and the fibre mixes decreased.

Similarly, in the preliminary stage of the study, the control mix achieved a high compressive strength of C50 after reaching the designed age. However, when fibres



were incorporated into all the mixtures, the compressive strength was reduced to less than 32MPa, which was the target for the study. The goal of the study was to propose a satisfactory mixture of vegetable fibre reinforced concrete, with the novel application of flax compared to hemp. For that, the concentration of flax fibres was optimised based on the results obtained. By reducing the percentage by volume of treated flax from 0.5% to 0.25%, it was possible to achieve the desired compressive strength of C32 for the both samples produced in triplicates.

Again, although high variability of properties was observed when testing singular fibres, the results obtained for concrete reinforcement were consistent between samples, noticed by the small error bars from Figure 4.14.

Confirming what was seen in the literature, results show that the addition of fibres to concrete tend to reduce its compressive strength, with the performance varying depending on the type and percentage of fibres used. In smaller quantities, the results indicate a potential of flax fibres, as viable alternatives to traditional fibres like polypropylene and basalt. Additionally, all specimens presented satisfactory fracture types, indicating that the fibre reinforced concrete mixtures were effective in enhancing the durability of the material.

In terms of density, the incorporation of fibres reduced the density of all the mixes when compared to the control sample. The property was slightly reduced through from samples tested at 7 in comparison to those tested at 28 days.



4.4.2.2 Fracture Energy (Gf), Young's Modulus (E)

Table 4.5 shows the average values obtained and calculated from the 3-point bending test for Fracture Energy (Gf) and Young's modulus (E).

Mixture	Gf [N/m]	Gf [% of control]	E [GPa]	E [% of control]
Control 7d	198.77	100%	27.67	100%
Basalt 0.5% 7d	1296.88	652%	11.14	40%
Flax 0.25% 7d	129.80	65%	25.13	91%
Hemp 0.5% 7d	285.61	144%	19.43	70%
Control 28d	146.31	100%	45.30	100%
Basalt 0.5% 28d	909.16	728%	36.95	82%
Flax 0.25% 28d	191.58	153%	32.44	72%
Hemp 0.5% 28d	316.74	254%	32.59	72%

Table 4.5 – Fracture energy and elastic modulus of FRC.

At 7 days, the Basalt 0.5% mix showed the highest fracture energy of 1296.88 N/m, which is more than 6 times higher than the control sample. However, its elastic modulus of 11.14 GPa is only 40% of the control. On the other hand, the mix containing 0.5% of flax had a fracture energy of 129.80 N/m and elastic modulus of 25.13 GP, which is 65% and 91% of the control, respectively. The Hemp 0.5% mix had a fracture energy of 144% of the control, and an elastic modulus of 70% of the plain concrete mix.

In comparison to the values previously obtained presented in Table 4.3, the reduction of the maximum aggregate size increased the fracture energy of mixes fibre reinforced, except for the mix containing 0.35% of flax fibres tested at 7 days. Which



could possibly be attributed to the initial adhesion of the mortar in the fibres. However, after 28 days, the same mixture presented an increase of 53% in comparison to the control mix indicating that the hardening process was not compromised.

The mixture containing hemp fibres presented, at 7 days, an increase on the Gf of 44% and after 28 days the percentage rose to 254% of the control confirming that hemp fibres increase the fracture energy of concrete structures.

In terms of elastic modulus, all the reinforced concrete mixes presented lower values. The modulus increased for both basalt and hemp fibres comparing the tests conducted at 7 days to those conducted at 28 days, contrary to the mix containing flax fibres that at 7 days presented an elastic modulus proportional to 91% of the control and at 28 day the value was reduced to 72%, equivalent to the mix reinforced with 0.5% of hemp fibres.

4.4.2.3 Flexural tensile strength $(f_{R,j})$ and (f_n) [MPa]

Before comparing the results from Table 4.6 to the values obtained in the first mixture (Table 4.4), as advised by the standard EN14651, results were tested for possible instability and the mixture containing basalt fibres tested at 28 days presented $f_{R,4}$ (CMOD =0.5) less than 30% of f_n (CMOD_{FL}). As the results presented a similar behaviour than the mix tested at 7 days, the values were still considered in this analysis.

Comparison of these results with the preliminary analysis showed that the second control mix had lower flexural tensile strength values at peak load, indicating a slight decrease in this property by reducing the maximum aggregate size. However, the

💆 TUS

residual tensile strength obtained for the flax and hemp-reinforced mixes at 7 days increased, with residual strength observed at deflections j=7 and j=8.

Mixture	f _n	<i>f</i> _{<i>R</i>,1}	$f_{R,2}$	<i>f</i> _{<i>R</i>,3}	$f_{R,4}$	f _{R,5}	$f_{R,6}$	f _{R,7}	f _{R,8}
Control 7d	3.95	0.30	0.40	0.57	1.48	0.11	-	-	-
Basalt 0.5% 7d	6.02	0.35	0.49	0.75	1.73	5.13	5.92	-	-
Flax 0.25% 7d	3.07	0.38	0.55	0.90	2.30	0.97	0.44	0.21	0.15
Hemp 0.5% 7d	3.66	0.41	0.63	1.04	2.68	3.06	1.95	1.39	1.54
Control 28d	4.03	0.79	1.29	2.16	0.17	-	-	-	-
Basalt 28d	9.15	0.60	0.97	1.67	4.34	7.17	3.07	-	-
Flax 0.25% 28d	4.23	0.46	0.73	1.23	3.03	1.00	0.34	-	-
Hemp 0.5% 28d	4.60	0.59	0.97	1.73	4.09	3.66	2.08	-	-

Table 4.6 – Flexural tensile strength (f_n) and $(f_{R,j})$ [MPa], j values from Table 2.9.

Confirming a better performance of the optimised mixture, at 28 days, all the mixes showed higher values than those obtained at 7 days, except for the mix reinforced with 0.25% treated flax fibres, which exhibited a residual tensile strength equivalent to the mix containing 0.5% untreated fibres in the preliminary analysis.



4.4.2.4 Thermal Conductivity

To evaluate the insulation related to each mixture, their thermal conductivity was measured following the procedure detailed in 3.4.10 As seen in the literature review, thermal conductivity is the inverse of thermal resistivity, where lower values represent enhanced thermal insulation (Bala and Gupta 2021).

Figure 4.15 shows the experimental results obtained, which, although slightly lower in magnitude than expected, values are compatible with results reported in the literature for the same property evaluated on concrete reinforced with waste tile rubber as a replacement for sand, which ranged from 0.96 to 0.85 [W/mK]. (Bala and Gupta 2021)



Figure 4.15 – Thermal conductivity [W/mK] and Specific Gravity [g/cm³]

As expected, the addition of fibres led to a reduction in thermal conductivity for all samples, as anticipated. Among the various mixtures, the ones reinforced with basalt and flax fibres performed the best. Basalt is a commonly used material in the construction sector for insulation. The mix containing 0.5% of flax fibres also presented favourable results.



Values of specific gravity were once again included to allow a comparison between density and thermal conductivity. As previously observed, samples with higher fibre volumes had lower density. The relationship between density and thermal conductivity further confirms previous research as discussed in the literature review.

4.4.2.5 Depth of penetration of water under pressure

Figure 4.16 presents the results of an experiment conducted to measure the water penetrability of the hardened concrete mixtures. In general, the presence of fibres increased water penetration compared to the control mix. However, the addition of 0.25% of flax fibres resulted in values that were virtually similar to the control mix. This suggests that, at this proportion, the cement paste would be able to coat the fibres, making it difficult for water to penetrate into the matrix. On the other hand, the mixes containing hemp fibres exhibited up to 50% higher penetration levels compared to the control and flax 0.25% mixes.



Figure 4.16 – Water penetration [mm].

Results and Discussion



Surprisingly, the mixes containing polypropylene, a synthetic material, presented higher levels of water penetration, which could indicate lower fibre-matrix adhesion.

4.4.2.6 SEM Images

The SEM images presented in Figure 4.17 provide valuable insights into the microstructure of FRC mixes at different ages, allowing for a better understanding of the behaviour of fibres and their interaction with the cement matrix over time.







(d) treated flax FRC over 90 days

Figure 4.17 – SEM images of FRC at 30 days and over 90 days.



At 30 days of age, the SEM images reveal a strong presence of fibres with a fibrous aspect, which is expected given the reinforcing effect of the fibres in the fresh concrete. However, after 90 days, the cementitious bond appears much closer, and the presence of fibres is reduced, which may indicate the degradation of the fibres associated with the concrete strengthening.

The reduction of fibres over time can be attributed to several factors, including the continuous degradation of fibres and ageing of the concrete. Previous studies have shown that the degradation of fibres in concrete is a complex phenomenon that depends on several factors such as fibre type, length, and orientation, as well as environmental conditions such as temperature, humidity, and exposure to chemical agents. The SEM images presented in this study confirm the previous findings, highlighting the reduction of fibres over time.

While the SEM images provide valuable insights into the microstructure of the FRC mixes, it was not possible to evaluate the change in the percentage of voids caused by the degradation of the fibres and ageing of the concrete in this study.

4.5 Summary and limitations

The experimental study here described allowed an overview of the effects of vegetable fibres as reinforcement of concrete. The study compared the properties of flax and hemp FRC using both untreated and treated fibres. However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the acquisition of more flax fibres for additional tests was affected.

The optimized concrete mixture developed using 0.25%vol of treated flax fibres met the designed compressive strength, surpassing mixes containing polypropylene, basalt,

Results and Discussion



and hemp fibres. Additionally, the second mix tested, still presented zero values when reinforced with 0.5% of treated vegetable fibres, and a reduction of 0.25% in the fibre content of flax fibres increased the slump from zero to 23mm, presenting enhanced workability.

Regarding fracture energy, the FRC mixes tested during the preliminary study presented higher fracture energy values, but at 7 days, the optimized mixture showed a reduction in fracture energy by 35%. Nevertheless, at 28 days, the same mixture presented 153% higher fracture energy than the control mix tested at the same age. Mixtures reinforced with basalt fibres presented the highest increase in fracture energy, and all the mixes showed higher values of fracture energy at 28 days compared to 7 days.

All the mixes reduced the stiffness in terms of elastic modulus, confirming that their addition can reduce the concrete brittleness. In terms of flexural tensile strength, the reduction of the maximum aggregate size reduced the maximum tensile strength of the control mix, and at 7 days, the mixture containing only the mix reinforced with basalt fibres was able to increase the peak value. However, at 28 days, all the FRC tested presented higher flexural tensile strength than the control mixture.

The surface treatment performed improved the residual tensile strength of flax and hemp fibres at 7 days. However, the residual tensile strength was reduced from samples tested at 7 days when compared to those tested at 28 days. Nevertheless, the results obtained for the mixes using treated fibres and tested at 28 days presented a similar magnitude to the mixes using untreated fibres and tested at 7 days.



The addition of fibres reduced thermal conductivity, and a direct relationship was observed between the fibre content, thermal conductivity, and density. For water penetration, higher values were obtained for mixes containing a higher volume of fibres, except for polypropylene fibres, which could indicate poor adhesion between the fibre matrix in comparison to natural fibres.

Finally, the SEM images for the vegetable FRC tested indicated a reduction in the fibre content over 90 days compared to 30 days, indicating a continuous degradability of the structure of the fibre in the concrete matrix. Although SEM images could not be performed on the FRC produced with untreated fibres, future work could explore this.

In conclusion, this study demonstrates the potential of vegetable fibres as reinforcement for concrete, particularly flax and hemp fibres. However, further research is required to explore the durability of these fibres in concrete over an extended period. Additionally, it would be interesting to investigate the possibility of combining different fibres to optimize their performance in concrete.

Chapter Five

Conclusions and

Future Work



Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Work

5.1 Conclusions

The aim of this study was to evaluate the suitability of vegetable fibres for reinforcing concrete. Based on properties previously reported in research, the experimental phase began with the selection of the vegetable fibres: flax fibres were chosen as a novelty, and hemp fibres as a benchmark seen that they are commonly used for reinforcing concrete. Basalt, polypropylene and steel fibres were also included in the preliminary section of the study when different mixes were produced to assess the performance of untreated flax fibres in comparison to the other fibre reinforced concrete (FRC) produced. Although basalt fibres are often classified as natural due to being produced from mineral raw materials, they require industrial production, like glass fibres, and are also considered synthetic fibres.

Confirming limitations presented by previous authors on the topic, this study expected high variability of results during the characterisation of the properties of vegetable fibres, as well as a reduction in the compressive strength of the fibre reinforced concrete, compared to a plain mixture, and increased values for water penetration, as vegetable fibres have high hygroscopicity. The literature suggests that performing a chemical surface treatment on vegetable fibres would improve their properties, making them more consistent and predictable.

Flax and hemp fibres, the selected vegetable fibres, were then subjected to six different surface treatments for five different lengths of time, totalling 30 different combinations of chemical surface treatments. The most effective treatments were



selected for flax and hemp fibres, considering their increase in tensile strength and reduction in the stiffness of the fibres, properties sought by their use as reinforcement in concrete. During this stage, the environmental impact of the chemicals used was also assessed as one of the main motivators for the adoption of vegetable fibres as a replacement for current non-natural fibres commercialized for reinforcement of concrete is to reduce the high environmental footprint from the construction sector.

Among the treatment options, the surface treatment using stearic acid for 4 hours was selected for flax fibres, a natural fatty acid that was able to double the tensile strength of the fibres while increasing the stiffness by 30%. Another treatment that presented similar positive results was the one using EDTA for 4 hours. Due to the limited amount of fibres purchased and the non-availability during the COVID-19 pandemic, only the first treatment was included for the optimized fibre-reinforced concrete production.

For hemp fibres, the treatment that satisfied both parameters of increasing the tensile strength and reducing the elastic modulus was the treatment using NaOH 10% for 24 hours. Although NaOH is an extremely hazardous chemical, it is commonly used by other authors and outstood among the other treatments, being selected for the final part of this study.

Results indicate that less hazardous chemicals can increase the tensile strength of flax and hemp fibres to a greater extent than the common treatment using NaOH, while also reducing the variability in their properties. Although the increase in the elastic modulus was not interesting for this particular study, these findings may be interesting for reinforcing composites that do not require a brittleness analysis.



The effects of an alkaline solution in the tensile strength and elastic modulus of the fibres were also assessed, and the results indicate that the treated vegetable fibres would still have their properties affected in an alkaline environment, such as a concrete matrix. After degradation, results indicate that treated flax fibres would be susceptible to a higher variation of properties in comparison to untreated fibres, presenting also higher stiffness. On the other hand, the results obtained for hemp fibres had lower variability between untreated and treated fibres after exposed to an alkaline environment. Although this analysis was conducted on the fibres, concrete mixes were produced to evaluate their effects in comparison to concrete reinforced with untreated fibres.

Finally, from the optimised fibre reinforced concrete mixtures produced, it was found that a mixture reinforced with 0.25% of treated flax was able to achieve the designed compressive strength values, surpassing the mix reinforced with 0.5% of treated hemp fibres. The workability of fibre reinforced concrete remained low (slump zero) with a reduction of the maximum aggregate size and the addition of plasticiser. However, with the reduction of the flax fibre content from 0.5% to 0.25% per volume, it was possible to obtain slump values up to 23mm.

The addition of fibres was able to increase the fracture tensile strength and reduce the concrete elastic modulus at 28 days. Although at least 50% higher than the control, the mix containing treated vegetable fibres presented significantly lower values of fracture energy compared to the mixture reinforced with basalt fibres. Both flax and hemp fibre-reinforced concrete mixes, at 28 days, presented the lowest stiffness



among the mixtures studied - 72% of the control compared to 82% of the control, obtained for basalt FRC.

Positively, both FRC using surface-treated fibres presented increased residual tensile strength. Comparing results from the preliminary analysis and the optimised mixes, increased residual tensile strength was observed for both hemp and flax FRC after surface treatment. Similarly, the addition of fibres in the mixes enhanced the thermal conductivity, and it was observed that the concrete density was reduced according to the volume of flax fibres added.

As expected, the addition of fibres increased the water penetration compared to plain concrete. However, the mixes with 0.25% of flax fibres presented a similar level of water penetration to the control mix, indicating that at this proportion, the cement paste would be able to coat the fibres, reducing the water infiltration.

Finally, from SEM images taken from concrete mixes reinforced with treated hemp and flax fibres at 30 days in comparison to mixes after over 90 days, it was possible to observe a reduction in the fibre content for both fibres, indicating continuous degradation over time, even after the surface treatments were conducted.

Overall, although the high variability in the properties of the treated fibres was still observed, in the concrete matrix, they presented a more consistent behaviour with a reduced standard deviation observed on the duplicated samples produced with three specimens each. There are certainly still opportunities for improvement, and pertinent suggestions for future work are presented in the section ahead.



5.2 Future Work

In this study, the suitability of using flax and hemp fibres as vegetable fibre reinforcement for concrete was investigated. Positive results were obtained compared to concrete reinforced with untreated fibres. However, it was not possible to predict the behaviour of the fibres from the surface treatment alone, and further studies are necessary to assess this in depth. A mathematical correlation between the results obtained from the fibre treatments would allow for the estimation of the behaviour of the fibre-reinforced concrete (FRC) produced, creating a reliable parameter to be used during the mixture design method.

Apart from the surface treatments adopted, the treatment using EDTA for 4 hours also presented interesting results for flax fibres and could be a promising treatment for fibres added to the concrete mixture. According to Le Troedec et al. (2008), EDTA treatment separates complex calcium ions and fibres linked with pectin. Instead of coating the fibres, their impact on a molecular level could positively affect the concrete properties.

Finally, an applied study could be conducted with the mixes designed during this work, with the maximum aggregate size reduced to 10mm. Considering the possibility of water penetration, the impact and abrasion resistance of thinner flooring layers or masonry blocks and panels for internal use could also be interesting applications for this material. Another alternative, particularly for the mixture containing 0.25% of treated flax fibres with stearic acid for 4 hours, could be their usage on 3D printers, which has become popular and feasible for the construction industry.

Chapter Six

References



Chapter 6: References

Abbass, W., Khan, M.I. and Mourad, S. 2018. Evaluation of mechanical properties of steel fiber reinforced concrete with different strengths of concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 168, pp. 556–569. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0950061818304136.

Abdewi, E.F. 2017. Mechanical Properties of Reinforcing Steel Rods Produced by Zliten Steel Factory. *Reference Module in Materials Science and Materials Engineering*. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-803581-8.10362-5.

Abu-Bakr, M., Mahmood, H.F. and Mohammed, A.A. 2022. Investigation of metakaolin and steel fiber addition on some mechanical and durability properties of roller compacted concrete. *Case Studies in Construction Materials* 16, p. e01136. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2214509522002686 [Accessed: 3 June 2022].

Acar, V., Cakir, F., Alyamaç, E. and Seydibeyoğlu, M.Ö. 2017. Basalt fibers. *Fiber Technology for Fiber-Reinforced Composites*, pp. 169–185. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-101871-2.00008-4.

AGRIOS, G.N. 2005. HOW PATHOGENS ATTACK PLANTS. *Plant Pathology*, pp. 175–205. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-047378-9.50011-7.

Ahmad, M.R., Chen, B., Haque, M.A., Saleem Kazmi, S.M. and Munir, M.J. 2021. Development of plant-concrete composites containing pretreated corn stalk bio-aggregates and different type of binders. *Cement and Concrete Composites* 121, p. 104054. doi: 10.1016/J.CEMCONCOMP.2021.104054.

Ahmed, B., Wu, Q., Lin, H., Gwon, J., Negulescu, I. and Cameron, B. 2022. Degumming of hemp fibers using combined microwave energy and deep eutectic solvent treatment. *Industrial Crops and Products* 184, p. 115046. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0926669022005295 [Accessed: 4 June 2022].

Alaskar, A., Alabduljabbar, H., Mustafa Mohamed, A., Alrshoudi, F. and Alyousef, R. 2021. Abrasion and skid resistance of concrete containing waste polypropylene fibers and palm oil fuel ash as pavement material. *Construction and Building Materials* 282, p. 122681. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2021.122681.

Al-Baghdadi, H.M., Al-Merib, F.H., Ibrahim, A.A., Hassan, R.F. and Hussein, H.H. 2021. Effects of Coarse Aggregate Maximum Size on Synthetic/Steel Fiber Reinforced Concrete Performance with Different Fiber Parameters. *Buildings* 11(4), p. 158. doi: 10.3390/buildings11040158.

Alberti, M.G., Enfedaque, A. and Gálvez, J.C. 2018. *Polyolefin Fibres for the Reinforcement of Concrete*. INTECH. doi: 10.5772/intechopen.69318.

Alcock, M., Ahmed, S., Du Charme, S. and Ulven, C.A. 2018. Influence of Stem Diameter on Fiber Diameter and the Mechanical Properties of Technical Flax Fibers from Linseed Flax. *Fibers 2018, Vol. 6, Page 10* 6(1), p. 10. Available at: https://www.mdpi.com/2079-6439/6/1/10/htm [Accessed: 24 June 2022].

Ali, A., Shaker, K., Nawab, Y., Jabbar, M., Hussain, T., Militky, J. and Baheti, V. 2018. Hydrophobic treatment of natural fibers and their composites—A review. *Journal of*



Industrial Textiles 47(8), pp. 2153–2183. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/1528083716654468.

Ali Zangena, S. 2018. Performance of asphalt mixture with nanoparticles. *Nanotechnology in Eco-efficient Construction: Materials, Processes and Applications*, pp. 165–186. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-102641-0.00008-6.

Alsaif, A., Garcia, R., Figueiredo, F.P., Neocleous, K., Christofe, A., Guadagnini, M. and Pilakoutas, K. 2019. Fatigue performance of flexible steel fibre reinforced rubberised concrete pavements. *Engineering Structures* 193(May), pp. 170–183. doi: 10.1016/j.engstruct.2019.05.040.

Amir, N., Abidin, K.A.Z. and Shiri, F.B.M. 2017. Effects of Fibre Configuration on Mechanical Properties of Banana Fibre/PP/MAPP Natural Fibre Reinforced Polymer Composite. *Procedia Engineering* 184, pp. 573–580. doi: 10.1016/j.proeng.2017.04.140.

Arehart, J.H., Nelson, W.S. and Srubar, W. v. 2020. On the theoretical carbon storage and carbon sequestration potential of hempcrete. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 266, p. 121846. doi: 10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2020.121846.

Arrigoni, A., Pelosato, R., Melià, P., Ruggieri, G., Sabbadini, S. and Dotelli, G. 2017. Life cycle assessment of natural building materials: the role of carbonation, mixture components and transport in the environmental impacts of hempcrete blocks. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 149, pp. 1051–1061. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.02.161.

Asadi, I., Shafigh, P., Abu Hassan, Z.F. bin and Mahyuddin, N.B. 2018. Thermal conductivity of concrete – A review. *Journal of Building Engineering* 20, pp. 81–93. doi: 10.1016/J.JOBE.2018.07.002.

Assaedi, H.S., Alomayri, T.S., Shaikh, F.U.A. and Low, I.-M. 2014. Synthesis and mechanical properties of flax fabric reinforced geopolymer composites. *Advances in materials Research* 3(3), pp. 151–161. doi: 10.12989/AMR.2014.3.3.151.

ASTM International. 2019. ASTM D6942-03 Standard Test Method for Stability of Cellulose Fibers in Alkaline Environments. Available at: http://www.tappi.org.

ASTM International. 2020. ASTM C1557-20 Standard Test Method for Tensile Strength and Young's Modulus of Fibers.

Bala, A. and Gupta, S. 2021. Thermal resistivity, sound absorption and vibration damping of concrete composite doped with waste tire Rubber: A review. *Construction and Building Materials* 299, p. 123939. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2021.123939.

Baley, C., Goudenhooft, C., Perré, P., Lu, P., Pierre, F. and Bourmaud, A. 2019. Compressive strength of flax fibre bundles within the stem and comparison with unidirectional flax/epoxy composites. *Industrial Crops and Products* 130(June 2018), pp. 25–33. doi: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2018.12.059.

Bamforth, P. 2018. Control of cracking caused by restrained deformation in concrete (C766). pp. 1–250.

Bandyopadhyay, P.S. and Cherry, S. 2011. Elementary Probability and Statistics: A Primer. *Philosophy of Statistics*, pp. 53–95. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-51862-0.50002-2.

Barth, M. and Carus, M. 2019. Carbon Footprint and Sustainability of Different Natural Fibre for Biocomposites and Insulation Material. Study providing data for the automotive and insulation industry. (April), p. 57.

Behera, B.K. and Hari, P.K. 2010. Tensile behavior of woven fabrics. *Woven Textile Structure*, pp. 137–163. doi: 10.1533/9781845697815.2.137.



Benaimeche, O., Seghir, N.T., Sadowski, Ł. and Mellas, M. 2020. The Utilization of Vegetable Fibers in Cementitious Materials. *Encyclopedia of Renewable and Sustainable Materials*, pp. 649–662. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-803581-8.11596-6.

Benin, S.R., Kannan, S., Bright, R.J. and Jacob Moses, A. 2020. A review on mechanical characterization of polymer matrix composites & its effects reinforced with various natural fibres. *Materials Today: Proceedings* 33, pp. 798–805. doi: 10.1016/J.MATPR.2020.06.259.

Bessenouci, M.Z., Bibi-Triki, N.E., Bendimerad, S., Nakoul, Z., Khelladi, S. and Hakem, A. 2014. Influence of humidity on the apparent thermal conductivity of concrete pozzolan. *Physics Procedia* 55, pp. 150–156. doi: 10.1016/J.PHPRO.2014.07.022.

Bolooki Poorsaheli, H., Behravan, A., Tabatabaei Aghda, S.T. and Gholami, A. 2019. A study on the durability parameters of concrete structures reinforced with synthetic fibers in high chloride concentrated shorelines. *Construction and Building Materials* 200, pp. 578–585. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2018.12.155.

Boran, S., Dizman Tomak, E. and Dönmez Çavdar, A. 2016. Biological properties of nutshell and microcrystalline cellulose (MCC) filled high density polyethylene composites. *Archives of Materials Science and Engineering* 78(2), pp. 71–77. doi: 10.5604/18972764.1226991.

Boutin, M.-P. and Flamin, C. 2013. Examination of the Environmental Characteristics of a Banked Hempcrete Wall on a Wooden Skeleton, by Lifecycle Analysis: Feedback on the LCA Experiment from 2005. In: *Bio-aggregate-based Building Materials*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp. 289–312. Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/9781118576809.ch9.

Bremner, T.W. 2008. Lightweight concrete. *Developments in the Formulation and Reinforcement of Concrete*, pp. 167–186. doi: 10.1533/9781845694685.167.

Brigham, C. 2018. Biopolymers: Biodegradable Alternatives to Traditional Plastics. *Green Chemistry: An Inclusive Approach*, pp. 753–770. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-809270-5.00027-3.

British Standards Institution. 2004. BS EN 1992-1-1:2004 Eurocode 2: Design of concrete structures - Part 1-1: General rules and rules for buildings. 2.

Caggiano, A., Cremona, M., Faella, C., Lima, C. and Martinelli, E. 2012. Fracture behavior of concrete beams reinforced with mixed long/short steel fibers. *Construction and Building Materials* 37, pp. 832–840. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2012.07.060.

Cai, X. et al. 2022. Study on evaluation of elastic modulus of crumb rubber concrete in meso-scale. *Construction and Building Materials* 331, p. 127247. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0950061822009278 [Accessed: 3 June 2022].

Carvalho, L.H., Canedo, E.L., Farias Neto, S.R., de Lima, A.G.B. and Silva, C.J. 2013. Moisture Transport Process in Vegetable Fiber Composites: Theory and Analysis for Technological Applications. pp. 37–62. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-37469-2 2.

Cassoni, A.C., Costa, P., Vasconcelos, M.W. and Pintado, M. 2022. Systematic review on lignin valorization in the agro-food system: From sources to applications. *Journal of Environmental Management* 317, p. 115258. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0301479722008313 [Accessed: 25 June 2022].



Castoldi, R. de S., Souza, L.M.S. de and de Andrade Silva, F. 2019. Comparative study on the mechanical behavior and durability of polypropylene and sisal fiber reinforced concretes. *Construction and Building Materials* 211, pp. 617–628. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0950061819307822.

Célino, A., Fréour, S., Jacquemin, F. and Casari, P. 2014. The hygroscopic behavior of plant fibers: a review. *Frontiers in chemistry* 1, p. 43. Available at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24790971.

Chand, N. and Fahim, M. 2021. Natural fibers and their composites. *Tribology of Natural Fiber Polymer Composites*, pp. 1–59. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-818983-2.00001-3.

Charai, M., Mezrhab, A., Moga, L. and Karkri, M. 2022. Hygrothermal, mechanical and durability assessment of vegetable concrete mixes made with Alfa fibers for structural and thermal insulating applications. *Construction and Building Materials* 335. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2022.127518.

Chen, Y., Cen, G. and Cui, Y. 2018. Comparative study on the effect of synthetic fiber on the preparation and durability of airport pavement concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 184, pp. 34–44. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2018.06.223.

Choi, M.S., Lee, J.S., Ryu, K.S., Koh, K.T. and Kwon, S.H. 2016. Estimation of rheological properties of UHPC using mini slump test. *Construction and Building Materials* 106, pp. 632–639. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2015.12.106.

Ciechańska, D., Wesołowska, E. and Wawro, D. 2012. Handbook of textile fibre structure Volume 2: Natural, regenerated, inorganic and specialist fibres. Chapter 1.

CIRIA 766 and Bamforth, P. 2018. CIRIA C766 Control of cracking caused by restrained deformation in concrete Who we are. London.

Clark, C.R. et al. 2013. A GHS-consistent approach to health hazard classification of petroleum substances, a class of UVCB substances. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* 67(3), pp. 409–420. doi: 10.1016/J.YRTPH.2013.08.020.

CLARKE, S. 2008. Composition of essential oils and other materials. *Essential Chemistry for Aromatherapy*, pp. 123–229. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-443-10403-9.00007-8.

Concrete & Its Ingredients (%) – Civil-Ideas. [no date]. Available at: https://civilideas374921463.wordpress.com/2021/03/24/concrete-its-ingredients/ [Accessed: 28 June 2022].

Cristaldi, G., Latteri, A., Recca, G. and Cicala, G. 2010. *Composites Based on Natural Fibre Fabrics*.

Cruz, J. and Fangueiro, R. 2016. Surface Modification of Natural Fibers: A Review. *Procedia Engineering* 155, pp. 285–288. doi: 10.1016/j.proeng.2016.08.030.

Dai, D. and Fan, M. 2010. Characteristic and Performance of Elementary Hemp Fibre. *Materials Sciences and Applications* 01(06), pp. 336–342. Available at: http://www.scirp.org/journal/doi.aspx?DOI=10.4236/msa.2010.16049.

Dai, X.-Q. 2006. Fibers. In: Biomechanical Engineering of Textiles and Clothing.Elsevier,pp.163–177.Availablehttps://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9781845690526500108[Accessed: 25]

June 2022].

DeArmitt, C. 2011. Functional Fillers for Plastics. *Applied Plastics Engineering Handbook*, pp. 455–468. doi: 10.1016/B978-1-4377-3514-7.10026-1.

Degrave-Lemeurs, M., Glé, P. and Hellouin de Menibus, A. 2018. Acoustical properties of hemp concretes for buildings thermal insulation: Application to clay and lime



binders. *Construction and Building Materials* 160, pp. 462–474. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2017.11.064.

Dhali, K., Daver, F., Cass, P. and Adhikari, B. 2021. Isolation and characterization of cellulose nanomaterials from jute bast fibers. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering* 9(6), p. 106447. doi: 10.1016/J.JECE.2021.106447.

Diquélou, Y., Gourlay, E., Arnaud, L. and Kurek, B. 2016. Influence of binder characteristics on the setting and hardening of hemp lightweight concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 112, pp. 506–517. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2016.02.138.

Dissanayake, N., Summerscales, J., Grove, S.M. and Singh, M.M. 2009. *Quantitative life cycle analysis for flax fibres*. Available at: http://iccm-central.org/Proceedings/ICCM17proceedings/Themes/Behaviour/SUSTAIN%20GREE N%20COMP/F23.2%20Dissanayake.pdf [Accessed: 6 June 2022].

Dittenber, D.B. and GangaRao, H.V.S. 2012. Critical review of recent publications on use of natural composites in infrastructure. *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing* 43(8), pp. 1419–1429. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1359835X11003903.

Djafari Petroudy, S.R. 2017. Physical and mechanical properties of natural fibers. *Advanced High Strength Natural Fibre Composites in Construction*, pp. 59–83. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-100411-1.00003-0.

Donnet, J.B., Bahl, O.P., Bansal, R.C. and Wang, T.K. 2003. Carbon Fibers. *Encyclopedia of Physical Science and Technology*, pp. 431–455. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B012227410500082X [Accessed: 26 June 2022].

Drougkas, A., Sarhosis, V. and Thermou, G. 2022. Micromechanical Homogenisation of Steel Bars in Reinforced Concrete for Damage Analysis. *Materials Today Communications* 31(February), p. 103235. doi: 10.1016/j.mtcomm.2022.103235.

Du, Y., Yan, N. and Kortschot, M.T. 2015. The use of ramie fibers as reinforcements in composites. *Biofiber Reinforcements in Composite Materials*, pp. 104–137. doi: 10.1533/9781782421276.1.104.

le Duigou, A., Barbé, A., Guillou, E. and Castro, M. 2019. 3D printing of continuous flax fibre reinforced biocomposites for structural applications. *Materials and Design* 180, p. 107884. doi: 10.1016/j.matdes.2019.107884.

Dungani, R. et al. 2019. Evaluation of the effects of decay and weathering in cellulosereinforced fiber composites. *Durability and Life Prediction in Biocomposites, Fibre-Reinforced Composites and Hybrid Composites*, pp. 173–210. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-102290-0.00009-X.

Duval, A., Bourmaud, A., Augier, L. and Baley, C. 2011. Influence of the sampling area of the stem on the mechanical properties of hemp fibers. *Materials Letters* 65(4), pp. 797–800. doi: 10.1016/J.MATLET.2010.11.053.

Eidan, J., Rasoolan, I., Rezaeian, A. and Poorveis, D. 2019. Residual mechanical properties of polypropylene fiber-reinforced concrete after heating. *Construction and Building Materials* 198, pp. 195–206. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2018.11.209.

Escadeillas, G., Magniont, C., Amziane, S. and Nozahic, V. 2013. Binders. In: *Bio-aggregate-based Building Materials*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp. 75–116. Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/9781118576809.ch3.


European Committee for Standardization. 2005. NF EN 14651: Test method for metallic fibre concrete - Measuring the flexural tensile strength (limit of proportionality (LOP), residual).

Ezeamaku, U.L., Onukwuli, O.D., Ezeh, M.E., Eze, I.O., Odimegwu, N.E. and Agu, C.P. 2022. Experimental investigation on influence of selected chemical treatment on banana fibre. *Industrial Crops and Products* 185, p. 115135. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0926669022006185 [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Fadhel, A. and Sabrine, A. 2018. Preparation and evaluation of the influence of modified fiber flour wood on the properties of the fresh condition of cement-based mortars. *International Journal of Industrial Chemistry* 9(3), pp. 265–276. Available at: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40090-018-0155-2 [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Fallah Pour, A., Gholampour, A., Zheng, J. and Ozbakkalogl, T. 2019. Behavior of FRP-confined high-strength concrete under eccentriccompression: Tests on concrete-filled FRP tube columns. *Composite Structures* 220, pp. 261–272.

Faruk, O., Bledzki, A.K., Fink, H.-P. and Sain, M. 2012. Biocomposites reinforced with natural fibers: 2000–2010. *Progress in Polymer Science* 37(11), pp. 1552–1596. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0079670012000391 [Accessed: 8 June 2022].

Ferreira, S.R., Silva, F. de A., Lima, P.R.L. and Toledo Filho, R.D. 2017. Effect of hornification on the structure, tensile behavior and fiber matrix bond of sisal, jute and curauá fiber cement based composite systems. *Construction and Building Materials* 139, pp. 551–561. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2016.10.004.

Feyisetan Adekunle, K. 2015. Surface Treatments of Natural Fibres—A Review: Part 1. *Open Journal of Polymer Chemistry Open Journal of Poly-mer Chemistry* 5(5), pp. 41–46. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ojpchem.2015.53005.

de Figueiredo, A.D. and Ceccato, M.R. 2015. Workability analysis of steel fiber reinforced concrete using slump and ve-be test. *Materials Research* 18(6), pp. 1284–1290. doi: 10.1590/1516-1439.022915.

Fisher Science Education. 2014. *Stearic Acid, Lab Grade*. Available at: ttps://www.uprm.edu/citai/wp-content/uploads/sites/222/2021/06/Stearic-acid.pdf [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Fisher science Education. 2015. *Potassium Permanganate*. Available at: https://beta-static.fishersci.com/content/dam/fishersci/en_US/documents/programs/education/regula tory-documents/sds/chemicals/chemicals-p/S25497.pdf [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Furtado, S.C.R., Araújo, A.L. and Silva, A. 2018. Inverse characterization of vegetable fibre-reinforced composites exposed to environmental degradation. *Composite Structures* 189, pp. 529–544. doi: 10.1016/J.COMPSTRUCT.2018.01.092.

Gagg, C.R. 2014. Cement and concrete as an engineering material: An historic appraisal and case study analysis. *Engineering Failure Analysis* 40, pp. 114–140. doi: 10.1016/J.ENGFAILANAL.2014.02.004.

Gao, X., Zhu, D., Fan, S., Rahman, M.Z., Guo, S. and Chen, F. 2022. Structural and mechanical properties of bamboo fiber bundle and fiber/bundle reinforced composites: a review. *Journal of Materials Research and Technology* 19, pp. 1162–1190. doi: 10.1016/J.JMRT.2022.05.077.

Ghaffar, S.H., Al-Kheetan, M., Ewens, P., Wang, T. and Zhuang, J. 2020. Investigation of the interfacial bonding between flax/wool twine and various cementitious matrices in



mortar composites. *Construction and Building Materials* 239. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2019.117833.

Godara, M.S.S. 2019. Effect of chemical modification of fiber surface on natural fiber composites: A review. *Materials Today: Proceedings* 18, pp. 3428–3434. doi: 10.1016/J.MATPR.2019.07.270.

Guo, Y., Hu, X. and Lv, J. 2019. Experimental study on the resistance of basalt fibrereinforced concrete to chloride penetration. *Construction and Building Materials* 223, pp. 142–155. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2019.06.211.

Gupta, M. and Kumar, M. 2019. Effect of nano silica and coir fiber on compressive strength and abrasion resistance of Concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 226, pp. 44–50. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2019.07.232.

de Gutiérrez, R.M., Díaz, L.N. and Delvasto, S. 2005. Effect of pozzolans on the performance of fiber-reinforced mortars. *Cement and Concrete Composites* 27(5), pp. 593–598. doi: 10.1016/J.CEMCONCOMP.2004.09.010.

Güven, O., Monteiro, S.N., Moura, E.A.B. and Drelich, J.W. 2016. Re-Emerging Field of Lignocellulosic Fiber – Polymer Composites and Ionizing Radiation Technology in their Formulation. *Polymer Reviews* 56(4), pp. 702–736. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/15583724.2016.1176037.

Haghdan, S., Renneckar, S. and Smith, G.D. 2016. Sources of Lignin. Lignin in Polymer Composites, pp. 1–11. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-323-35565-0.00001-1.

Hammond, G. and Jones, C. 2011. *Inventory of Carbon & Energy (ICE) Version 2.0*. Bath.

Hammond, G.P. and Jones, C.I. 2008. Embodied energy and carbon in construction materials. *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers - Energy* 161(2), pp. 87–98. doi: 10.1680/ener.2008.161.2.87.

Han, J., Zhao, M., Chen, J. and Lan, X. 2019. Effects of steel fiber length and coarse aggregate maximum size on mechanical properties of steel fiber reinforced concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 209, pp. 577–591. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2019.03.086.

Han, S., Zhou, A. and Ou, J. 2021. Relationships between interfacial behavior and flexural performance of hybrid steel-FRP composite bars reinforced seawater sea-sand concrete beams. *Composite Structures* 277(September), p. 114672. doi: 10.1016/j.compstruct.2021.114672.

hemp | *Description, Products, Seeds, Fiber, & Uses* | *Britannica*. [no date]. Available at: https://www.britannica.com/plant/hemp [Accessed: 24 June 2022].

Hemp Fibers Make Concrete Stronger | *Concrete Construction Magazine*. [no date]. Available at: https://www.concreteconstruction.net/business/technology/hemp-fibers-make-concrete-stronger c [Accessed: 3 July 2022].

Hill, R.H. 2010. GHS and its impact on laboratory safety. *Journal of Chemical Health and Safety* 17(4), pp. 5–11. doi: 10.1016/J.JCHAS.2009.09.002.

Ho, M.P., Wang, H., Lee, J.H., Ho, C.K., Lau, K.T., Leng, J. and Hui, D. 2012. Critical factors on manufacturing processes of natural fibre composites. *Composites Part B: Engineering* 43(8), pp. 3549–3562. doi: 10.1016/j.compositesb.2011.10.001.

Holtzapple, M.T. 2003. HEMICELLULOSES. *Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, pp. 3060–3071. doi: 10.1016/B0-12-227055-X/00589-7.

Huang, J.K. and Young, W. Bin. 2019. The mechanical, hygral, and interfacial strength of continuous bamboo fiber reinforced epoxy composites. *Composites Part B:*



Engineering 166(December 2018), pp. 272–283. doi: 10.1016/j.compositesb.2018.12.013.

Hueck, H.J. 2001. The biodeterioration of materials—an appraisal. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation* 48(1–4), pp. 5–11. doi: 10.1016/S0964-8305(01)00061-0.

Huffman, F.G. 2003. URONIC ACIDS. *Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, pp. 5890–5896. doi: 10.1016/B0-12-227055-X/01221-9.

Hwang, J.P., Jung, M.S., Kim, M. and Ann, K.Y. 2015. Corrosion risk of steel fibre in concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 101, pp. 239–245. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2015.10.072.

Ikumi, T., Galeote, E., Pujadas, P., de la Fuente, A. and López-Carreño, R.D. 2021. Neural network-aided prediction of post-cracking tensile strength of fibre-reinforced concrete. *Computers & Structures* 256, p. 106640. doi: 10.1016/J.COMPSTRUC.2021.106640.

Imoisili, P.E. and Jen, T.C. 2020. Mechanical and water absorption behaviour of potassium permanganate (KMnO4) treated plantain (Musa Paradisiacal) fibre/epoxy bio-composites. *Journal of Materials Research and Technology* 9(4), pp. 8705–8713. doi: 10.1016/J.JMRT.2020.05.121.

INEOS Joliet. [no date]. *Maleic Anhydride - Safety Data Sheet*. Available at: https://www.ineos.com/globalassets/ineos-group/businesses/ineos-

enterprises/businesses/ineos-joliet/sds/man-na-english.pdf [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Ip, K. and Miller, A. 2012. Life cycle greenhouse gas emissions of hemp-lime wall constructions in the UK. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 69, pp. 1–9. doi: 10.1016/J.RESCONREC.2012.09.001.

I.S. EN 12390-8. 2009. Testing hardened concrete - Part 8:Depth of penetration of water under pressure.

Islam, M.J., Islam, K., Shahjalal, M., Khatun, E., Islam, S. and Razzaque, A.B. 2022. Influence of different types of fibers on the mechanical properties of recycled waste aggregate concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 337, p. 127577. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2022.127577.

Islam, M.S. and Ahmed, S.J. 2018. Influence of jute fiber on concrete properties. *Construction and Building Materials* 189, pp. 768–776. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2018.09.048.

Isleem, H.F., Tahir, M. and Wang, Z. 2020. Axial stress–strain model developed for rectangular RC columns confined with FRP wraps and anchors. *Structures* 23(April 2019), pp. 779–788. doi: 10.1016/j.istruc.2019.12.020.

ISO 10534-2. 1998. Acoustics — Determination of sound absorption coefficient and impedance in impedance tubes — Part 2: Transfer-function method.

Jabbar, A.M., Hamood, M.J. and Mohammed, D.H. 2021. The effect of using basalt fibers compared to steel fibers on the shear behavior of ultra-high performance concrete T-beam. *Case Studies in Construction Materials* 15, p. e00702. doi: 10.1016/J.CSCM.2021.E00702.

Jamshaid, H. and Mishra, R. 2016. A green material from rock: basalt fiber – a review. *Journal of the Textile Institute* 107(7), pp. 923–937. doi: 10.1080/00405000.2015.1071940.

Jones, D., Ormondroyd, G.O., Curling, S.F., Popescu, C.-M. and Popescu, M.-C. 2017. Chemical compositions of natural fibres. In: *Advanced High Strength Natural Fibre*



Composites in Construction. Elsevier, pp. 23–58. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9780081004111000029.

Kamath, S.S. and Bennehalli, B. 2021. Surface Modification of Areca Fibre by Benzoyl Peroxide and Mechanical Behaviour of Areca-Epoxy Composites. *Material Science Research India* 18(1), pp. 48–55. doi: 10.13005/MSRI/180106.

Karlsson, J.O. and Röös, E. 2019. Resource-efficient use of land and animals— Environmental impacts of food systems based on organic cropping and avoided foodfeed competition. *Land Use Policy* 85(March), pp. 63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2019.03.035.

Kaur, P. and Talwar, M. 2017. Different types of Fibres used in FRC. *International Journal of Advanced Research in Computer Science* 8(4), pp. 2015–2018. Available at: https://www.ijarcs.info/index.php/Ijarcs/article/viewFile/3782/3263.

Kavas, T., Olgun, A., Erdogan, Y. and Once, G. 2007. The effect of pectin on the physicochemical and mechanical properties of cement containing boron. *Building and Environment* 42(4), pp. 1803–1809. doi: 10.1016/J.BUILDENV.2006.01.018.

Kim, J., Park, C., Choi, Y., Lee, H. and Song, G. 2012. An investigation of mechanical properties of jute fiber-reinforced concrete. *RILEM Bookseries* 2, pp. 75–82. Available at: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-94-007-2436-5_10 [Accessed: 8 July 2022].

Kumar Sinha, A., Narang, H.K. and Bhattacharya, S. 2017. Effect of Alkali Treatment on Surface Morphology of Abaca Fibre. *Materials Today: Proceedings* 4(8), pp. 8993–8996. doi: 10.1016/j.matpr.2017.07.251.

Kumar, V.G., Ramadoss, R. and Rampradheep, G.S. 2020. A study report on carbon sequestration by using Hempcrete. *Materials Today: Proceedings* 45, pp. 6369–6371. doi: 10.1016/j.matpr.2020.11.012.

L. Ford, J. and Willson, R. 1999. Thermal analysis and calorimetry of pharmaceuticals. *Handbook of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* 4, pp. 923–1016. doi: 10.1016/S1573-4374(99)80020-X.

Lai, W.F. 2022. Non-aromatic clusteroluminogenic polymers: structural design and applications in bioactive agent delivery. *Materials Today Chemistry* 23, p. 100712. doi: 10.1016/J.MTCHEM.2021.100712.

Lan, Y. 2019. Waxes. *Encyclopedia of Food Chemistry*, pp. 312–316. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-100596-5.22344-5.

Laverde, V., Marin, A., Benjumea, J.M. and Rincón Ortiz, M. 2022. Use of vegetable fibers as reinforcements in cement-matrix composite materials: A review. *Construction and Building Materials* 340, p. 127729. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0950061822014040 [Accessed: 3 June 2022].

Li, W., Meng, L. and Ma, R. 2016. Effect of surface treatment with potassium permanganate on ultra-high molecular weight polyethylene fiber reinforced natural rubber composites. *Polymer Testing* 55, pp. 10–16. doi: 10.1016/J.POLYMERTESTING.2016.08.006.

Liang, N., Mao, J., Yan, R., Liu, X. and Zhou, X. 2022. Corrosion resistance of multiscale polypropylene fiber-reinforced concrete under sulfate attack. *Case Studies in Construction Materials* 16, p. e01065. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2214509522001978 [Accessed: 5 June 2022].



Liu, J., Jia, Y. and Wang, J. 2019. Calculation of chloride ion diffusion in glass and polypropylene fiber-reinforced concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 215, pp. 875–885. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2019.04.246.

Lodha, P. and Netravali, A.N. 2005. Thermal and mechanical properties of environment-friendly 'green' plastics from stearic acid modified-soy protein isolate. *Industrial Crops and Products* 21(1), pp. 49–64. doi: 10.1016/J.INDCROP.2003.12.006.

Mahltig, B. 2017. *Basalt fibers*. Elsevier Ltd. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-102228-3.00009-8.

di Maida, P., Radi, E., Sciancalepore, C. and Bondioli, F. 2015. Pullout behavior of polypropylene macro-synthetic fibers treated with nano-silica. *Construction and Building Materials* 82, pp. 39–44. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2015.02.047.

Mailer, R.J. 2004. OILSEEDS, OVERVIEW. *Encyclopedia of Grain Science*, pp. 380–386. doi: 10.1016/B0-12-765490-9/00116-6.

Malalli, C.S. and Ramji, B.R. 2022. Mechanical characterization of natural fiber reinforced polymer composites and their application in Prosthesis: A review. *Materials Today: Proceedings.* Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S221478532202418X [Accessed: 3 June 2022].

Manna, S., Saha, P., Roy, D., Sen, R., Adhikari, B. and Das, S. 2013. Enhanced biodegradation resistance of biomodified jute fibers. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 93(2), pp. 597–603. doi: 10.1016/J.CARBPOL.2012.11.061.

Manoukian, O.S. et al. 2019. Biomaterials for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine. *Encyclopedia of Biomedical Engineering* 1–3, pp. 462–482. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-801238-3.64098-9.

Marin, J. 1963. Mechanical Properties of Engineering Materials: Macroscopic Behavior. *Materials Science Research*, pp. 253–280. Available at: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-4899-5537-1_13 [Accessed: 26 June 2022].

Mastali, M., Dalvand, A., Sattarifard, A.R. and Abdollahnejad, Z. 2018a. Effect of different lengths and dosages of recycled glass fibres on the fresh and hardened properties of SCC. *Magazine of Concrete Research* 70(22), pp. 1175–1188. doi: 10.1680/JMACR.17.00180.

Mastali, M., Kinnunen, P., Isomoisio, H., Karhu, M. and Illikainen, M. 2018b. Mechanical and acoustic properties of fiber-reinforced alkali-activated slag foam concretes containing lightweight structural aggregates. *Construction and Building Materials* 187, pp. 371–381. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2018.07.228.

McNamara, J.T., Morgan, J.L.W. and Zimmer, J. 2015. A Molecular Description of Cellulose Biosynthesis. *Annual review of biochemistry* 84, p. 895. Available at: /pmc/articles/PMC4710354/ [Accessed: 25 June 2022].

MD, B. and Unnikrishnan, S. 2022. Mechanical strength and impact resistance of hybrid fiber reinforced concrete with coconut and polypropylene fibers. *Materials Today: Proceedings*. doi: 10.1016/J.MATPR.2022.05.048.

Melelli, A., Jamme, F., Beaugrand, J. and Bourmaud, A. 2022. Evolution of the ultrastructure and polysaccharide composition of flax fibres over time: When history meets science. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 291, p. 119584. doi: 10.1016/J.CARBPOL.2022.119584.



Melo, R.Q.C., Fook, M.V.L. and Lima, A.G.B. 2021. Non-Fickian Moisture Absorption in Vegetable Fiber Reinforced Polymer Composites: The Effect of the Mass Diffusivity. *Polymers* 13(5), p. 761. doi: 10.3390/polym13050761.

Merck. 2014. *Ethanol.* Available at: https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/IE/en/product/mm/100986?gclid=Cj0KCQjwjIKYBhC6 ARIsAGEds-IJ1HW72Iwt0XiVerdFzHACd-

6muHF7I1EwjJVtR1Fl96pCPVBQPjQaAj9qEALw_wcB [Accessed: 20 August 2022]. Michelin, M., Ruiz, H.A., Silva, D.P., Ruzene, D.S., Teixeira, J.A. and Polizeli, M.L.T.M. 2014. Cellulose from Lignocellulosic Waste. *Polysaccharides*, pp. 1–33. Available at: https://link.springer.com/referenceworkentry/10.1007/978-3-319-03751-6_52-1 [Accessed: 25 June 2022].

Miraoui, I., Jaballi, S. and Rabeh, S. 2022. Analysis of long unidirectional sisal fibers reinforced plaster: An experimental investigation. *Materials Today: Proceedings* 52, pp. 152–157. doi: 10.1016/J.MATPR.2021.11.401.

Mohanty, A.K., Misra, M. and Hinrichsen, G. 2000. Biofibres, biodegradable polymers and biocomposites: An overview. *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering* 276–277(1), pp. 1–24. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1439-2054(20000301)276:1<1::AID-MAME1>3.0.CO;2-W.

Mokhothu, T.H. and John, M.J. 2015. Review on hygroscopic aging of cellulose fibres and their biocomposites. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 131, pp. 337–354. doi: 10.1016/J.CARBPOL.2015.06.027.

Moraes, A.G.O., Sierakowski, M.R. and Amico, S.C. 2012. The novel use of sodium borohydride as a protective agent for the chemical treatment of vegetable fibers. *Fibers and Polymers* 2012 13:5 13(5), pp. 641–646. Available at: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12221-012-0641-7 [Accessed: 30 June 2022].

Mukherjee, P.S. and Satyanarayana, K.G. 1984. Structure and properties of some vegetable fibres. *Journal of Materials Science 1984 19:12* 19(12), pp. 3925–3934. Available at: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF00980755 [Accessed: 24 June 2022].

Naidjonoka, P., Hernandez, M.A., Pálsson, G.K., Heinrich, F., Stålbrand, H. and Nylander, T. 2020. On the interaction of softwood hemicellulose with cellulose surfaces in relation to molecular structure and physicochemical properties of hemicellulose. *Soft Matter* 16(30), pp. 7063–7076. Available at: https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlehtml/2020/sm/d0sm00264j [Accessed: 25 June 2022].

Nasrollahzadeh, M., Nezafat, Z., Shafiei, N. and Soleimani, F. 2021a. Polysaccharides in food industry. *Biopolymer-Based Metal Nanoparticle Chemistry for Sustainable Applications*, pp. 47–96. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-323-89970-3.00002-0.

Nasrollahzadeh, M., Sajjadi, M., Nezafat, Z. and Shafiei, N. 2021b. Polysaccharide biopolymer chemistry. *Biopolymer-Based Metal Nanoparticle Chemistry for Sustainable Applications: Volume 1: Classification, Properties and Synthesis*, pp. 45–105. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-822108-2.00019-3.

National Standards Authority of Ireland. 2007. I.S. EN 14845-2:2007TEST METHODS FOR FIBRES IN CONCRETE - PART 2: EFFECT ON CONCRETE.

National Standards Authority of Ireland. 2012. I.S. EN 12390-1:2012 Testing hardened concrete - Part 1: Shape, dimensions and other requirements for specimens and moulds. doi: 10.7551/mitpress/7803.003.0005.



National Standards Authority of Ireland. 2019a. I.S. EN 12350-2 Testing fresh concrete - Part 2: Slump test.

National Standards Authority of Ireland. 2019b. I.S. EN 12390-2: 2019 Testing hardened concrete - Part 2: Making and curing specimens for strength tests.

National Standards Authority of Ireland. 2019c. I.S. EN 12390-3:2019 Testing hardened concrete, Part 3: Compressive strength of test specimens. pp. 1–16.

National Standards Authority of Ireland. 2019d. I.S. EN 12390-8:2019. Testing hardened concrete - Part 8: Depth of penetration of water under pressure.

Natkunarajah, K., Masilamani, K., Maheswaran, S., Lothenbach, B., Amarasinghe, D.A.S. and Attygalle, D. 2022. Analysis of the trend of pH changes of concrete pore solution during the hydration by various analytical methods. *Cement and Concrete Research* 156, p. 106780. doi: 10.1016/J.CEMCONRES.2022.106780.

Nayak, S.Y., Shenoy Heckadka, S., Seth, A., Prabhu, S., Sharma, R. and Shenoy, K.R. 2021. Effect of chemical treatment on the physical and mechanical properties of flax fibers: A comparative assessment. *Materials Today: Proceedings* 38, pp. 2406–2410. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2214785320354900 [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Netinger Grubeša, I., Marković, B., Gojević, A. and Brdarić, J. 2018. Effect of hemp fibers on fire resistance of concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 184, pp. 473–484. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2018.07.014.

New Jersey Department of Health. 2008. Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid: HazardousSubstanceFactSheet.Availableat:

https://www.nj.gov/health/eoh/rtkweb/documents/fs/0876.pdf [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

New Jersey Department of Health. 2016a. *Benzoyl Peroxide: Hazardous Substance Fact Sheet*. Available at: https://nj.gov/health/eoh/rtkweb/documents/fs/0215.pdf [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

New Jersey Department of Health. 2016b. *Cyclohexane - Hazardous Substance Fact Sheet*. Available at: https://www.nj.gov/health/eoh/rtkweb/documents/fs/0565.pdf [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

New Jersey Department of Health. 2016c. *Sulfuric Acid: Hazardous Substance Fact Sheet*. Available at: https://nj.gov/health/eoh/rtkweb/documents/fs/1761.pdf [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Newman, J. and Owens, P. 2003. Properties of lightweight concrete. *Advanced Concrete Technology*, pp. 3–29. doi: 10.1016/B978-075065686-3/50288-3.

NF EN 14651. 2012. Test method for metallic fibre concrete - Measuring the flexural tensile strength (limit of proportionality (LOP), residual). p. 17.

Okeh, C.A.O., Begg, D.W., Barnett, S.J. and Nanos, N. 2019. Behaviour of hybrid steel fibre reinforced self compacting concrete using innovative hooked-end steel fibres under tensile stress. *Construction and Building Materials* 202, pp. 753–761. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2018.12.067.

Onuaguluchi, O. and Banthia, N. 2016. Plant-based natural fibre reinforced cement composites: A review. *Cement and Concrete Composites* 68, pp. 96–108. doi: 10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2016.02.014.

P.A. Hilton Ltd. 2008. Manual - Thermal Conductivity of Building Materials H111N.

Page, J., Amziane, S., Gomina, M., Djelal, C. and Audonnet, F. 2021. Using linseed oilas flax fibre coating for fibre-reinforced cementitious composite. Industrial Crops andProducts161,p.113168.Availableat:



https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0926669020310852 [Accessed: 11 October 2021].

Page, J., Khadraoui, F., Boutouil, M. and Gomina, M. 2017. Multi-physical properties of a structural concrete incorporating short flax fibers. *Construction and Building Materials* 140, pp. 344–353. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2017.02.124.

Page, J., Khadraoui, F., Gomina, M. and Boutouil, M. 2019. Influence of different surface treatments on the water absorption capacity of flax fibres: Rheology of fresh reinforced-mortars and mechanical properties in the hardened state. *Construction and Building Materials* 199, pp. 424–434. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2018.12.042.

Pal, T., Pramanik, S., Verma, K.D., Naqvi, S.Z., Manna, P.K. and Kar, K.K. 2021. Fly ash-reinforced polypropylene composites. *Handbook of Fly Ash*, pp. 243–270. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-817686-3.00021-9.

Parchem. 2016a. *Benzoyl Peroxide: Safety Data Sheet*. Available at: https://www.parchem.com/siteimages/Attachment/GHS%20Benzoyl%20Peroxide%20 MSDS.pdf [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Parchem. 2016b. *Dicumyl Peroxide: Safety Data Sheet*. Available at: https://www.parchem.com/siteimages/Attachment/GHS%20Dicumyl%20Peroxide%20 MSDS.pdf [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Pawar, R., Jadhav, W., Bhusare, S., Borade, R., Farber, S., Itzkowitz, D. and Domb, A. 2008. Polysaccharides as carriers of bioactive agents for medical applications. *Natural-Based Polymers for Biomedical Applications*, pp. 3–53. doi: 10.1533/9781845694814.1.3.

Pettersen, R.C. 1984. The Chemical Composition of Wood; Chapter 2.

Piasta, W. and Zarzycki, B. 2017. The effect of cement paste volume and w/c ratio on shrinkage strain, water absorption and compressive strength of high performance concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 140, pp. 395–402. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2017.02.033.

Pickering, K.L. and Sunny, T. 2021. Effect of stearic acid treatment on the properties of aligned short hemp fibre mats and their potential use as reinforcement in polypropylene matrix composites. *Cellulose 2021 28:9* 28(9), pp. 5611–5624. Available at: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10570-021-03884-w [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Pöhler, C., Bachtiar, E.V., Yan, L. and Kasal, B. 2021. Composites for structural strengthening, repair, rehabilitation, and retrofit. *Composite Materials: Manufacturing, Properties and Applications*, pp. 205–226. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-820512-9.00005-8.

Poletanovic, B., Janotka, I., Janek, M., Bacuvcik, M. and Merta, I. 2021. Influence of the NaOH-treated hemp fibres on the properties of fly-ash based alkali-activated mortars prior and after wet/dry cycles. *Construction and Building Materials* 309, p. 125072. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2021.125072.

Prasad, B.M. and Sain, M.M. 2016. Mechanical properties of thermally treated hemp fibers in inert atmosphere for potential composite reinforcement. *http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10019-003-0258-y* 7(4), pp. 231–238. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1007/s10019-003-0258-y [Accessed: 25 June 2022].

Princeton University. 2016. *Know Your Hazard Symbols (Pictograms)* | Office of *Environmental Health and Safety*. Available at: https://ehs.princeton.edu/news/know-your-hazard-symbols-pictograms [Accessed: 2 July 2022].



Rahimi, M., Hisseine, O.A. and Tagnit-Hamou, A. 2022a. Effectiveness of treated flax fibers in improving the early age behavior of high-performance concrete. *Journal of Building Engineering* 45, p. 103448. doi: 10.1016/J.JOBE.2021.103448.

Rahimi, M., Omran, A. and Tagnit-Hamou, A. 2022b. Role of homogenization and surface treatment of flax fiber on performance of cement-based composites. *Cleaner Materials* 3, p. 100037. doi: 10.1016/J.CLEMA.2021.100037.

Rai P., S., Harshitha, N., Kavya, D. v., Unnikrishnan, S. and Chandrashekar, A. 2022. Mechanical strength and water penetration depth of palmyra fibre reinforced concrete. *Materials Today: Proceedings*. doi: 10.1016/J.MATPR.2022.05.049.

Raman Bharath, V.R., Vijaya Ramnath, B. and Manoharan, N. 2015. Kenaf fibre reinforced composites: A review. *ARPN Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences* 10(13), pp. 5483–5485. doi: 10.1016/j.matdes.2011.04.008.

Razera, I.A.T., da Silva, C.G., de Almeida, É.V.R. and Frollini, E. 2014. Treatments of jute fibers aiming at improvement of fiber-phenolic matrix adhesion. *Polimeros* 24(4), pp. 417–421. Available at: http://www.scielo.br/j/po/a/SY8nzDZBr9VSXRrbJh7Hb6Q/?lang=en [Accessed: 2 July

http://www.scielo.br/j/po/a/SY8nzDZBr9VSXRrbJh/Hb6Q/?lang=en [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

R.F. Zollo. 1997. Fiber-reinforced concrete: an overview after 30 years of development. *Cement and Concrete Composites* 19(2), pp. 107–122.

Rivera, J.E., Eid, R. and Paultre, P. 2021. Influence of synthetic fibers on the seismic behavior of reinforced-concrete circular columns. *Engineering Structures* 228, p. 111493. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0141029620340943 [Accessed: 3 June 2022].

R.P.L.Nijssen. 2015. Composite Materials an introduction.

Saha, P., Manna, S., Sen, R., Roy, D. and Adhikari, B. 2012. Durability of lignocellulosic fibers treated with vegetable oil–phenolic resin. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 87(2), pp. 1628–1636. doi: 10.1016/J.CARBPOL.2011.09.070.

Sander Fett, M., Fogliatto Mariot, R., Scorsatto Ortiz, R., Tiecher, T. and Anastácio de Oliveira Camargo, F. 2021. The use of vegetal tissue multi-element content as an indicator of soil or substrate type employed to cultivate Cannabis sativa L. (marijuana). *Forensic Chemistry* 23, p. 100319. doi: 10.1016/J.FORC.2021.100319.

Sanjay, M.R., Madhu, P., Jawaid, M., Senthamaraikannan, P., Senthil, S. and Pradeep, S. 2018. Characterization and properties of natural fiber polymer composites: A comprehensive review. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 172, pp. 566–581. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959652617323946.

Santana, H.A., Amorim Júnior, N.S., Ribeiro, D. v., Cilla, M.S. and Dias, C.M.R. 2021. Vegetable fibers behavior in geopolymers and alkali-activated cement based matrices: A review. *Journal of Building Engineering* 44, p. 103291. doi: 10.1016/J.JOBE.2021.103291.

Santiagoo, R., Hong, T.W., Azizan, N.Z.N., Andrew, A.M., Wahab, F., Seman, N.A.A. and Othman, N.S. 2021. The effect of stearic acid and different loading treated and untreated EFB fiber on the tensile, structural and chemical properties of polypropylene/recycled acrylonitrile butadiene rubber/empty fruit bunch composites. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* 765(1), p. 012037. doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/765/1/012037.

Santoni, A., Bonfiglio, P., Fausti, P., Marescotti, C., Mazzanti, V., Mollica, F. and Pompoli, F. 2019. Improving the sound absorption performance of sustainable thermal



insulation materials: Natural hemp fibres. *Applied Acoustics* 150, pp. 279–289. doi: 10.1016/j.apacoust.2019.02.022.

Santos, P.S.B. dos, Erdocia, X., Gatto, D.A. and Labidi, J. 2014. Characterisation of Kraft lignin separated by gradient acid precipitation. *Industrial Crops and Products* 55, pp. 149–154. doi: 10.1016/J.INDCROP.2014.01.023.

Sari, N.H., Sanjay, M.R., Arpitha, G.R., Pruncu, C.I. and Siengchin, S. 2019. Synthesis and properties of pandanwangi fiber reinforced polyethylene composites: Evaluation of dicumyl peroxide (DCP) effect. *Composites Communications* 15, pp. 53–57. doi: 10.1016/J.COCO.2019.06.007.

Sasidharan, S., Chen, Y., Saravanan, D., Sundram, K.M. and Yoga Latha, L. 2011. Extraction, Isolation and Characterization of Bioactive Compounds from Plants' Extracts. *African Journal of Traditional, Complementary, and Alternative Medicines* 8(1), p. 1. Available at: /pmc/articles/PMC3218439/ [Accessed: 25 June 2022].

Sauvageon, T., Lavoie, J.M., Segovia, C. and Brosse, N. 2018. Toward the cottonization of hemp fibers by steam explosion – Part 1: defibration and morphological characterization. *Textile Research Journal* 88(9), pp. 1047–1055. doi: 10.1177/0040517517697644.

Sawpan, M.A., Pickering, K.L. and Fernyhough, A. 2011. Effect of various chemical treatments on the fibre structure and tensile properties of industrial hemp fibres. *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing* 42(8), pp. 888–895. doi: 10.1016/J.COMPOSITESA.2011.03.008.

Sawsen, C., Fouzia, K., Mohamed, B. and Moussa, G. 2015. Effect of flax fibers treatments on the rheological and the mechanical behavior of a cement composite. *Construction and Building Materials* 79, pp. 229–235. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2014.12.091.

Scida, D., Bourmaud, A. and Baley, C. 2017. Influence of the scattering of flax fibres properties on flax/epoxy woven ply stiffness. *Materials and Design* 122, pp. 136–145. doi: 10.1016/j.matdes.2017.02.094.

Sekhar, S., Prasad, B.S.R.K. and Sekhar, S. 2018. *Absorption and Permeability Studies on Concrete with Pulverized Used Foundry Sand as Mineral Admixture*. Available at: http://www.ripublication.com.

Shadheer Ahamed, M., Ravichandran, P. and Krishnaraja, A.R. 2021. Natural Fibers in Concrete – A Review. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering* 1055(1), p. 012038. doi: 10.1088/1757-899X/1055/1/012038.

Shahzad, A. 2013. A study in physical and mechanical properties of hemp fibres. *Advances in Materials Science and Engineering* 2013. doi: 10.1155/2013/325085.

Shang, Y. and Tariku, F. 2021. Hempcrete building performance in mild and cold climates: Integrated analysis of carbon footprint, energy, and indoor thermal and moisture buffering. *Building and Environment* 206(September), p. 108377. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2021.108377.

Shi, F., Pham, T.M., Hao, H. and Hao, Y. 2020. Post-cracking behaviour of basalt and macro polypropylene hybrid fibre reinforced concrete with different compressive strengths. *Construction and Building Materials* 262, p. 120108. doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2020.120108.

Shireesha, Y. and Nandipati, G. 2019. State of art review on natural fibers. *Materials Today: Proceedings* 18, pp. 15–24. doi: 10.1016/J.MATPR.2019.06.272.



Siddique, R., Kapoor, K., Kadri, E.H. and Bennacer, R. 2012. Effect of polyester fibres on the compressive strength and abrasion resistance of HVFA concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 29, pp. 270–278. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2011.09.011.

Sigma-Aldrich. 2021. *Sodium Hydroxide*. Available at: https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/IE/en/sds/sigald/s8045 [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Singh, S.P. 2009. INVESTIGATION ON THE STRENGTH AND FLEXURAL TOUGHNESS OF HYBRID FIBRE REINFORCED CONCRETE. Brittle Matrix Composites 9, BMC 2009, pp. 91–100. doi: 10.1533/9781845697754.91.

Soanes, C. and Hawker, S. 2019. Concrete.

Sood, M. and Dwivedi, G. 2018. Effect of fiber treatment on flexural properties of natural fiber reinforced composites: A review. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum* 27(4), pp. 775–783. Available at:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1110062117301939.

Sorzia, A., Lanzoni, L. and Radi, E. 2019. Pullout modelling of viscoelastic synthetic fibres for cementitious composites. *Composite Structures* 223(February), p. 110898. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0263822318334597.

Speakman, J.B. 1950. Present and future methods of separating textile fibres. *Journal of the Textile Institute Proceedings* 41(5), pp. P202–P207. doi: 10.1080/19447015008664836.

Stress and strain: Mechanical properties of materials. [no date]. Available at: https://www.linearmotiontips.com/mechanical-properties-of-materials-stress-and-strain/ [Accessed: 26 June 2022].

Stress-Strain Curve: Strength of Materials - SMLease Design. [no date]. Available at: https://www.smlease.com/entries/mechanical-design-basics/stress-strain-curve-diagram/ [Accessed: 26 June 2022].

Summerscales, J. 2021. A review of bast fibres and their composites: Part 4 ~ organisms and enzyme processes. *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing* 140, p. 106149. doi: 10.1016/J.COMPOSITESA.2020.106149.

Sun, L. 2016. The structural behavior equation for asphalt pavements. *Structural Behavior of Asphalt Pavements*, pp. 389–499. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-849908-5.00006-7.

Sun, Y., Li, D., Yu, Y., Chen, J. and Fan, W. 2022. Separation and Characterization of Cellulose Fibers from Cannabis Bast Using Foamed Nickel by Cathodic Electro-Fenton Oxidation Strategy. *Polymers* 14(3), p. 380. doi: 10.3390/polym14030380.

Swamy, R.N. 1990. Vegetable fibre reinforced cement composited - A false dream or a potential reality? *RILEM proceedings* 7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02472075.

T R. 2015. *Acetone: Safety data sheet*. Available at: https://www.nhsggc.org.uk/media/236208/msds-acetone.pdf [Accessed: 20 August 2022].

Taoukil, D., el Bouardi, A., Sick, F., Mimet, A., Ezbakhe, H. and Ajzoul, T. 2013. Moisture content influence on the thermal conductivity and diffusivity of wood-concrete composite. *Construction and Building Materials* 48, pp. 104–115. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2013.06.067.

Tariq, A. et al. 2021. Fluorescent molecular probe based optical fiber sensor dedicated to pH measurement of concrete. *Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical* 327(July 2020). doi: 10.1016/j.snb.2020.128906.



Teck Metals Ltd. 2015. *Sulphuric Acid Safety Data Sheet*. Available at: https://www.teck.com/media/Products-Sulphuric-Acid-SDS-2015.pdf [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Thannimalay, L. 2013. Life Cycle Assessment of Sodium Hydroxide. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*.

The International Standards Organisation. 1991. ISO 8301-1991 (E). SAI GLOBAL.

Thermo Fisher Sientific. 2022. *Dicumyl peroxide: Safety Data Sheet*. Available at: https://www.fishersci.com/store/msds?partNumber=AC349881000&productDescription =DICUMYL+PEROXIDE%2C+99%25+100GR&vendorId=VN00032119&countryCo de=US&language=en [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

ThermoFisher Scientific. 2021. *Stearic Acid: Safety Data Sheet*. Available at: https://www.fishersci.co.uk/store/msds?partNumber=10694732&productDescription=5 00GR+Stearic+acid%2C+extra+pure%2C+SLR&countryCode=GB&language=en [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

ThermoFisher Scientific. 2022. *EDTA: Safety Data Sheet*. Available at: https://www.fishersci.se/chemicalProductData_uk/wercs?itemCode=10031660&lang=E N [Accessed: 2 July 2022].

Tibebu, A., Mekonnen, E., Kumar, L., Chimdi, J., Hailu, H. and Fikadu, N. 2022. Compression and workability behavior of chopped glass fiber reinforced concrete. *Materials Today: Proceedings*. doi: 10.1016/J.MATPR.2022.02.427.

Tinto, W.F., Elufioye, T.O. and Roach, J. 2017. Waxes. *Pharmacognosy: Fundamentals, Applications and Strategy*, pp. 443–455. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-802104-0.00022-6.

Todkar, S.S. and Patil, S.A. 2019. Review on mechanical properties evaluation of pineapple leaf fibre (PALF) reinforced polymer composites. *Composites Part B: Engineering* 174(May). doi: 10.1016/j.compositesb.2019.106927.

Tolêdo Filho, R.D., Joseph, K., Ghavami, K. and England, G.L. 1999. the Use of Sisal Fibre As Reinforcement in Cement Based Composites. *Revista Brasileira de Engenharia Agrícola e Ambiental* 3(2), pp. 245–256. doi: 10.1590/1807-1929/agriambi.v3n2p245-256.

Tolêdo Filho, R.D., Scrivener, K., England, G.L. and Ghavami, K. 2000. Durability of alkali-sensitive sisal and coconut fibres in cement mortar composites. *Cement and Concrete Composites* 22(2), pp. 127–143. doi: 10.1016/S0958-9465(99)00039-6.

Le Troedec, M. et al. 2008. Influence of various chemical treatments on the composition and structure of hemp fibres. *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing* 39(3), pp. 514–522. doi: 10.1016/J.COMPOSITESA.2007.12.001.

Ullah, I., Chen, Z., Xie, Y., Khan, S.S., Singh, S., Yu, C. and Cheng, G. 2022. Recent advances in biological activities of lignin and emerging biomedical applications: A short review. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 208, pp. 819–832. doi: 10.1016/J.IJBIOMAC.2022.03.182.

Usman, N. and Masirin, M.I.M. 2019. Performance of asphalt concrete with plastic fibres. *Use of Recycled Plastics in Eco-efficient Concrete*, pp. 427–440. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-102676-2.00020-7.

Vaidya, A. and Pathak, K. 2018. 1 Mechanical stability of dental materials. *Applications of Nanocomposite Materials in Dentistry*, pp. 285–305. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-813742-0.00017-1.



Vellaichamy, M. and Gaonkar, P.V. 2017. Biological Treatment of Banana Pseudostem Fibre: Effect on Softening and Mechanical Properties. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences* 6(5), pp. 1268–1274. doi: 10.20546/ijcmas.2017.605.137.

Verma, D., Dogra, V., Chaudhary, A.K. and Mordia, R. 2022. Advanced biopolymerbased composites: construction and structural applications. *Sustainable Biopolymer Composites: Biocompatibility, Self-Healing, Modeling, Repair and Recyclability: A Volume in Woodhead Publishing Series in Composites Science and Engineering*, pp. 113–128. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-822291-1.00010-5.

Verma, S.R. and Dwivedi, U.N. 2014. Lignin genetic engineering for improvement of wood quality: Applications in paper and textile industries, fodder and bioenergy production. *South African Journal of Botany* 91, pp. 107–125. doi: 10.1016/J.SAJB.2014.01.002.

Walsh, W. 2021. *Energy in Ireland*. Available at: https://www.seai.ie/publications/Energy-in-Ireland-2021_Final.pdf [Accessed: 9 July 2022].

Wang, H.M., Postle, R., Kessler, R.W. and Kessler, W. 2003. Removing Pectin and Lignin During Chemical Processing of Hemp for Textile Applications. *Textile Research Journal* 73(8), pp. 664–669. doi: 10.1177/004051750307300802.

Wang, L., Liu, X., Zheng, X. and Tian, Y. 2015. Extraction of pectin from flax fiber by chemical means. *International Journal of Clothing Science and Technology* 27(3), pp. 390–396. doi: 10.1108/IJCST-03-2014-0037/FULL/PDF.

Wang, Y., Hu, S. and Sun, X. 2022. Experimental investigation on the elastic modulus and fracture properties of basalt fiber–reinforced fly ash geopolymer concrete. *Construction and Building Materials* 338, p. 127570. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0950061822012466 [Accessed: 3 June 2022].

Wawro, D., Stęplewski, W. and Bodek, A. 2009. Manufacture of Cellulose Fibres from Alkaline Solutions of Hydrothermally-Treated Cellulose Pulp. In: *IBRES & TEXTILES in Eastern Europe*. pp. 18–22.

Wen, C., Zhang, P., Wang, J. and Hu, S. 2022. Influence of fibers on the mechanical properties and durability of ultra-high-performance concrete: A review. *Journal of Building Engineering* 52, p. 104370. doi: 10.1016/J.JOBE.2022.104370.

Whistler, R.L. 1993. HEMICELLULOSES. Industrial Gums: Polysaccharides and Their Derivatives: Third Edition, pp. 295–308. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-092654-4.50015-2.

Winder, C., Azzi, R. and Wagner, D. 2005. The development of the globally harmonized system (GHS) of classification and labelling of hazardous chemicals. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 125(1–3), pp. 29–44. doi: 10.1016/J.JHAZMAT.2005.05.035.

Wolfenden, R., Lu, X., Chemical, G.Y.-J. of the A. and 1998, undefined. 1998. Spontaneous hydrolysis of glycosides. *researchgate.net*. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Richard-

Wolfenden/publication/231530049_Spontaneous_Hydrolysis_of_Glycosides/links/5eb3 4b8e299bf152d6a1bb07/Spontaneous-Hydrolysis-of-Glycosides.pdf [Accessed: 25 June 2022].



Xia, Z.P., Yu, J.Y., Cheng, L.D., Liu, L.F. and Wang, W.M. 2009. Study on the breaking strength of jute fibres using modified Weibull distribution. *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing* 40(1), pp. 54–59. doi: 10.1016/J.COMPOSITESA.2008.10.001.

Yamamuro, T., Segawa, H., Kuwayama, K., Tsujikawa, K., Kanamori, T. and Iwata, Y.T. 2021. Rapid identification of drug-type and fiber-type cannabis by allele specific duplex PCR. *Forensic Science International* 318, p. 110634. doi: 10.1016/J.FORSCIINT.2020.110634.

Yang, C. et al. 2022. Effects of raw material homogenization on the structure of basalt melt and performance of fibers. *Ceramics International* 48(9), pp. 11998–12005. doi: 10.1016/J.CERAMINT.2022.01.049.

Yoo, D.Y., Kang, S.T. and Yoon, Y.S. 2016. Enhancing the flexural performance of ultra-high-performance concrete using long steel fibers. *Composite Structures* 147, pp. 220–230. doi: 10.1016/J.COMPSTRUCT.2016.03.032.

Zafeiropoulos, N.E., Vickers, P.E., Baillie, C.A. and Watts, J.F. 2003. An experimental investigation of modified and unmodified flax fibres with XPS, ToF-SIMS and ATR-FTIR. *Journal of Materials Science* 38(19), pp. 3903–3914. doi: 10.1023/A:1026133826672.

Zah, R., Hischier, R., Leão, A.L. and Braun, I. 2007. Curauá fibers in the automobile industry - a sustainability assessment. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 15(11–12), pp. 1032–1040. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2006.05.036.

Zakaria, M., Ahmed, M., Hoque, M.M. and Hannan, A. 2015. Effect of jute yarn on the mechanical behavior of concrete composites. *SpringerPlus* 4(1), pp. 1–8. doi: 10.1186/S40064-015-1504-7.

Zakaria, M., Ahmed, M., Hoque, M.M. and Islam, S. 2017. Scope of using jute fiber for the reinforcement of concrete material. *Textiles and Clothing Sustainability* 2(1). doi: 10.1186/S40689-016-0022-5.

Zeng, M., Pan, H., Tian, W., Li, J. and Zhou, J. 2020. Properties of asphalt binder and mixture containing bioasphalt derived from castor. *Bio-Based Materials and Biotechnologies for Eco-Efficient Construction*, pp. 81–102. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-819481-2.00005-2.

Zhang, H., Zhong, Z. and Feng, L. 2016. Effect of alkali treatment on the composition and structure of hemp fiber. *International Journal of Simulation: Systems, Science and Technology* 17(9), pp. 15.1-15.5. doi: 10.5013/IJSSST.A.17.09.15.

Zhen, Z., Xi, T.F. and Zheng, Y.F. 2015. Surface modification by natural biopolymer coatings on magnesium alloys for biomedical applications. *Surface Modification of Magnesium and Its Alloys for Biomedical Applications* 2, pp. 301–333. doi: 10.1016/B978-1-78242-078-1.00011-6.

Zia, A. and Ali, M. 2017. Behavior of fiber reinforced concrete for controlling the rate of cracking in canal-lining. *Construction and Building Materials* 155, pp. 726–739. doi: 10.1016/J.CONBUILDMAT.2017.08.078.

Appendices



Appendix A – Mechanical properties of singular fibres Algorithm

```
%This is a simplified algorithm to calculate the tensile strength,
Selastic modulus and Selongation at break for fibres.
%Do not use this without authorization.
%Author: Ana Caroline da Costa Santos
clc;
clear all;
close all;
files = dir('*.xlsx');
% List all files from the directory
answers = zeros(length(files):12);
% Matrix base for the results
names = strings(length(files):1);
% String base for the name results (1st column)
maxloadanswers=zeros(length(files),18);
maxtanswers=zeros(length(files),18);
deltalanswers=zeros(length(files),18);
elasticmodeaswrs=zeros(length(files),18);
elbreakawrs=zeros(length(files),18);
numfiles=length(files);
mydata=cell(1,numfiles);
 for k = 1:length(files) %Loop
name = files(k).name;
opts = detectImportOptions(name);
opts = setvartype(opts, 'char');
mydata{:,k}=readtable(name,opts);
% T = readtable(name);
mydata{:,k}=table2array(mydata{:,k}(:,:));
T=str2double(mydata{:,k}(:,:));
T(isnan(T))=0;
```



```
[rows, cols]=size(T);
diameter=[];
area=[];
tensile=[];
counterdiam=1;
    for i = 3:3:cols
    diameter(counterdiam) = T(1,i);
    area(counterdiam,:)= (diameter(counterdiam)^2*pi)./4;
     counterdiam= counterdiam+1;
    end
        x=1;
        load=[];
        lmax=[];
    for n = 1:3:cols
        load(:,x)=T(:,n);
        lmax(x,:) = max(load(:,x));
        x=x+1;
    end
        for j=1:length(area)
           for l=1:rows
                tensile(l,j) = load(l,j)/area(j,:);
            end
        end
    [trows, tcols] = size(tensile);
    td=zeros(rows,length(area)+length(area));
    %tenslie vs extension
    extension=T(:,2:3:end);
    td(:,1:2:end)=tensile(:,:);
    td(:,2:2:end) = extension(:,:);
    plot(td);
    tmax=[];
    counter=1;
```



```
elbreak=[];
    diam=[];
    dd=[];
    [tdrows,tdcols]=size(td);
    for i = 1:2:tdcols
    tmax(counter,:) = max(td(:,i));
    [X Y]=find(tmax(counter,:)==td(:,i));
    deltal(counter,:)=td(X(length(X)),i+1);
    elbreak(counter,:) = deltal(counter,:)/40;
    dd(counter,:) = diameter;
    diam= mean(diameter);
    [maxrows,maxcols]=size(tmax);
    counter= counter+1;
    end
    elasticmode=[];
    counterem=1;
    [erols, ecols] = size(load);
        for m = 1:1:ecols
         elasticmode(counterem,:) =
(lmax(counterem,:)*0.04/((area(m,:)/1000000)*(deltal(counterem,:)/1000
)));
         counterem = counterem + 1;
        \operatorname{end}
   maxtanswers(k,1:maxrows) = tmax';
    deltalanswers(k,1:maxrows) = deltal';
    elasticmodeaswrs(k,1:maxrows) = elasticmode';
    elbreakawrs(k,1:maxrows) = elbreak';
    ddawrs(k,1:maxrows) = diameter';
    diamawrs(k,1,1) = diam';
    names(k,:) = name;
end
```



result = [names maxtanswers]
result2 = [names deltalanswers]
result3 = [names elasticmodeaswrs]
result4 = [names elbreakawrs]
result5 = [names ddawrs]
Final = [result result2 result3 result4 result5]



Appendix B – W₀ used to calculate Gf in Equation 2.5

```
%This is a simplified algorithm to calculate WO for fracture energy of
FRC.
%Do not use this without authorization.
%Author: Ana Caroline da Costa Santos
clc
clear all
files=dir('*.xlsx');
% List all files from the diretory
answers = zeros(length(files):3);
% Matrix base for the results
names = strings(length(files):1);
% String base for the name results (1st column)
for k = 1:length(files)
%Loop
name = files(k).name;
T = readtable(name);
T(1,:) = [];
T=T(:,[1:6]);
matrix=table2array(T);
x1=matrix(:,1);
x1=str2double(x1'); %converts text into a string that represents real
or complex numeric values
x1=x1(~isnan(x1)); %removes all cells containing NaN values
y1=matrix(:,2);
y1=str2double(y1');
y1=y1(~isnan(y1));
da=max(y1);
db=find(y1==da);
nx1=x1(1,1:db);
ny1=y1(1,1:db);
plot(nx1,ny1);
w01=trapz(nx1,ny1); %Area under curve
x2=matrix(:,3);
x2=str2double(x2');
x2=x2(~isnan(x2));
```

182



```
y2=matrix(:,4);
y2=str2double(y2');
y2=y2(~isnan(y2));
da=max(y2);
db=find(y2==da);
nx2=x2(1,1:db);
ny2=y2(1,1:db);
plot(nx2,ny2);
w02=trapz(nx2,ny2);
x3=matrix(:,5);
x3=str2double(x3');
x3=x3(~isnan(x3));
y3=matrix(:,6);
y3=str2double(y3');
y3=y3(~isnan(y3));
da=max(y3);
db=find(y3==da);
nx3=x3(1,1:db);
ny3=y3(1,1:db);
plot(nx3, ny3)
w03=trapz(nx3,ny3);
answer = [w01,w02,w03];
answers(k,:) = answer;
names (k,:) = name;
end
```

```
answers;
```

result = [names answers]



Appendix C – Algorithm for calculation of the Ci for Equation 2.7

%This is a simplified algorithm to calculate the Ci value used to obtain the elastic modulus of FRC according to EN14651. %Do not use this without authorization. %Author: Ana Caroline da Costa Santos

clc clear all

```
files=dir('*.xlsx');
% List all files from the diretory
answers = zeros(length(files):3);
% Matrix base for the results
names = strings(length(files):1);
% String base for the name results (1st column)
b=0.15;
d=b;
a0=0.025;
A=b*(d-a0);
L=0.5;
%Dimensions of the specimen
for k = 1:length(files);
%Loop
name = files(k).name;
T = readtable(name);
T(1,:) = [];
T=T(:,[1:6]);
matrix=table2array(T);
x1=matrix(:,1);
x1=str2double(x1'); % converts text into a string that represents real
or complex numeric values
x1=x1(~isnan(x1)); %removes all cells containing NaN values
x1=x1/L;
%dL/L (strain formula)
y1=matrix(:,2);
y1=str2double(y1');
y1=y1(~isnan(y1));
y1=y1/A;
%F/A Stress formula
da=max(y1); %limit graph to max Y
db=find(y1==da);
dc=gradient(x1,y1) %limit graph to inflection point
dd=find(x1==dc)
nx1=x1(1,dc:db);
ny1=y1(1,dc:db);
plot(nx1,ny1); %plots graph from zero to max value
```

Appendices



```
p = polyfit(nx1,ny1,1);
f = polyval(p,nx1);
plot(nx1, ny1, 'm', nx1, f, '-');
legend('data','best fit line');
g=[nx1 f];
h=gcf
exportgraphics(h, 'name.png', 'Resolution', 300)
Cil=p(1);
x2=matrix(:,3);
x2=str2double(x2'); %converts text into a string that represents real
or complex numeric values
x2=x2(~isnan(x2)); %removes all cells containing NaN values
x2=x2/L;
y2=matrix(:,4);
y2=str2double(y2');
y2=y2(~isnan(y2));
y2=y2/A;
da=max(y2);
db=find(y2==da);
nx2=x2(1,1:db);
ny2=y2(1,1:db);
plot(nx2,ny2); %plots graph from zero to max value
p = polyfit(nx2,ny2,1);
f = polyval(p,nx2);
plot(nx2,ny2,'m',nx2,f,'-');
legend('data','best fit line');
Ci2=p(1);
x3=matrix(:,5);
x3=str2double(x3'); % converts text into a string that represents real
or complex numeric values
x3=x3(~isnan(x3)); %removes all cells containing NaN values
x3=x3/L;
y3=matrix(:,6);
y3=str2double(y3');
y3=y3(~isnan(y3));
y3=y3/A;
da=max(y3);
db=find(y3==da);
nx3=x3(1,1:db);
ny3=y3(1,1:db);
plot(nx3,ny3) %plots graph from zero to max value
```



```
p = polyfit(nx3,ny3,1);
f = polyval(p,nx3);
plot(nx3,ny3,'m',nx3,f,'-');
legend('data','best fit line');
```

Ci3=p(1);

answer = [Ci1,Ci2,Ci3];

answers(k,:) = answer; names (k,:) = name;

end

```
answers;
```

result = [names answers]



Appendix D – Descriptive analysis of tested fibres

Parameter	Diameter	Tensile Strength	Elastic Modulus	Elongation at break
Mean	14.01	2545.68	136.18	0.01723
Standard Error	1.24	235.64	26.25	0.00219
Median	12.50	2680.54	110.53	0.01818
Standard Deviation	6.99	1268.96	141.36	0.01218
Sample Variance	48.88	1610266.99	19983.09	0.00015
Kurtosis	24.24	-0.62	7.89	-0.72710
Skewness	4.66	0.11	2.65	0.32942
Range	40.00	4859.27	660.02	0.04199
Count	32	29	29	31
Confidence				
Level(95.0%)	2.52	482.69	53.77	0.00447

Table D.1 – Descriptive analysis of basalt fibres.

Table D.2 – Descriptive analysis of flax fibres.

Parameter	Diameter	Tensile Strength	Elastic Modulus	Elongation at break
Mean	82.40	865.96	38.52	0.02087
Standard Error	7.31	70.11	4.19	0.00165
Median	74.65	891.50	38.50	0.02066
Standard Deviation	43.83	420.65	25.14	0.00990
Sample Variance	1921.4	176946.40	631.86	0.00010
	1			



Kurtosis	9.72	-0.44	0.00	0.45162
Skewness	2.69	0.17	0.34	0.17054
Range	238.40	1686.52	97.17	0.04643
Count	36	36	36	36
Confidence	14.83	142.33	8.51	0.00335
Level(95.0%)				

Table D.3 – Descriptive analysis of hemp fibre.

.

Parameter	Diameter	Tensile Strength	Elastic Modulus	Elongation at break
Mean	72.98	262.68	22.44	0.01514
Standard Error	4.77	24.24	3.81	0.00155
Median	68.70	236.11	13.70	0.01619
Standard Deviation	27.38	139.24	21.57	0.00877
Sample Variance	749.81	19386.88	465.16	0.00008
Kurtosis	3.05	-0.47	1.99	-0.63896
Skewness	1.35	0.46	1.59	0.19334
Range	135.20	573.29	86.76	0.03096
Count	33	33	32	32
Confidence Level(95.0%)	9.71	49.37	7.78	0.00316

Table D.4 – Descriptive analysis of flax fibres for n=10.

Parameter	Diameter	Tensile Strength	Elastic Modulus	Elongation at break
Mean	76.57	815.03	44.04	0.02082

Appendices



Standard Error	6.52	132.26	9.48	0.00382
Median	72.90	898.13	38.28	0.01976
Standard Deviation	20.62	418.24	29.99	0.01209
Sample Variance	425.09	174926.74	899.27	0.00015
Kurtosis	1.11	-0.55	0.35	0.89670
Skewness	1.27	-0.24	0.78	1.06890
Range	65.28	1342.00	95.10	0.03831
Count	10	10	10	10
Confidence	14.75	299.19	21.45	0.00865
Level(95.0%)				

Table D.5 – Descriptive analysis of hemp fibres for n=10.

Parameter	Diameter	Tensile Strength	Elastic Modulus	Elongation at break
Mean	77.29	254.47	23.25	0.01326
Standard Error	5.65	40.71	6.20	0.00240
Median	74.21	226.38	15.82	0.01641
Standard Deviation	17.86	128.75	19.59	0.00760
Sample Variance	318.90	16575.79	383.92	0.00006
Kurtosis	-0.16	0.77	2.42	-1.84147
Skewness	0.14	0.23	1.63	-0.41408
Range	60.00	467.85	63.19	0.01964
Count	10	10	10	10
Confidence Level(95.0%)	12.77	92.10	14.02	0.00544



190

🌅 TUS

T	Duration	Flax				
Ireatment	Duration	Max Tensile	Ε	ε%	Diameter(µm)	
	4h	1582.61	46.34	3.10%	64.07	
	6h	1140.33	87.52	1.40%	70.20	
EDTA	10h	993.93	93.81	1.13%	74.57	
	15h	1707.17	78.74	1.99%	105.38	
	24h	1050.77	54.90	1.84%	73.75	
	4h	629.79	18.54	4.45%	73.64	
	6h	2366.94	138.43	1.56%	47.30	
KMnO4	10h	1272.23	81.08	1.38%	46.68	
	15h	1280.52	77.35	1.38%	62.36	
	24h	1899.16	116.92	1.54%	57.45	
	4h	546.84	32.51	3.66%	62.67	
	6h	460.61	36.18	1.39%	54.40	
NaOH10%	10h	453.97	7.66	4.92%	56.29	
	15h	299.90	8.28	3.95%	65.62	
	24h	448.03	15.07	2.92%	54.68	
	4h	238.23	34.48	1.80%	65.45	
NaOH15%	6h	252.25	7.82	3.16%	49.91	
	10h	278.60	4.70	5.86%	57.37	
	15h	502.84	15.08	4.16%	47.83	
	24h	374.45	6.41	6.06%	57.83	

Appendix E – Properties of flax fibres treated

Appendices



	4h	362.15	19.69	3.75%	56.69
NaOH5%	6h	231.92	4.53	4.92%	44.99
	10h	2153.71	143.74	1.82%	49.80
	15h	844.77	41.59	1.76%	56.05
	24h	1442.61	63.99	2.09%	85.10
Stearic Acid	4h	1739.80	53.59	3.13%	44.82
	6h	567.12	55.67	0.90%	42.45
	10h	2343.23	133.90	1.40%	49.84
	15h	760.82	45.19	1.73%	48.46
	24h	2078.83	117.02	1.48%	36.32



Tusatusaut	Dungtion	Нетр				
	Duration	Max Tensile	Ε	ε%	Diameter (µm)	
	4h	227.43	32.24	1.59%	67.08	
	6h	384.18	28.54	1.40%	68.09	
EDTA	10h	1195.93	86.21	1.31%	83.99	
	15h	539.46	52.19	1.16%	93.96	
	24h	852.23	123.78	1.10%	89.19	
	4h	364.55	29.32	1.24%	63.57	
	6h	552.33	36.53	1.64%	57.97	
KMnO4	10h	852.15	68.85	1.18%	52.52	
	15h	859.39	80.73	0.99%	68.24	
	24h	910.84	79.49	1.26%	89.02	
	4h	153.44	8.61	1.90%	68.34	
	6h	157.46	11.79	1.55%	61.97	
NaOH10%	10h	223.46	10.48	2.21%	45.11	
	15h	95.46	7.11	1.38%	46.64	
	24h	367.11	19.30	2.03%	53.57	
	4h	101.89	7.58	1.69%	70.66	
NaOH15%	6h	98.71	3.89	2.73%	42.53	
	10h	80.76	3.16	2.92%	54.94	
	15h	109.14	6.03	2.08%	75.23	
	24h	128.73	8.21	1.81%	41.84	

Appendix F – Properties of treated hemp fibres

Appendices



NaOH5%	4h	232.66	15.58	1.51%	87.52
	6h	242.85	15.79	1.45%	78.91
	10h	818.73	72.17	1.12%	69.20
	15h	505.54	33.05	1.35%	60.79
	24h	418.51	27.34	1.48%	28.76
	4h	389.84	29.43	1.23%	38.07
Stearic Acid	6h	337.63	25.46	1.38%	50.46
	10h	819.83	68.10	1.11%	47.61
	15h	372.10	32.97	1.06%	57.80
	24h	1694.40	112.03	1.43%	32.34

194